



This is to certify that the

dissertation entitled

Malignant Transformation of Human Fibroblast Cell Strains By

Transfection of the V-fes Oncogene : Evidence for Oncogene Cooperation

presented by

Chiencheng Lin

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

Ph.D. degree in Microbiology

(Comich Major professor

Date Fit 14 1994

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

0-12771

LIBRARY Michigan State University

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE

MSU is An Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution c/oirc/datadus.pm3-p.1

MALIGNANT TRANSFORMATION OF HUMAN FIBROBLAST CELL STRAINS BY TRANSFECTION OF THE V-FES ONCOGENE: EVIDENCE FOR ONCOGENE COOPERATION

By

Chiencheng Lin

A DISSERTATION

l

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Microbiology

ABSTRACT

MALIGNANT TRANSFORMATION OF HUMAN FIBROBLAST CELL STRAINS BY TRANSFECTION OF THE V-FES ONCOGENE: EVIDENCE FOR ONCOGENE COOPERATION

By

Chiencheng Lin

To examine the possible role of the v-fes oncogene in the process of malignant transformation of human fibroblasts in culture. I transfected this oncogene into five non-tumorigenic, near-diploid, infinite life-span human fibroblast cell strains from the MSU-1 lineage and examined the transfectants for characteristics of tumor-derived cells, e.g., growth in medium without exogenous growth factors, growth in agarose, and the ability to form tumors in athymic mice. The most transformed strain, MSU-1.2, was converted from a non-tumorigenic to tumorigenic strain by expression of a transfected v-fes oncogene. Expression of the v-fes oncogene in MSU-1.1 cells, the parental cells of MSU-1.2, did not produce tumorigenic cells. However, when MSU-1.1 cells that contain a transfected v-sis or a c-H-ras oncogene expressed at a moderate level were used as target populations, the v-fes oncogene supplied the additional change required for malignant transformation of such cells. MSU-1.1 cells that contain a transfected c-N-ras oncogene expressed at a low level did not become tumorigenic with the expression of the v-fes oncogene.

Since the v-fes oncogene causes tumors in mesenchymal tissue in cats and chickens, I hypothesized that an "activated" c-fes gene plays a role in causing such tumors in humans. To test this hypothesis, I assayed 26 cell lines/strains derived from human mesenchymal tumors for expression of the c-fes protein. No evidence of expression of c-fes protein was found in any of the 26 cell lines/strains assayed. Also I investigated whether a human c-fes proto-oncogene, transcribed from a strong viral promoter and fused with a viral gag sequence, has transforming ability in the MSU-1.2 human fibroblast strain. In contrast to the v-fes oncogene, expression of this special human c-fes gene did not cause malignant transformation of MSU-1.2 cells.

DEDICATED:

To my wife, Ying-ruei, for her love and support throughout the years,

and

to my parents for their love and faith in me.

•

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I want to thank my major professor, Dr. J. Justin McCormick, for his intellectual guidance, financial support, willingness to help me with everything I asked for in and outside the laboratory and for the friendship we developed throughout my years in the Carcinogenesis Laboratory. In addition, I want to express my sincere and deep appreciation to Dr. Veronica M. Maher for her cordial encouragement and insightful support throughout my Ph.D. program. Furthermore, I want to thank Drs. Robert W. Dunstan, and Ronald J. Patterson for their contributions as members of my guidance committee.

Also I owe thanks to the former and present members of this laboratory for their friendship, assistance, and stimulating discussions on science. They include Ruey-Hwa Chen, Suzanne K. Kohler, Chia-Miao Mah, W. Glenn McGregor, Lonnie Milam, Rebecca Odenwaller, David S. Reinhold, P. Ann Ryan, Jeanette M. Scheid, Clay Spencer, Clarissa Stropp, Qingping Wang, Yi-ching Wang, Jeremy Wray, Dajun Yang, and Ena Zaccagnini.

Finally, I wish to thank all of those who helped in one way or another during the course of this work.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Раде
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
INTRODUCTIONReferences	1 5
CHAPTER I. LITERATURE REVIEW	
A. Evidence supporting the "somatic mutation" theory of carcinogenesis	
1. Inherited predisposition to certain cancers	7
2. Characteristic chromosomal abnormalities in certain leukemia cells	8
2.1 Burkitt's lymphoma 2.2 Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias	9 10
3. Evidence that relates the mutagenic potential of chemical agents to their	10
4. Connection between susceptibility to cancer and impaired ability of cells to repair damaged DNA	12
5. The identification of oncogenes	14
5.1 Retroviral oncogenes and integration sites 5.2 Oncogenes identified by gene transfer 5.3 Oncogenes identified by gene amplification 5.4 Oncogenes identified by other methods	14 16 17 18
6. The identification of tumor suppressor genes	19
6.1 Somatic cell hybrid and single chromosome	10
6.2 Tumor suppressor genes identified through	19
studies of hereditary tumors	20
loss of heterozygosity	23

B. Carcinogenesis is a multistep process	
1. In vivo evidence	24
1.1 Experimental induction of tumors in animals 1.2 Studies on human colorectal tumors	24 27
2. In vitro evidence	30
2.1 Oncogene-mediated transformation of rodent cells 2.2 Studies of human cell transformation	30 32
C. Genes directly involved in carcinogenesis and the signaling pathways in the cell	
1. Functions of the proto-oncogenes products	35
1.1 Protein tyrosine kinases 1.2 Protein serine/threonine kinases 1.3 Growth factors 1.4 Ras proteins and GTPase activity 1.5 Nuclear transcription factors	36 40 41 43 45
2. Functions of tumor suppressor gene products	45
 2.1 The retinoblastoma (<i>Rb</i>) gene 2.2 The <i>p</i>53 gene 2.3 The Wilms' tumor (<i>WT1</i>) gene 2.4 The neurofibromatosis (<i>NF1</i>) gene 2.5 The deleted in colorectal carcinoma (<i>DCC</i>) gene 	46 47 49 50 50
3. Multiple signaling pathways	51
 3.1 Ras-dependent and ras-independent signaling pathways 3.2 Activation of multiple signaling proteins by one "activated" receptor 3.3 Signaling pathways mediated by cytoplasmic protein tyrosine kinases 	51 52 54
LIST OF REFERENCES	56
CHAPTER II. MALIGNANT TRANSFORMATION OF A HUMAN FIBROBLAST CELL STRAIN BY TRANSFECTION OF A V-FES ONCOGENE, BUT NOT A GAG-HUMAN C-FES CONSTRUCT	
Abstract	80
Introduction	81

vii

Material and methods	84
Cell strains and culture conditions. Transfection procedure. Immunoprecipitation analysis of <i>fes</i> gene product Protein kinase assay. Western blot analysis. Southern blot analysis. Assay for anchorage independence. Assay for tumorigenicity. Histopathology.	84 85 85 86 87 87 87
Results	88
Choice of the target cell strain Construction of pGAFhisD plasmid Transfection of MSU-1.2 cells by v-fes oncogene Characterization of the six v-fes transfectants Evidence of malignant transformation by v-fes Transfection of MSU-1.2 cells with a gag-c-fes construct Characterization of the four gag-c-fes transfectants Comparison of the tyrosine kinase activity Assaying of c-fes protein in human mesenchymal tumors	88 89 89 92 96 96 97 97
Discussion	100
Acknowledgements	103
References	104
CHAPTER III. V-FES EXPRESSION ALONE IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO MALIGNANTLY TRANSFORM HUMAN FIBROBLAST STRAIN MSU-1.1	
Abstract	109
Introduction	110
Results	113
Choice of target cells Transfection of MSU-1.1 cells with a <i>fes</i> oncogene Characterization of the six v- <i>fes</i> transfectants Spontaneous progression of three MSU-1.1- v- <i>fes</i> -transformed strains	113 113 115 115
Characterization of tumors and cells derived from tumors In vitro selection for malignant cells Cooperation between the v-sis and v-fes oncogene	119 119 125

1.1

Cooperation between the v-fes and a H-ras, but not a N-ras oncogene	126
Discussion	132
Materials and methods	135
Cell strains and culture conditions Plasmid construction and transfection Immunoprecipitation analysis of oncogene products RT-PCR analysis of v-sis mRNA Assay for anchorage independence Assay for growth factors independence Assay for tumorigenicity Histopathology	135 136 136 137 137 138 138
Acknowledgments	139
References	140

LIST OF TABLES

Table Chapter II	Page
 Relative v-fes expression, anchorage independence, and tumorigenicity of the six MSU-1.2- v-fes-transformed cell strains 	94
2. Human cell lines/ strains studied for c-fes expression	99
Chapter III	
1. Growth characteristics of the cell strains studied	114
2. Relative v-fes expression, anchorage independence, and tumorigenicity of the six MSU-1.1- v-fes-transformed cell strains	117
 Relative v-fes expression, anchorage independence, and tumorigenicity of the late passage and tumor-derived cells of MSU-1.1:fes strains 	118
4. Relative v-fes expression, anchorage independence, and tumorigenicity of the six v-fes-transformed MSU-1.1:sisA strains	130

LIST OF FIGURES

Pa	ge
----	----

Figure Chapter II	Page
 Relative expression of v-fes-encoded p110 in six MSU-1.2-v-fes-transformed cell strains and four MSU-1.2-gag-c-fes-transformed cell strains 	90
2. Southern blot analysis of DNA from six MSU-1.2-v-fes- transformed cell strains and tumor-derived cells	91
3. Representative example of growth of MSU-1.2-v-fes- transformed cell strain in 0.33% agarose	93
4. Representative histology showing a poorly differentiated, spindle cell sarcoma formed by MSU-1.2:fes3 cells	95
5. Protein kinase activity in immunoprecipitates containing p110	98
Chapter III	
 Relative levels of expression of v-fes protein in six MSU-1.1-v-fes-transformed cell strains 	116
 2. (A) Tumor histology showing a poorly differentiated, round cell sarcoma	120 120
3. Colony formation by MSU-1.1-v-fes-transformed cell strains in 0.33 % agarose	121
4. Relative levels of expression of v-fes protein in the six v-fes-transformed MSU-1.1 cell strains and in cells from tumors derived from such strains	123
 5. (A) Relative levels of expression of v-fes protein in six v-fes-transformed MSU-1.1:sisA cell strains	127
five v-fes-transformed MSU-1 1·Hras98 cell strains	127

	(D) Relative levels of expression of ras proteins in five v-fes-transformed MSU-1.1:Hras98 cell strains	127
	(E) Relative levels of expression of ras proteins in five v-fes-transformed MSU-1.1:Nras73 cell strains	127
6.	RT-PCR analysis of the relative levels of expression of v-sis mRNA	129

INTRODUCTION

Studies of human tumors and tumors in experimental animals have supported the hypothesis that carcinogenesis is a multistep process. Experimental induction of tumors in animals indicates that multiple genetic events are necessary for the carcinogenesis process (Scherer, 1989). Examination of clinical samples of various types of human tumors reveals that the multiple genetic changes, including point mutations, chromosomal translocations, gene amplifications, and inactivation of tumor suppressor genes, are commonly found in specific tumor cells. In human colorectal carcinomas, mutations in at least four or perhaps five genes are required before a cell can form a malignant tumor, and the number of detectable events increases as the stage of tumor become more malignant (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990). However, the results from such studies cannot prove that any specific genetic change plays a causal role in the transformation process.

For this reason, model systems for transformation of mammalian cells in culture (mainly rodent fibroblasts) have been widely used by investigators. Among them, transfection studies have proven especially useful in understanding the molecular mechanisms of carcinogenesis, since by this technique, one can transfer oncogenes isolated from human tumors and retroviral oncogenes into cells in culture and study what properties they confer. Also these studies are useful in determining the number of

steps required for the transformation process. If one assumes that malignant transformation of cells in culture occurs by the same mechanisms as tumor development in vivo, conversion of a normal cell into a malignant cell in culture also results from a multistep process. Indeed, studies on transformation of primary rodent fibroblasts and some immortalized cell lines by transfection of viral and/or cellular oncogenes have provided support for the multistep process of malignant transformation. For example, Weinberg and colleagues (Land et al., 1983; Ruley, 1983) showed that transfection of a H-ras oncogene into normal diploid rodent fibroblasts cannot convert these cells into tumorigenic cells unless the cells also express a second oncogene which has a complementary function.

Protein phosphorylation on tyrosine residues has been demonstrated to be a common mechanism underlying malignant transformation by oncogene products and mitogenesis by growth factors. In fact, phosphorylation of proteins on tyrosine residues is the most common activity of oncogene products (Martin et al., 1984). Two types of protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) have been reported: the receptor PTKs and the cytoplasmic PTKs. The involvement of some of the receptor PTKs, e.g., *neu* and *v-erbB* (Slamon et al., 1987), in human cell carcinogenesis is well documented, but the role of the cytoplasmic PTKs, e.g., *fes* and *src*, in this process is not clear. The *v-fes* oncogene used in this research is a transforming gene of the Gardner-Arnstein feline sarcoma virus (Gardner et al, 1970). It encodes a protein tyrosine kinase whose enzymatic activity is essential for both tumor induction in animals and transformation of mammalian cells in culture (Donner et al., 1980; Barbacid et al., 1981).

The objectives of the present research were (1) to define the biological characteristics of transformed cells obtained by transfection

of the v-fes oncogene into a near-diploid, infinite life span, growth factor independent human fibroblasts strain, MSU-1.2; (2) to determine whether the c-fes gene, transcribed from a viral strong promoter and fused with a truncated viral gag sequence, has transforming activity when transfected into the MSU-1.2 strain; (3) to define the biological characteristics of transformed cells obtained by transfection of the v-fes oncogene into a near-diploid, infinite life span human fibroblasts strain MSU-1.1; (4) to determine whether a second oncogene can complement the v-fes oncogene and cause MSU-1.1 cells to become malignant. By comparing the *in vitro* transformed characteristics and tumorigenic potential induced by the v-fes oncogene in five closely-related cell strains with different growth properties and genotypic alterations, i.e., MSU-1.1, MSU-1.1:sisA, MSU-1.1:Hras98, MSU-1.1:Nras73 and MSU-1.2, we determined the kind of changes and number of steps required for the malignant transformation of human fibroblasts in culture.

Chapter I of the thesis reviews the literature that supports the "somatic mutation" theory of carcinogenesis and the hypothesis that the process involves multiple steps. Evidence for the "somatic mutation" theory of carcinogenesis includes the recognition of inherited predisposition to cancers, the studies of specific chromosomal changes in leukemia cells, evidence that relates the mutagenic potential of chemical agents and their carcinogenicity, the connection between susceptibility to cancers and an impaired ability of cells to repair damaged DNA, and the identification of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. Evidence supporting the multistep hypothesis of carcinogenesis includes studies of human tumors and tumors in experimental animals, as well as cell transformation studies using rodent and human cells. Also discussed in

Chapter I is the current understanding regarding the functions of the genes involved in the carcinogenesis process and the existence of multiple signaling pathways in cells. Chapter II consists of a manuscript that had been submitted to the journal Molecular Carcinogenesis. It describes the research I carried out which shows that expression of a transfected v-fes oncogene causes malignant transformation of MSU-1.2 cells. Chapter III consists of a manuscript that will be submitted to the journal Oncogene. It describes my research which demonstrated that malignant transformation of the MSU-1.1 cell strain, the parental strain of MSU-1.2, required cooperation of two oncogenes, e.g., v-fes and v-sis. Expression of the vfes oncogene did not cause malignant transformation of cells from the MSU-1.1 strain, the parental strain of MSU-1.2. However, when MSU-1.1-derived cell strains that contain a transfected v-sis or a c-ras oncogene expressed at a moderate level were used as targeted populations, expression of the v-fes oncogene could supply the penultimate change needed for malignant transformation of these cell strains.

REFERENCES

Barbacid, M., Donner, L., Ruscetti, S.K. and Sherr, C.J. (1981) Transformation-defective mutants of Snyder-Theilen feline sarcoma virus lack tyrosine-specific protein kinase activity. J. Virol. 39: 246-254.

Donner, L., Turek, L.P., Ruscetti, S.K., Fedele, L.A. and Sherr, C.J. (1980) Transformation-defective mutants of feline sarcoma virus which express a product of the viral *src* gene. J. Virol. 35:129-140.

Fearon, E.R. and Vogelstein, B. (1990) A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 61: 759-767.

Gardner, M.B., Rongey, R.W., Arnstein, P., Estes. J.D., Huebner. R.J. and Richard L.G. (1970) Experimental transmission of feline fibrosarcoma to cats and dogs. Nature 226: 807-809.

Land, H., Parada, L.F. and Weinberg, R.A. (1983) Tumorigenic conversion of primary embryo fibroblasts requires at least two cooperating oncogenes. Nature 304: 596-602.

Martin, G.S., Radke, K., Carter, C. Moss, P., Dehazya, P. and Gilmore, T. (1984) The role of protein phosphorylation at tyrosine in transformation and mitogenesis. In: Cancer Cells: Oncogenes and Viral Genes. G.F. van de Woude, A.J. Levine, W.C. Topp and J.D. Watson (eds.), Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY, pp. 89-99.

Ruley, H.E. (1983) Adenovirus early region 1A enables viral and cellular transforming genes to transform primary cells in culture. Nature 304: 602-606.

Scherer, E. (1989) Neoplastic stages and progression in experimental hepatocarcinogenesis. In: Cancer Growth and Progression: Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis. E.K. Weisburger (ed.), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Netherland, pp. 128-144.

Slamon, D.J., Clark, G.M., Wong, S.G., Levin, W.J., Ullrich, A. and McGuire, W.L. (1987) Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/*neu* oncogene. Science 235:177-182.

CHAPTER I

LITERATURE REVIEW

A. EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE "SOMATIC MUTATION" THEORY OF CARCINOGENESIS

The hypothesis that cancer is a disease of genetic origin was first suggested from the pioneering research conducted by Boveri (1929). He observed that chromosomal abnormalities are common features in cancer cells, and he found that the entire population of cells in a given tumor usually shared the same chromosomal abnormalities, suggesting that the abnormalities were passed on from parental to progeny cells. Based on these observations, he proposed that heritable alterations in the chromosomes were responsible for such cancer. Successive generations of scientists have added to and modified this original theory. It is now well recognized that carcinogenesis is a complex process, involving multiple independent genetic events.

Evidence supporting this theory comes from several sources: (1) the recognition of inherited predisposition to certain cancers; (2) the detection of characteristic chromosomal abnormalities in leukemia cells; (3) evidence that relates the mutagenic potential of chemical agents to their carcinogenicity; (4) the connection between susceptibility to cancer and an impaired ability of cells to repair damaged DNA, and more recently, (5) the identification of cellular genes (proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes) that when mutated can cause neoplastic growth.

7

1. Inherited Predisposition to Certain Cancers

Mendelian inheritance of predisposition to several cancers, such as retinoblastoma, Wilms' tumor, colon cancer, breast cancer, and type I neurofibromatosis, is well known in humans (Knudson, 1977). Patients with a genetic predisposition carry a very high risk of cancer. The best documented example of which, retinoblastoma, is reviewed here.

Retinoblastoma (Rb) is a rare tumor of the retinal tissue of the eye. All Rb patients develop the tumors in their childhood. Rb tumors occur in either a familial or a sporadic form. Approximately one-third of the Rb cases are familial, with the trait being transmitted in an autosomal dominant fashion with very high penetrance (Vogel, 1979). The rest of the cases represent sporadic Rb which occurs at a very low frequency in children with no family history of the disease. In the familial form of Rb, the tumors are usually bilateral and multifocal whereas the sporadic form of Rb usually occurs as a single focal lesion in one eye. Although the frequency and the number of tumors differ between the two forms of Rb cases, the genetic change responsible for Rb is the same: inactivation of both copies of a single gene in a single retinal cell.

Knudson (1971) was the first to propose that two mutational events in the *Rb* gene are involved in the development of retinoblastoma. His hypothesis was based on the statistical analysis of tumor incidence data for familial and sporadic forms of Rb. In the familial form, the affected person is born with a mutant allele, and the mutation is present in all of a person's cells. A second mutation in the other allele of any retinal cell would cause the cell to become malignant. In contrast, two mutations are required to affect both alleles of a single retinal cell to cause the sporadic Rb. The requirement for one more mutation in the sporadic Rb is consistent with the observation that the patient usually has only one tumor in one eye as compared to multiple tumors in patients with familial form of Rb. Support for this hypothesis emerged recently when the *Rb* gene was identified and shown to be mutated in both alleles of all retinoblastoma cells. (Friend et al., 1986; Fung et al., 1987; Lee et al., 1987).

2. Characteristic Chromosomal Abnormalities in Certain Leukemia Cells

Characteristic chromosomal abnormalities have been shown to be associated with human leukemia cells by cytogenetic analysis. These abnormalities are generally classified as structural or numerical. Structural abnormalities include translocations, inversions, deletions, insertions, and amplifications, whereas numerical abnormalities are losses or duplication of whole chromosomes. Although most abnormalities appear to be non-specific, some chromosomal abnormalities are associated with specific tumor types, and they have provided good materials for studying the mechanisms of carcinogenesis of such tumors. Studies of such tumor cells have revealed that these translocations either affect the expression of adjacent genes, resulting in structurally normal proteins being expressed at inappropriate levels, or alter the protein coding sequences, yielding structurally altered proteins that behave aberrantly. Two classic examples of such translocations are reviewed here to elucidate these two general mechanisms of genetic disruption brought about by gene rearrangement.

2.1 Burkitt's Lymphoma-A Model for Transcriptional Deregulation

Burkitt's lymphomas contain one of three characteristic chromosomal translocations: t(8,14), t(8,22) or (2,8). All three translocations join the c-myc proto-oncogene normally found on chromosome 8 to immunoglobulin loci on chromosome 2, 14 or 22 (Leder et al, 1983; Croce and Nowell, 1985; Cory, 1986). As a consequence, the c-myc is deregulated (over-expressed) by the immunoglobulin heavy-chain or light-chain λ or κ enhancer, when it should normally be transcriptionally inactive in lymphoid cells (Zimmerman et al., 1986).

Molecular analysis of characteristic these chromosomal translocations showed that the break points in the c-myc locus in tumor cells from various individuals are not identical (Battey et al., 1983). The c-myc gene has three exons, its protein being encoded exclusively in the last two (Watt et al., 1983). Break points of the t(8,14)translocation usually occur within the first intron, the first exon, or 5' to the c-myc gene (Neri et al., 1988), whereas break points of the t(8,22)and t(2,8) translocations are found exclusively 3' to the last c-myc exon. This results in transcription of the c-myc gene either from its normal promoter in exon one or from a cryptic promoter in the first intron if the first exon has been deleted by translocation. The translational products, however, are structurally identical to the normal c-myc proteins in all three cases. The translocation of c-myc into immunoglobulin loci is now recognized as one of the causative changes responsible for the formation of such tumors. This is supported by the observations that transgenic mice carrying the Burkitt's translocation developed B-cell lymphoid tumors at a high frequency (Adams et al., 1985; Harris et al., 1988).

<u>2.2 Philadelphia Chromosome-Positive Leukemia-A Model of Protein</u> Structure Alteration

The Philadelphia chromosome is the result of a reciprocal translocation between band q34 of chromosome 9 and band q11.2 of chromosome 22. It is present in greater than 90% of patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) and 4-5% of pediatric patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) (Nowell and Hungerford, 1960; Kurzrock et al., 1988). In both ALL and CML, the translocation juxtaposes the aminoterminal portion of the bcr gene normally located on chromosome 22 to the carboxyl-terminal portion of the c-abl proto-oncogene on chromosome 9. The break points within the bcr gene, however, are not identical and thus the proteins coded for by the hybrid bcr-abl genes differ in size. The translocation of the bcr gene results in a 210 kDa hybrid protein in CML (Ben-Neriah et al., 1986) whereas the translocation produces a shorter bcr-abl fusion protein of 185 kDa in most cases of Philadelphia chromosome-positive ALL (Clark et al., 1988). The protein sequence of the 210 kDa protein differs from that of the 185 kDa protein only in the presence of mid-bcr exons. Both hybrid genes contain the same c-abl sequence and have been shown to encode proteins which have increased levels of tyrosine kinase activity compared to the normal c-abl protein (Konopka, 1985).

3. Evidence That Relates the Mutagenic Potential of Chemical Agents to Their Carcinogenicity

Numerous chemicals have long been suspected as possible etiological agents for several types of human cancers. In 1761 Hill reported that users of tobacco snuff developed cancer of the nasal passage much more

frequently than non-users (Redmond, 1970). Subsequently, in 1775, Pott reported that males who had been employed as chimney sweeps when they were boys had a higher rate of death due to scrotal cancer than men in the general population. Based on these anecdotal reports and others, exposure to various chemicals or chemical mixtures have been considered to be associated with human cancers. Many were subsequently identified as carcinogens through animal experiments (Tomatis et al., 1989). The mechanisms underlying the carcinogenesis process, however, remained unknown until the 20th century.

In 1964 Brookes and Lawley studied polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons with different carcinogenic activity and demonstrated a correlation between the binding of these carcinogens to mouse skin and their ability to cause tumors in such tissue. This observation provided the first clue that the carcinogenesis process is caused by a mutation or a series of mutations induced by carcinogens. However, until the late 1960s, some of the most potent carcinogens, e.g., the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, were unable to cause mutations in the assays used at the time. This was because many carcinogens need to metabolized to a reactive derivative before they can be effective, and the test for mutagens, which involved use of lower organisms, did not take this into account. In 1961 Miller et al. first demonstrated that N-hydroxy-2-acetylaminofluorene, a metabolite of the carcinogen 2-acetylaminofluorene, has an increased carcinogenic activity in the rat as compared to 2-acetylaminofluorene. Since this finding, many chemical carcinogens were also found to require metabolic activation for their carcinogenicity. Subsequently, in 1968. Maher demonstrated that the active form of two carcinogens. 2acetylaminofluorene and N-methyl-4-aminobenzene, bound covalently to donor

DNA isolated from prototroph donor *Bacillus subtilis* and when transferred into recipient *Bacillus subtilis*, the treated donor DNA produced more mutant bacteria defective in synthesis of tryptophan precursors at a higher frequency than did the untreated DNA. By demonstrating that these carcinogens can cause mutations, Maher showed that DNA is the common target of mutagenesis and carcinogenesis by these chemicals. This established a clear, although not proven, theory: that carcinogens lead to cancer through their ability to damage DNA and induce mutations.

4. Connection Between Susceptibility to Cancer and Impaired Ability of Cells to Repair Damaged DNA

Xeroderma pigmentosum, Cockayne's syndrome, ataxia telangiectasia, Fanconi anemia, and Bloom's syndrome are rare genetic disorders characterized by cellular defects in the ability to process DNA damage. These cancer-prone syndromes differ from other cancer-prone diseases, such as retinoblastoma and Wilms' tumor, in that the inherited defects raise the frequency of carcinogen-induced mutations and in this way, increase the cancer incidence.

The best example is the syndrome known as xeroderma pigmentosum (XP). This syndrome occurs worldwide in all ethnic groups with a frequency varying from one to ten patients per million. XP patients are characterized by their severe sun-sensitivity, leading to a high incidence of sunburn, pigmentation abnormalities, and malignancies in the area of skin exposed to sunlight (Robbin, 1974). Cleaver (1968) were the first to discover that fibroblasts isolated from XP patients are defective in nucleotide excision repair of DNA damage induced by ultraviolet radiation. Further research using XP fibroblasts revealed that treatment of these

cells with UV radiation resulted in less surviving cells but more azaguanine-resistant mutants per 10^5 surviving cells when compared to that of normal fibroblasts (Maher, 1976). The conclusion from these studies was that cells from xeroderma pigmentosum patients have a decreased rate of excision repair, and as a consequence, these cells have a higher mutation frequency when exposed to UV radiation than do normal cells. This higher mutation frequency can in turn lead to higher rate of accumulation of mutations in genes directly contributing to cancer and thus tumor incidence. This is consistent with the observation that a slight sunlight exposure of the skin is liable to provoke skin cancers in XP patients, but not in normal individuals.

By fusing two XP cells isolated from different patients and analyzing for the UV-sensitivity of the hybrid cells, it is possible to determine whether the two individual represent different genetic loci that lead to expression of the UV-sensitive phenotype (Hashem et al., 1980). Two cell lines that have genetic defects in different loci can complement each other, and they result in hybrid cells that attain near-normal UVresistance. Cell lines that have genetic defects in the same locus cannot complement each other and, therefore, the hybrid cells remain UVsensitive. A complementation group is defined as a group of cell lines that have genetic defects in the same locus. This type of genetic analysis shown the existence of nine complementation groups, clearly has demonstrating the genetic complexity of the disease. The functions of these nine "DNA repair" genes are postulated to be involved in the early steps of the excision repair process. This hypothesis is based on the observation that XP cells of different complementation groups attain nearnormal UV resistance when treated with the enzyme endonuclease V (Smith

and Hanawalt, 1978). Since endonuclease V is produced in bacteriophage T4 infected *E. coli* and specifically incises UV-induced pyrimidine dimers in bacteria, this result indicates that these XP cells have genetic defects in steps prior to the incision of UV-induced pyrimidine dimers.

5. The Identification of Oncogenes

5.1 Retroviral Oncogenes and Integration Sites

Retroviruses have a distinct life cycle that allows them to convert normal cellular genes (proto-oncogenes) from the host genome into transforming genes, now known as oncogenes (Bishop, 1983). They have been shown to activate proto-oncogenes by two mechanisms, viral transduction and viral integration.

The virus can capture a proto-oncogene in its genome and bring the gene under the control of its strong promoter and enhancer, causing it to be expressed at a high level. A typical example is the Rous sarcoma virus (RSV), the first retrovirus found to contain a oncogene. This virus was isolated by Rous in 1910 from a spontaneous sarcoma that had been passaged through Plymouth Rock chickens. He subsequently established the viral etiology of the tumor by demonstrating that tumor extract remained pathogenic (transforming) after being passed through filters designed to exclude bacteria (Rous, 1911). During the period between 1911 and 1970, most studies of RSV focused on the transmissibility and pathogenicity of this virus in avian and mammalian species. It was not until the 1970s that the v-src oncogene was identified as the genetic entity responsible for RSV-mediated transformation. The identification of the v-src oncogene was made possible by the isolation and analysis of deletion mutant viruses that were defective for transformation, but competent in replication

The second s

(Kawai and Hanafusa, 1971; Bader, 1972). Vogt (1971) analyzed these deletion mutants and found that the *src* gene responsible for RSV-mediated transformation is located in the 3' region of the viral genome. Subsequent molecular analysis identified the v-*src* oncogene and demonstrated that a DNA probe complementary to the v-*src* oncogene can hybridize to normal chicken DNA (Stehelin et al., 1976). This provided the first evidence that retroviral oncogenes are normal cellular genes captured by retroviruses.

An alternative mechanism whereby retroviruses activate protooncogenes is by viral integration. Random insertion of DNA copies of the viral RNA into the host genome is part of the viral life cycle. When a DNA copy of the viral RNA accidentally inserts itself at sites close to, or within, a cellular gene, it can upregulate the expression of the adjacent gene by bringing the sequence under the control of the viral strong promoter and enhancer. This mechanism, denoted "insertional mutagenesis", has provided another important method to search for oncogenes since the location of these oncogenes can be easily detected by their proximity to the inserted retroviruses. Proto-oncogenes found to be activated by insertional mutagenesis often turn out to be the same as the retroviruscaptured oncogenes. Some new ones, however, were also identified in this manner. For example, the int-1 and int-2 oncogene were found to be activated by insertional mutagenesis in mouse mammary tumor virus-induced breast tumors (Nusse and Varmus, 1982; Dickson et al., 1984). The cellular int genes have been shown to be conserved among mammals, and they are generally considered to be involved in intercellular communication, which is important in embryonic development.

5.2 Oncogenes Identified by Gene Transfer

The gene transfer technique was first introduced by Graham and van der Eb (1973) who showed that application of DNA to cells as a coprecipitate with calcium phosphate allows stable uptake and incorporation of DNA into the genome of the recipient cells. Several groups improved and applied this technique for introducing exogenous DNA into NIH3T3 cells. a special line of mouse cells, to search for the etiology of non-viral induced tumors in animals and humans. In such studies, DNA isolated from chemically transformed cells or from tumors of different origins was shown to be capable of inducing morphological transformation of the recipient NIH3T3 cells (Shih et al, 1979). This transformed characteristic allows one to easily identify cells that take up and express the oncogenes responsible for this characteristic. Weinberg's group subsequently developed a strategy that made it possible to clone the transfected genes of human origin from DNA of the transformed mouse cells (Weinberg, 1982). By using human repetitive sequences, which are randomly distributed throughout the human genome in approximately 5 X 10^5 copies (Jelinek et al., 1980) as hybridization probes, human sequences could be readily detected and isolated from a mouse background.

Using this technique several groups independently isolated a human transforming gene from the established T24 bladder carcinoma cell line (Der et al., 1982; Goldfarb et al., 1982; Parada et al., 1982; Santos et al., 1982). This gene was found to be related to the *ras* oncogene of the Harvey strain of murine sarcoma virus. Restriction enzyme and heteroduplex analysis subsequently showed that the T24 *ras* oncogene is the active homologue of the human c-H-*ras* gene. Further molecular analysis revealed that the activation of the T24 *ras* oncogene resulted from two specific

point mutations; a mutation to modify the activity of the protein and the other to alter its level of expression. One point mutation was identified in codon 12 which changed a glycine to a valine (Reddy et al., 1982; Tabin et al., 1982; Capon et al., 1983). The other point mutation was found in the last intron of the H-ras gene and this mutation was shown to be responsible for the higher level of expression of the mutated H-ras gene (Cohen and Levinson, 1988).

Since the cloning of the T24 H-ras oncogene, vigorous efforts were undertaken to identify and clone additional oncogenes from human tumors (reviewed in Varmus, 1984). The results revealed that DNA isolated from many types of human tumors contained transforming genes detectable in the NIH3T3 transformation assay. These tumors included those of lung, colon, urinary bladder, gall bladder, pancreas, breast, and ovary. Hematopoieticcell malignancies such as B- and T-cell lymphomas, lymphoid and acute myeloid leukemias, as well as neuroblastomas and sarcomas, were also positive. Most of the transforming genes isolated from these tumors were found to be activated c-H-ras or c-K-ras genes. A number of these ras oncogenes were sequenced and the results showed that mutations within codons 12, 13, or 59-61 were responsible for the activation (Varmus, 1984).

5.3 Oncodenes Identified by Gene Amplification

In 1984, Schimke first reported that gene amplification causes human leukemia cells to acquire resistance to methotrexate, a chemotherapeutic agent. Gene amplification is now known to be a common genetic abnormality in cancer cells and it provides one of the mechanisms by which cellular genes can be over-expressed.

High levels of gene amplification (10- to 100-fold) in cancer cells

are commonly manifested chromosomally as double-minute chromosomes or homogeneously staining regions. These cytogenetic markers have provided a useful tool for identifying oncogenes involved in many types of human tumors. Several new oncogenes were first identified in this manner. For example, the *gli* oncogene were identified from amplified DNA in a human glioma cell lines (Kinzler et al., 1987). The function of this oncogene is not yet clear.

An increased copy number and enhanced expression of cellular oncogenes frequently correlates with the more advanced and aggressive stages of malignancy and a poor prognosis (Schwab, 1990). One typical example is the amplification of the N-myc oncogene in various types of human tumors. Schwab et al. (1983) were the first to discover this mycrelated oncogene in neuroblastoma by employing a viral myc probe under conditions of reduced stringency. Further analysis revealed that the N-myc gene is amplified in about 50% of late stage human neuroblastomas (Kohl et al., 1983, Schwab et al., 1984). This gene was also found to be amplified in 20% of human retinoblastomas and 20% of small cell lung cancers (Lee et al., 1984; Squire et al., 1985; Nau et al., 1986). The degree of N-myc amplification in these tumors ranges from 5- to 700-fold (Broudeur et al., 1984), and a higher degree of the amplification is usually associated with a poorer prognosis of the cancer.

5.4 Oncogenes Identified by Other Methods

Another useful method for identifying oncogenes is via their association with specific chromosomal abnormalities in certain human tumors. Classic examples are the *c-myc* oncogene in Burkitt's lymphoma and the *bcr-abl* gene in acute lymphoblastic leukemia and chronic myelogenous leukemia. These have been reviewed in previous sections.

The last approach to identify oncogenes is by their structural homology with genes that were previously identified. Using these genes as probes, one can identify related genes from DNA libraries derived from human tumors by Southern blot analysis. These putative oncogenes can then be examined for their transforming activity or any alteration in other human tumors. For example, the v-myc oncogene has been used as a probe to identify two related genes, N-myc amplified in neuroblastoma (Schwab et al., 1984) and L-myc amplified in small cell lung cancer (Nau et al., 1985). Another example comes from the c-erbB1 gene which encodes epidermal growth factor receptor. This gene was used to isolate the c-erbB2 gene (Slamon et al., 1987) which was later found to be amplified in advanced stages of breast and ovarian cancers (Slamon et al., 1989).

6. The Identification of Tumor Suppressor Genes

6.1 Somatic Cell Hybrids and Single Chromosome Transfer Experiments

The earliest indication that the carcinogenesis process may involve loss of gene functions was provided by evidence from studies of somatic cell hybrids. The basic methodology is to fuse two cells, one normal and one tumorigenic, to form hybrid cells. The hybrid cells are selected and examined for their ability to form tumors in appropriate animal hosts, usually nude mice. Early passage culture of the hybrid cells usually have the phenotype of the normal cell, i.e., they are not tumorigenic. However, with continued growth in culture these hybrid cells sometimes lose chromosomes and, as a result, the hybrid cells occasionally become tumorigenic. Subsequent cytogenetic analysis of non-tumorigenic and tumorigenic hybrids permitted the identification of chromosomes associated with the normal phenotype, which, when present, suppressed the malignant
phenotype (Benedict et al., 1984; Kaelbling and Klinger, 1986; Srivatsan et al., 1986). This phenomenon of tumor suppression suggests that a gene (or genes) from a normal cell supplies a function in the cancer cell and renders it responsive to normal regulation of cell growth.

The technique has been further refined through microcell transfer experiments in which single intact chromosome or at most a few chromosomes are transferred into tumorigenic cells. Using this method, the tumorigenicity of several human tumor cell lines has been suppressed. For example, the tumorigenicity of HeLa cells, derived from a human cervical carcinoma, was suppressed by the introduction of human chromosome 11 (Saxton et al., 1986). This phenomenon also has been observed for renal cell carcinoma and melanoma cell lines by chromosome 3p (Shimizu et al., 1990) and chromosome 6 (Trent et al., 1990), respectively. Although these techniques are useful in identifying chromosomes involved in tumor suppression, they are not useful for direct identification of genes responsible for such suppression. In fact, no genes have been directly identified through these methods.

6.2 Tumor Suppressor Genes Identified Through Studies of Hereditary Tumors

<u>6.2.1 Retinoblastoma</u> On the basis of statistical analysis of tumor incidence data for familial and sporadic forms of retinoblastoma (Rb), Knudson (1971) proposed his two-hit hypothesis for the formation of such tumors. He suggested that hereditary tumors required only one mutation in the gene responsible for the development of Rb, i.e., the *Rb* gene, whereas the sporadic tumors required two mutations (Knudson, 1978).

The chromosomal location of the *Rb* gene was suggested by an investigation of a group of familial Rb patients with rare constitutional deletions on chromosome 13 (Francke, 1979). Francke analyzed these cases

and found that only one band, 13q14, was common to all the deletions. These observations provided evidence that the inherited mutation may involve loss of a small region of chromosome 13. The nature of the second mutation was subsequently suggested from studies on the DNA of retinoblastomas obtained from patients with the familial form of the disease. Most of the retinoblastomas had lost one copy of chromosome 13 as detected by restriction fragment length polymorphism technique, using polymorphic markers on chromosome 13 (Cavanee et al., 1983), and pedigree analysis showed that the remaining copy of chromosome 13 in Rb tumors from the patient and the affected parents always contained the inherited mutation. Taken together, these observations indicated that the inherited mutation in familial retinoblastoma is usually a small deletion or point mutation in one allele whereas the second event often involves complete loss of the other allele.

Dryja et al. (1986) constructed a chromosome 13 genomic library to clone the *Rb* gene. From this library, they identified a probe that was able to detect homozygous deletion of a DNA sequence at 13q14 in 3 out of 37 retinoblastomas, indicating that the probe was located extremely close to the suppressor gene. After this breakthrough, this probe was used to perform a chromosome walking that led to the eventual cloning of the retinoblastoma gene (Friend et al., 1986; Lee et al., 1987).

<u>6.2.2 Wilms' tumors</u> Wilms' tumor (WT) is a pediatric nephroblastoma with an incidence of 1/10,000 and accounts for 85% of childhood kidney cancer (Matsunaga, 1981). Like retinoblastomas, Wilms' tumors occur both in a sporadic and a familial form. Cytogenetic and chromosomal deletion analysis of this syndrome by several groups independently identified two predisposition loci; one at 11p13 (Francke et

al., 1979; Riccardi et al., 1980) and the other at 11p15 (Reeve et al., 1989; Koufos et al., 1989). Three groups have cloned the WT gene located at the 11p13 locus (Rose et al., 1990; Call et al., 1990; Gessler et al., 1990). Rose et al. generated probes from radiation-reduced somatic cell hybrids that contain small fragments of chromosome 11 as their only human component. The probes were then used to locate and construct a complete physical map of the 11p13 Wilms' tumor locus. The identity of this putative WT gene was supported by the studies of Cowell et al. (1991) who described a Wilms' tumor with a homozygous internal mutation in this gene, later designated as the WT1 gene. The locus at 11p15 has not yet been cloned. A third locus for this disease has been suggested since genetic predisposition in some pedigrees has failed to map to either of these loci (Grundy et al., 1988; Huff et al., 1988).

<u>6.2.3 Neurofibromatosis type 1</u> Von Recklinghausen's neurofibromatosis (NF1) affects one in approximately every 3500 individuals, and it is inherited as an autosomal dominant trait with high penetrance (Stumpf et al., 1987). Approximately half of all NF1 cases occur in patients with a familial history (Riccardi, 1981). Affected individuals are characterized by café-au-lait spots, which are flat hyperpigmented areas on the skin, and an increased risk of neurofibromas and neurofibrosarcomas (Riccardi and Eichner, 1986). The most common cause of death in NF1 patients is cancer.

A locus on chromosome 17q was first implicated as the locus responsible for NF1 by DNA linkage analysis of affected individuals in several kindreds (Barker et al., 1987; Gordgar et al., 1989). Subsequent detection of different translocations involving chromosome 17 [t(1;17) and t(17;22)] at breakpoints 17q11.2 in two NF1 patients provided the first

suggestion that the disorder could originate by chromosomal rearrangements close to, or within, the locus responsible for the disease (Schmidt et al., 1987; Ledbetter et al., 1989). The mapping and cloning of these breakpoints resulted in the identification of the NF1 locus (Wallace et al., 1990; Viskochil et al., 1990; Cawthon et al., 1990). The fact that this gene was either mutated, deleted or translocated in different NF1 patients implicates the involvement of this gene in causing the disease. <u>6.3 Tumor Suppressor Genes Identified by Loss of Heterozygosity</u>

The inherited mutations in most familial, cancer-prone diseases are usually small deletions or point mutations in the affected suppressor genes. However, the loss of the second copy of the gene in tumor cells often involves the loss of a large segment, or even all, of the remaining normal chromosome. Such losses can be identified as loss of heterozygosity (LOH) for adjacent polymorphic alleles when DNA from the tumors is compared by Southern blot analysis to DNA from normal cells of the same individual. A consistent finding of LOH for polymorphic markers in a particular locus in DNA from tumors indicates that the locus harbors a suppressor gene.

Using this type of analysis, the loci of several putative tumor suppressor genes have been identified and in some cases the genes have been cloned, e.g. DCC, p53, and MCC genes (Vogelstein et al., 1988; Baker et al., 1990a). For example, Vogelstein et al. (1988) observed allelic deletions of chromosome 18q in 70% of all cases of sporadic colorectal cancer, and the deletions frequently involved the 18q21-qter region. They subsequently identified a probe from this region that detected homozygously deleted DNA in one out of 120 colorectal carcinomas, indicating that the probe was located extremely close to the suppressor

gene. Following this breakthrough, the region pinpointed by this probe was cloned and found to contain a candidate suppressor gene, designated *DCC* (deleted in colorectal carcinomas) gene (Fearon et al., 1990). To date the alterations of *DCC* gene have been found only in colorectal carcinomas. LOH on chromosome 18q, however, has been seen in other tumor types, suggesting the *DCC* gene has a broader function in human cancers.

B. CARCINOGENESIS IS A MULTISTEP PROCESS

One of the important differences between cancer cells and normal cells is that cancer cells no longer respond to normal growth controls like normal cells do. Since multiple levels of growth control exist to regulate proliferation and differentiation of cells, cancer cells very probably represent the end result of multiple changes that take years to develop. This hypothesis is now supported by in vivo and in vitro evidence.

1. In Vivo Evidence

1.1 Experimental Induction of Tumors in Animals

One advantage of studying the carcinogenesis process in experimental animals is that the type of carcinogens and/or tumor promoters used to treat the animals and the duration of the treatment can be carefully controlled. Another is that animals with specific genetic traits, e.g., a high frequency of leukemia, a low frequency of liver tumors etc., can be chosen as the target for treatment. The use of animals as a valid model for human has been established by two observations. First, the natural history of tumors arise spontaneously or induced by carcinogen treatment in animals are similar with that of human tumors. Second, the sequence of oncogenes and the mechanism for their regulation are conserved among mammals, including humans, and oncogenes isolated from human tumors are able to transform rodent cells in DNA transfection experiments.

Studies of carcinogen-induced tumors in animals (mainly in mice and rats) have demonstrated distinct stages that divide the carcinogenesis process (Pitot, 1989). For example, induction of hepatocellular carcinomas by chemical carcinogens fed to rats has demonstrated three distinct stages in the development of such tumors (Scherer, 1989). The earliest effect of feeding the rats with liver carcinogens, such as diethylnitrosamine (DEN), is the appearance of focal lesions (foci) of morphologically altered hepatocytes, and these foci can be readily detected by histochemical examination because they are deficient in ATPase and Glucose 6-Phosphatase, and they exhibit altered metabolism, i.e., an altered carbohydrate metabolism leading to the excess storage of glycogen (Bannasch et al., 1980). The majority of these early foci are sensitive to tumor promoting agents, and treatment of the rats with these agents, e.g., phenobarbital, can lead to the appearance of more advanced lesions, such as hyperplastic nodules (benign tumors) characterized by acidophilic and basophilic cytoplasm and eventually hepatocellular carcinomas (malignant tumors). The existence of such distinct stages appears to be common to most experimental animal models, and it is consistent with the multistep nature of carcinogenesis.

The number and types of the enzyme-altered foci and the carcinomas induced in the livers of tested animals depend on the protocol used. In a protocol in which the rats are given only a single, low dose of diethylnitrosamine (DEN) 24 hours after partial hepatectomy, the rats give rise only to a small number of enzyme-altered foci which are heterogeneous

in their enzyme deficiency (Pitot et al., 1978). This treatment is termed "initiation", and normal hepatocytes are considered to be transformed during the treatment by a single genetic change into focus forming cells. In the typical initiation-promotion protocol, rats are given a single, low dose of DEN and subsequently placed on a diet containing 0.05% phenobarbital. Rats undergoing this treatment give rise to increased number of enzyme-altered foci and a small number of hepatocellular carcinomas were also observed. The few carcinomas that arose is considered the results of a second genetic change. that occur spontaneously. Evidence supporting this hypothesis was provided by Scherer et al. (1983), who developed a initiation-promotion-initiation protocol in which the initiation-promotion protocol is followed by treatment with a second carcinogen, i.e., ethylnitrosourea. Rats undergoing this protocol give rise to more carcinomas than rats undergoing the initiation-promotion protocol, and the carcinomas arose in a relatively short period of time. The effect of the phenobarbital in these protocols is limited to promoting the growth of the previously initiated cells, since the treatment of phenobarbital without the initiation treatment yields no enzyme-altered foci or carcinomas.

The progression from premalignant lesions, i.e. enzyme-altered foci and hyperplastic nodules, to malignancy is a complex process. The best example to illustrate this is the induction of carcinomas in the initiation-promotion-initiation protocol. Focal carcinomas can be induced by ethylnitrosourea within approximately 2% of the enzyme-altered foci and hyperplastic nodules. These focal carcinomas manifest themselves as secondary foci within the preexisting foci or nodules. The characteristic focus-in-focus structure is considered to reflect the progression of the

initiated cells by a second genetic change. This hypothesis was further supported by cytogenetic analysis of cells from the foci-in-foci and the pre-existing lesions. Cells in the enzyme-altered foci and hyperplastic nodules do not exhibit any visible cytogenetic abnormalities (Sargent et al., 1989), whereas cells from hepatocellular carcinomas show a relatively frequent loss of specific chromosomes, e.g., chromosome 1 and 3 (Sargent et al., 1992).

Taken together, these observations indicate that hepatocellular carcinomas are the results of multiple genetic changes, which is consistent with the multistep nature of carcinogenesis.

1.2 Studies of Human Colorectal Tumors

Examination of colorectal tumors in humans has defined distinct stages in the development of such tumors (reviewed in Sugarbaker et al., 1985). The carcinogenesis process is initiated by a widespread cellular proliferation, which can be detected in colonic tissue by in situ DNA labeling technique (Lipkin et al., 1988). The second step in the process is the clonal expansion of a small fraction of the hyper-proliferative cells to form small adenomas (benign tumors). A even smaller fraction of the adenomas gradually progress through distinct stages, recognizable by their increase in size and dysplastic characteristics. When the adenomas acquire the ability to invade through the basement membrane, they become (by definition) carcinomas. Carcinomas, in turn, can progress by acquiring the ability to metastasize to regional lymph nodes or distant sites.

Three approaches have been used to study the molecular mechanisms underlying colorectal carcinogenesis: (1) examine the methylation status of DNA from tumor cells; (2) search for genetic changes in protooncogenes, e.g., mutations or amplifications; (3) search for allelic losses in DNA from tumors as compared to normal tissue which suggest lack of suppressor gene activity. First, Goelz et al. (1985) showed that DNA hypomethylation occurs as an early event in the colorectal carcinogenesis. They obtained samples of colorectal tumors and analyzed the DNA methylation status in these samples by digesting the DNA with restriction enzymes and then carrying out Southern blotting. DNA from both early adenomas and carcinomas was found to be substantially hypomethylated as compared to DNA from normal tissue. Since hypomethylation of DNA has been shown to be associated with gene activation, the results suggest that a general aberration in gene regulation could be a contributing epigenetic event.

Second, search for genetic changes in proto-oncogenes has provided insight into the mechanism underlying the progression from early adenomas to carcinomas. Vogelstein and colleagues (Bos et al., 1987) showed that mutations in the K-ras gene, occur in nearly 50% of colorectal carcinomas. as well as in a similar fraction of intermediate and late adenomas. In contrast, such mutations occur in less than 10% of early adenomas. Based on these observations, Fearon and Vogelstein (1990) suggest that mutations in the K-ras gene occur in pre-existing adenomas and are responsible for the progression of small adenomas to larger and more dysplastic adenomas. Amplification of proto-oncogenes have also been noted in colorectal carcinomas. For example, the c-myc and c-erbB2, a gene related to v-erbB. have been shown to be amplified in approximately 2% of colorectal carcinomas examined (D'Emilia et al., 1989; Finley et al., 1989). Amplification of the c-myb was also reported to be amplified in cell lines derived from colorectal carcinomas (Anitalo et al., 1984). However, their role in the progression of colorectal carcinogenesis is not clear.

Finally, studies of allelic losses in DNA isolated from tumor cells have shown loss of several tumor suppressor loci in colorectal carcinomas. Allelic loss of three loci occurs at high frequencies (35% to 75% of all carcinomas studied), and they reside in a region on chromosome 5q, a region on chromosome 17p and a region on chromosome 18q. Approximately 35% of sporadic colorectal carcinomas have allelic loss of the region on chromosome 5p which contains the familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) gene (Bodmer et al., 1987; Leppert et al., 1987). Mutations in this locus are now considered to be responsible for the hereditary predisposition to colorectal cancer. Allelic deletions of chromosome 17p occur in 75% of the colorectal carcinomas (Vogelstein et al., 1989), the most common allelic loss in such tumors. Baker et al. (1989) subsequently examined the p53gene. a previously identified tumor suppressor gene. in seven colorectal carcinomas with detectable deletions of chromosome 17p. The results showed that one copy of the p53 gene is deleted in all the carcinomas examined. and the remaining p53 alleles in these colorectal carcinomas contains at least one point mutation. Furthermore, the locus on chromosome 18q is deleted is nearly 70% of colorectal carcinomas (Vogelstein et al., 1988). One gene in that region, termed deletion in colorectal carcinoma (DCC) gene, was later identified as a result of intensive study of the consensus region of various deletions.

Based on these observations, a model relating these genetic alterations to different stages in the tumorigenesis process has been proposed by Fearon and Vogelstein (1990). They speculated that mutations in at least four to five genes are necessary for the development of a malignant tumor, and that the total accumulation of changes, rather than their order with respect to one another, is the critical determinant of the biological properties of the tumors.

2. Cell Transformation In Vitro

Transformation is a term used for changes in tissue culture, whereby normal cells acquire characteristics of cancer cells. One advantage of using cell culture as in vitro model for carcinogenesis is that it provides a mean to dissect the transformation process, i.e., immortalization, aberration in growth, and tumorigenicity, and to describe the molecular mechanisms underlying the process.

2.1 Oncogene-Mediated Transformation of Rodent Cells

The multistep nature of carcinogenesis implies that the transformation of cells in culture is also a multistep process. Indeed, numerous reports on oncogene-mediated transformation of rodent cells in culture have shown that transformation of normal rodent cells requires the cooperation of at least two oncogenes. Three examples have demonstrated this point. First, van de Eb and colleagues (van den Elson et al., 1983) found that both oncogenes from adenoviruses, i.e., early 1A and 1B (E1A and E1B) oncogenes, are required to transform primary rat cells into tumor cells. Second. Cuzin and collaborators reported that the polyoma middle and large tumor (MT and LT) oncogenes are both required for conversion of such cells into tumorigenic cells (Rassoulzegan et al., 1982). Finally, Weinberg and colleagues (Ruley, 1983; Land et al. 1983) showed that a cellular ras oncogene requires cooperation of either myc or EIA oncogene to malignantly transformed primary rat cells.

According to these results and the results of others, there appear to be two distinct mechanisms of growth control in normal rat cells. One operates in the nucleus and may be perturbed by oncogenes like myc, LT,

and E1A, and the other operates in the cytoplasm and may be perturbed by oncogenes like ras, MT, and E1B (Weinberg, 1985). The nuclear oncogenes and cytoplasmic oncogenes encode distinct functions in such cells. For example, the ras oncogene induce morphological alteration and growth in agarose, whereas the myc oncogene induce immortalization (Land et al., 1986). Similarly, the LT oncogene was found to initiate and maintain several transformed characteristics of such cells including an infinite life span and reduced serum requirement, whereas the MT oncogene conferred upon cells the ability to grow in agarose and to continue growing even when confluent (Treisman et al., 1981). The results from these studies are consistent with the multistep nature of carcinogenesis if one recognizes that oncogenes chosen for these early studies had pleiotropic effects.

Studies on oncogene-mediated transformation of Syrian hamster embryo (SHE) cells also support that malignant transformation is a multistep process. Barrett et al. (1987) attempted to malignantly transform SHE cells by transfection of the v-H-ras and v-myc oncogene, since this treatment had been shown to cause malignant transformation of rat embryo fibroblasts. They showed that SHE cells that express both the v-H-ras and v-myc oncogenes exhibit several transformed characteristic, e.g. growth in agarose (Thomassen et al., 1985), but do not acquire infinite life span and are not tumorigenic. The vast majority of the ras-plus-myc-transformed cells undergoes cellular senescence. From the senescing population, a few clones escaped senescence and gave rise to an infinite life span cell line. It is the infinite life span, ras-plus-myc-transformed cells that have the ability to form tumors when injected into athymic mice or syngeneic hamster. Subsequent cytogenetic analysis revealed that tumors produced from injection of the ras-plus-myc-transformed cells are

monoclonal and exhibit a nonrandom loss of chromosome 15 (Oshimura et al., 1985). Taken together, these observations indicate that malignant transformation of normal SHE cells required at least four genetic changes, i.e., the expression of the *ras* and *myc* oncogenes, an unidentified genetic change that contributes to the infinite life span phenotype, and loss of a tumor suppressor gene. The essential role of the loss of chromosome 15 in the transformation process is further supported by the observations that tumorigenicity of the *myc*-plus-*ras*-induced tumors was suppressed when the tumor cells were fused with normal SHE cell, and some of the non-tumorigenic cell hybrids re-expressed tumorigenicity at later passage with the loss of chromosome 15 (Barrett et al., 1987).

2.2 Studies on Human Cell Transformation

While a majority of cell transformation studies have relied on the use of rodent cells in culture, experimental models must be established using human cells to define the role of specific genetic changes in the development of human cancers. This is because rodent cells in culture have certain fundamental differences compared to human cells, e.g., genomic instability (Harris, 1987). Two lines of observations support this hypothesis. First, normal diploid human fibroblasts do not spontaneously transform in culture to either infinite life span cell lines or malignant cells (reviewed in McCormick and Maher, 1988), whereas rodent cells do so with varying frequencies. Second, treatments that successfully transform rodents cell in culture usually cannot be repeated using human cells in culture. The genetic stability of human cells make them perfect candidates for studying the process and the mechanisms by which malignant transformation occurs.

During the past several years, remarkable progress has been made in

the several human cell transformation systems. Malignant transformation has been achieved in a step wise fashion--immortalization and conversion of immortalized cells into malignant cells.

2.2.1 Transform human cells to infinite life span cells

Immortalization of human cells in culture can be achieved by infecting or transfecting the cells with genes from DNA tumor viruses. such as simian virus 40 (SV40). adenovirus 12 (AD12) or AD12-SV40 hybrid virus. For example, Reznikoff and colleagues (Christian et al., 1987) obtained several infinite life span cell lines by transfecting human uroepithelial cells with plasmid containing SV40 large tumor (LT) and small tumor (ST) oncogenes. These cell lines, termed CK/SV-HUC, are highly aneuploid and has acquired other altered growth characteristics including growth in medium without supplements for optimal growth and growth in agarose. These and other transformed characteristics are common in all SV40-transformed cells, and they reflect the pleiotropic effects of the viral oncogenes. In addition, Harris and colleagues (Reddel et al., 1988) have reported similar observations. They obtained several infinite life span cell lines by infecting normal human bronchial cells with AD12-SV40 hybrid virus. These results from these studies show that immortalization is a multistep process, i.e. required the concerted action of two or more viral oncogenes.

Immortalization can also be achieved by transfecting normal human cells with the v-myc oncogene. However, it occurs infrequently. McCormick and colleagues (Morgan et al., 1991) obtained an infinite life span human fibroblast cell line by transfection of normal diploid fibroblasts with the v-myc oncogene. All of the progeny of the clonally-derived populations expressed the same level of v-myc protein, but the vast majority of the population went into crisis and senesced. From the senescing populations, a few clones of viable cells were seen and their progeny cells give rise to an infinite life span cell line, designated MSU-1.0. Since the *myc*expressing siblings of MSU-1.0 in the senescing population all died, they concluded that expression of the v-myc protein is not sufficient to immortalize human fibroblasts, and at least one additional change is required to generate the infinite life span MSU-1.0 cell line. Although the change required to cause *myc*-expressing cells to acquire an infinite life span is not yet clear, these observations clearly indicate that immortalization is at least a two-step process.

2.2.2 Malignant transformation of infinite life span human cells by oncogene transfection

To date numerous investigators have achieved malignant transformation of human cells by the introduction of oncogenes into infinite life span human cells. The results of such experiments have shown that malignant transformation of infinite life span human cells in culture is also a multistep process. Reznikoff and colleagues (Christian et al., 1990; Kao et al., 1992) showed that expression of a transfected c-H-ras oncogene in the CK/SV-HUC cells confers upon the cells morphological alteration, but not the ability to form tumors in athymic mice. The few rare clones that progressed to become tumorigenic always show nonrandom loss of specific chromosomes, e.g., chromosome 3p, 11p, and 13q (Wu et al., 1991; Kao et al., 1992) These results indicate that malignant transformation of SV40-transformed, infinite life span human cells required not only the activation of a ras oncogene but probably also the inactivation of several tumor suppressor genes. Harris and colleagues (Pfeifer et al., 1989) showed that malignant transformation of a AD12-SV40

transformed human bronchial epithelial cell line required cooperation of two proto-oncogenes, the c-raf-1 and c-myc.

Recently, McCormick and colleagues (Hurlin et al., 1989; Wilson et al., 1990) showed that malignant transformation of the MSU-1.1 strain, a derivative of MSU-1.0 requires at least two genetic changes. In such studies, they showed that MSU-1.1 cells can be malignantly transformed by a transfected N- or H- *ras* oncogene in a high expression vector, but not by the same oncogenes in a low expression vector. These results showed that two genetic changes in *ras* genes are required to convert an infinite life span human fibroblast cell line to malignancy. First, the protooncogene has to acquire a mutation in a specific codon, and second that oncogene has to be over-expressed to a high level (McCormick and Maher, 1991).

It is clear from these studies that malignant transformation of human cells in culture is a multistep process, and at many steps on the pathway, alternative genes may be activated and/or inactivated that contribute to transformation.

C: THE FUNCTIONS OF GENES INVOLVED IN CARCINOGENESIS AND THE SIGNALING PATHWAYS IN THE CELL

1. Functions of Oncogene Products

A knowledge of the functions of proteins coded for by the oncogenes provides insight into the molecular mechanisms of malignant transformation. To date more than sixty different oncogenes of viral or cellular origin have been identified, and good progress has been made in understanding their biochemical functions. Based on the functions elucidated so far, oncogenes can be classified into five distinct groups. I will review the best studied oncogene with each distinct function.

<u>1.1 Protein Tyrosine Kinases</u>

The largest group consists of oncogenes that encode protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs), enzymes that phosphorylate proteins on tyrosine residues. All PTKs have sequence homology over a stretch of approximately 260 amino acids, which has been defined as the kinase domain (Hanks et al., 1988). This domain is required for the catalytic activity of these proteins. PTKs are divided into the cytoplasmic PTKs which lack a extracellular domain and are entirely intracellular and the receptor PTKs which contain an extracellular domain and span the plasma membrane (Pawson, 1988).

1.1.1 Cytoplasmic protein tyrosine kinases

Cytoplasmic PTKs include the *src* family of genes (*src*, *yes*, and *fgr*) as well as the *fes/fps* and *abl* oncogenes (Kitamura et al., 1982; Naharro et al., 1984). All of these genes were initially identified as oncogenes of retroviruses.

The *src* oncogene, the transforming gene of the Rous sarcoma virus (RSV), is the prototype of the *src* family. The protein coded for by the v*src* gene was the first retroviral oncogene product identified. Brugge and Erikson (1977) observed that serum from rabbits bearing RSV-induced tumors can immunoprecipitate a 60-kDa protein. This protein was subsequently found to be identical to the protein translated in vitro using RNA of the v-*src* region of RSV and rabbit reticulocyte lysate (Purchio et al., 1978). Using an in vitro kinase assay, several groups showed that the v-src protein exhibits a protein kinase activity with specificity for tyrosine residues (Collett and Erikson, 1978; Levinson et al., 1978; Hunter and Sefton, 1980). In addition, several groups showed a good correlation between the level of PTK activity of these v-src proteins and their ability to transform fibroblasts in culture through the studies of both conditional and non-conditional mutant viruses (Weber, 1984). This indicates that such enzymatic activity is essential for the transforming activity of RSV. These observations also indicate that phosphorylation of cellular proteins on tyrosine residues is one of the mechanisms underlying the carcinogenesis process (Sefton and Hunter, 1984).

Since the finding that the v-src protein is a protein tyrosine kinase. the search for the critical targets for v-src has been an active area for investigation. Sefton et al. (1980) showed that cells infected by RSV or transfection with the v-src oncogene exhibited a 7- to 10-fold higher level of phosphotyrosine in cellular proteins than do uninfected cells. Further studies have revealed that many different cytoplasmic proteins are phosphorylated, including vinculin (a protein present in the focal adhesion plaques in the plasma membrane), the glycolytic enzyme enolase, phosphoglycerate mutase, and lactate dehydrogenase, p36 (a calcium-dependent actin-binding protein (Saris et al., 1986), talin (Pasquale et al., 1986), the fibronectin receptor, and a 50-kDa protein that is associated in a complex with the v-src protein and hsp90 (Brugge, 1986). This suggests that the v-src protein has several primary targets. and more than one (perhaps all) play a role in generating the transformed characteristics of RSV-infected cells (Weber, 1984). However, the role of each phosphorylated protein in cell transformation remains to be elucidated.

Another example of the cytoplasmic PTKs is the v-fps/fes oncogene. The v-fps oncogene has been identified in Fujinami sarcoma virus (FSV) and four other independent isolates of avian sarcoma viruses (Fujinami and Inamoto, 1914; Car and Campbell, 1958; Balduzzi et al., 1981; Neel et al., 1982). The v-fes oncogene, identified in two independent isolates of feline sarcoma viruses, is found to be a cognate oncogene from the feline species (Franchini et al., 1981; Hampe et al., 1982; Shibuya et al., 1982). In a manner similar to v-src, the v-fps/fes oncogene encodes a protein which exhibits PTK activity, and such enzymatic activity is essential for its transforming ability (Pawson et al., 1980; Hanafusa et al., 1981). Cells infected with FSV have a higher level of phosphotyrosine in cellular proteins than do the uninfected cells (Beemon et al., 1982). The species of cellular proteins phosphorylated at tyrosine residues in FSV-transformed cells are similar to that in RSV-transformed cells (Cooper and Hunter, 1981; Erikson et al., 1981).

The expression of the c-fps/fes gene in mammals, unlike the c-src gene which is ubiquitously expressed, is limited to hematopoietic tissues, such as granulocytes and macrophages (Feldman et al., 1985; MacDonald et al., 1985). FSV-transformed myeloid cells do not require exogenous growth factors to differentiate in vitro, whereas normal myeloid cells do (Carmier and Samarut, 1986). Based on these observations, the c-fps/fes gene product is considered to be involved in myeloid cell differentiation and/or related to cellular responses to a growth factor specific to these cell types.

1.1.2 Receptor protein tyrosine kinases

Studies on viral oncogenes have provided several examples which show that normal counterparts of oncogenes (proto-oncogenes) encode receptor PTKs. These receptor PTKs normally function to respond to specific extracellular ligands and mediate the biological effects (Yarden and Ullrich, 1988). When activated by mutations, structural deletions or rearrangement, they can also function as transforming proteins and play a causal role in cell transformation.

A prime example is the v-*erbB* oncogene isolated from an avian erythroblastosis virus (Graf and Beug, 1978). Waterfield and colleagues (Downward et al., 1984) were the first to show the sequence homology between the v-*erbB* oncogene product and the epidermal growth factor receptor purified from normal placenta and from a human epidermoid carcinoma cell line. The v-*erbB* oncogene product was later found to be derived from chicken epidermal growth factor receptor, containing the transmembrane and kinase domains but lacking most of the extracellular domain responsible for growth factor binding. Further nucleotide analysis revealed that the v-*erbB* oncogene contains amino- and carboxy-terminal deletions. As a consequence of the deletion, the v-*erbB* protein has a constitutively active kinase activity even in the absence of its ligand (Kris et al., 1985), and *erbB*-containing viruses has been shown to transform chicken erythroid and fibroblast cells in culture (Gamett et al., 1986).

Another example is the v-fms gene which was isolated from the McDonough strain of feline sarcoma virus (Besmer et al., 1986). The v-fms oncogene and its cellular homologue both encode the receptor for the macrophage-colony stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1) (Sherr et al., 1985). The CSF-1 receptor is primarily expressed in mononuclear phagocyte lineage cells where it functions to transduce the signal triggered by CSF-1. When the CSF-1 growth factor binds to its receptor, the receptor phosphorylates itself and various cytoplasmic proteins which have not yet been identified (Downing et al., 1988; Sengupta et al., 1988; Huhn et al., 1989). The v-fms-encoded protein, however, is constitutively phosphorylated on tyrosine

(Woolford et al., 1985; Tamura et al., 1986), and induces tyrosine phosphorylation of cellular proteins in the absence of exogenous CSF-1 (Morrison et al., 1988a). This difference has been attributed to the deletion of a autoregulatory tyrosine 969 in the v-fms-encoded protein.

1.2 Protein Serine/Threonine Kinases

Studies on viral oncogenes have provided examples of oncogenes which code for proteins that have serine/threonine kinase activity. These oncogenes code for proteins that contain a 260 amino acid region kinase domain responsible for the enzymatic activity. The proteins coded for by these oncogenes phosphorylate proteins on serine or threonine residues, instead of tyrosine residues, although their kinase domains re homologous to that of the protein tyrosine kinases.

A typical example is the v-raf oncogene originally identified as a transforming gene of a murine sarcoma virus (Rapp et al., 1983). The rafcontaining retroviruses have been shown to transform rodent fibroblasts in culture and to induce tumors in mice (Rapp et al., 1986). using an in vitro kinase assay, Moelling et al. (1984) demonstrated that the v-raf gene product has protein kinase activity with specificity for serine and threonine residues. In addition, The c-raf proto-oncogenes have been shown to be "activated" in a variety of human tumors, including human stomach cancer (Shimizu et al., 1985), glioma (Fukui et al., 1985), breast cancer, and renal cell carcinoma (Stanton and Cooper, 1987). Nucleotide analysis of these "activated" c-raf oncogenes have shown that c-raf can be activated by amino-terminal fusions, truncations, and site-specific point mutations.

The role of the c-raf protein in the ras signaling pathway was first suggested by functional analysis of the v-raf protein. Three lines of

evidence revealed that v-raf acts downstream of the ras protein in its signaling pathway. First, Noda et al. (1983) showed that the v-raf oncogene can transform revertants of v-K-ras-transformed cells whereas the ras oncogenes and oncogenes of the tyrosine kinase class cannot. Second, Stacey and colleagues (Smith et al., 1986) showed that microinjection of a neutralizing antibody against ras protein does not inhibit the v-raf-transformed phenotype. Finally, Kolch et al. (1991) showed that the c-raf protein is required for the ras-induced transformed phenotype (Kolch et al., 1991).

It is now well documented that the c-raf protein plays a central role in the ras signaling pathway (Kizaka et al., 1992). Mitogenic stimuli, such as growth factors and tyrosine kinase oncogene products, can activate the ras signaling pathway by increasing the intracellular level of GTP-bound ras which in turn associates and phosphorylates the c-raf protein on its tyrosine residues (Morrison et al., 1988b,1989; Rapp, 1991). Phosphorylation of the raf protein in turn activates the c-raf kinase, and the activated c-raf kinase can transduce the signal downstream by eliciting a kinase cascade and ultimately leading to altered gene expression (Heidecker et al., 1989). Studies suggest that the v-raf protein exert its growth-promoting action by activating the kinase cascade, just like the activated c-raf does (Kolch et al., 1991).

1.3 Growth Factors

Studies on viral oncogenes have provided examples which show that normal counterparts of some oncogenes (proto-oncogenes) encode proteins that act as growth factors (Dickson and Gordon, 1987). Studies of these oncogenes have provided one of the mechanisms for carcinogenesis, i.e., uncontrolled cell growth. If tumor cells simultaneously produce growth

factors and respond to such growth factors, they would be constantly stimulated to proliferate (autocrine mechanism).

1.3.1 The v-sis oncogene and platelet-derived growth factor

The v-sis oncogene of the simian sarcoma virus represents a prototype for oncogenes that encode growth factors. The cellular homologue of this transforming gene codes for the B chain of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) (Doolittle et al., 1983). Cells transformed by simian sarcoma virus can proliferate in medium without exogenous growth factors because they produce their own PDGF (Johnson et al., 1986). The v-sisencode protein has been shown to activate the PDGF receptors by binding and stimulating the receptors at the cell surface and in intracellular compartments (Huang et al., 1984; Keating and Williams, 1988). The activated PDGF receptor in turn mediated the biological response by triggering a complex cascade of secondary events that signal the cell to replicate (Satoh et al., 1993; Valius and Kazlauskas, 1993).

PDGF is a potent growth factor for several types of mesenchymal cells which express the PDGF receptor, i.e., fibroblasts, vascular smooth muscle cells, and glial cells. The cellular *sis*/PDGF-B gene has been shown to be over-expressed in cell lines derived from human mesenchymal tumors (Reinhold et al., 1984). The endogenously produced PDGF probably play a role in the carcinogenesis process of such tumors since cells from the tumors simultaneously express PDGF and respond to the growth factor.

1.3.2 Oncogenes related to basic fibroblast growth factor

Another example comes from oncogenes that are related to basic fibroblast growth factors, a heparin-binding growth factor. The *int-2* oncogene was identified in murine sarcoma virus-induced breast tumors (Dickson et al., 1984; Peters et al., 1984). The *hst* oncogene was isolated independently from a human stomach tumor and a Kaposi's sarcoma (Delli-Bovi et al., 1987; Taira et al., 1987). The amino acid sequence of the int-2 and hst oncogene products has a significant homology to that of basic fibroblast growth factor. The cellular homologues of the int-2 and hst oncogenes has been found to be amplified in about 10-20% of human mammary tumors (Lidereau et al., 1988; Zhou et al., 1988). The isolation and expression of these oncogene in tumor cells responding to such growth factor suggests that an autocrine mechanism is involved.

1.4 Ras Proteins and GTPase activity

The ras multigene family consists of three active members, i.e., the H-, K-, and N-ras genes. The H-ras and K-ras gene were identified as the transforming genes of Harvey and Kirsten strains of murine sarcoma viruses respectively (Barbacid, 1987). A third member of this family was isolated from DNA of a human neuroblastoma by DNA transfection (Shimizu et al., 1983).

Genes from the ras family are frequently found to be mutated in various types of human tumors. Nucleotide sequence analysis of the ras oncogenes isolated from human tumors and viral ras oncogenes have provided insight into the mechanism for "activation" of this gene. Such studies show that the most common difference between these mutant ras sequences and their normal counterparts is a point mutation that leads to the substitution of a different amino acid. Furthermore, site specific mutagenesis *in vitro* showed that changes in the ras protein at residue 12 or 13, or residues 59-61, almost invariably leads to a change in the transforming ability of the protein (Taparowsky et al., 1982; Bos et al., 1984).

The ras genes encode intracellular membrane protein of 21 kDa,

termed p21 (Langbeheim et al, 1980; Willingham et al., 1980). The very significant insight into the biochemical function of the ras protein was contributed by Shih et al. (1979), who showed that it specifically binds guanine-nucleotides. The protein was subsequently shown to have an intrinsic GTPase activity, which hydrolyze guanosine triphosphate (GTP) to guanosine diphosphate (GDP) (McGrath et al., 1984). It is now known that the GTPase activity of the ras protein is tightly regulated by a GTPase activating protein (GAP). When cells are not stimulated by external growth factor, GAP stimulates the GTPase activity of normal ras protein, maintaining ras in its inactive, GDP-bound states (McCormick, 1989). Most ras oncogenes, however, encode mutant ras proteins that have a reduced ability to hydrolyze GTP or are no longer subjected to stimulation by GAP, resulting in an accumulation of GTP-bound ras. It is this GTPbound ras which actively transduces signals for growth even in the absence of external growth stimuli, causing uncontrolled growth.

Recently, it has become clear that the ras protein serves as a common transducer within the cells for signals initiated by epidermal growth factor, platelet-derived growth factor, and a wide variety of other growth factors (Qiu and Green, 1991; Nakafuku et al., 1992; Satoh et al., 1993). Receptors for these growth factors are usually protein tyrosine kinases. When the ligand binds to the receptor, the enzymatic activity of the receptor 15 stimulated and it phosphorylates itself. The phosphorylated (activated) receptor can then recruit cellular factors to activate ras by causing it to exchange GDP for GTP. The GTP-bound ras in turn leads to activation of the c-raf protein, a serine/threonine kinase which in turn activates MAP kinase kinase and ultimately results in altered gene expression.

1.5 Nuclear Transcription Factors

The best characterized of the nuclear oncogene family is the v-jun oncogene which was isolated in 1987 as a transforming gene of an avian sarcoma virus (Maki et al., 1987). Its function was suggested by its homology with the yeast transcription factor GCN4 (Vogt et al., 1987). Vogt and colleagues (Bohmann et al., 1987) first reported that the consensus target binding sequence of GCN4 -TCACTCA- is identical to the recognition sequence of the human transcription factor AP-1, suggesting that jun is related to AP-1. Subsequently, they showed that the c-jun protein associates with the c-fos protein, another nuclear proto-oncogene product, to form the AP-1 transcription factor which is capable of regulating target gene expression (Rouscher III et al., 1988). The nature of the interaction between c-fos and c-jun was found to be through a dimerization motif termed the leucine zipper (Landschulz et al., 1988). Now it is known that the genes, jun and fos, belong to two multigene families and all of the members in the jun family can interact with all members in the fos family (Vogt and Bos, 1990). Since the discovery of specific DNA binding with jun and fos, a number of other nuclear oncogenes, including c-myc, c-myb, c-rel, have been shown also to have sequence specific DNA binding and transcription activation capability (Lucibello and Muller, 1991).

2. Functions of Tumor Suppressor Gene Products

Much less is known about the functions of these tumor suppressor genes as compared to that of the oncogenes. To date only ten tumor suppressor genes have been cloned, although many genomic regions have been recognized to contain tumor suppressor genes. The identification of four of these tumor suppressor genes is reviewed in previous sections. Here I will review the five genes whose functions are best characterized; Retinoblastoma (Rb), p53, Wilms' tumor (WT1), Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) and DCC genes. Three of these five genes (Rb, p53, and WT1) code for proteins that function as nuclear transcription factors. The NF1 gene product is a GTPase activating protein, and the DCC gene product is a cell adhesion molecule.

2.1 The Retinoblastoma (Rb) gene

The role of the Rb gene product in regulating cell growth was first suggested by its binding to the transforming proteins of several DNA tumor viruses, including SV40 large tumor (LT) antigen, adenovirus E1A and papillomavirus E7 (DeCaprio et al., 1988; Whyte et al., 1988; Dyson et al., 1989, 1990). The three viral oncoproteins are structurally distinct but share a common sequence in the region utilized for Rb binding. suggesting that a strong selective pressure has favored the evolution of viral proteins able to alter Rb gene function. Mutational analysis of the transforming proteins has demonstrated a correlation between their ability to transform cells and their ability to bind Rb protein (Whyte et al., 1989). These data suggest that the loss of the Rb gene function may account for some of the biological effects of these viruses, such as the ability to immortalize and transform cells in culture. Consistent with this is the finding that mutant Rb protein found in tumors fails to bind LT antigen and the mutations in these Rb proteins map to the regions required for binding in vitro.

Using an antibody specific for the Rb protein, Lee et al. (1987) demonstrated that Rb protein is a nuclear phosphoprotein with DNA-binding activity. Following this finding, several groups showed that the phosphorylation pattern of Rb protein varies depending on the proliferative state of the cells. (Buchkovich et al., 1989; DeCaprio et al., 1989). The majority of Rb protein in rapidly proliferating human fibroblasts is the phosphorylated. In contrast, most of the Rb protein in nonproliferative fibroblasts is the underphosphorylated. Based on these observations, a hypothesis that the Rb protein regulates cell cycle progression was proposed (Buchkovich et al., 1989). This hypothesis was subsequently proven by Lee and his colleagues (Goodrich et al., 1991), who showed that injection of purified Rb protein into cells inhibits the progression of cells from G_1 into S phase, and co-injection LT antigen can block this function. Consistent with this is the finding that oncoproteins of DNA tumor viruses binds preferentially to the underphosphorylated forms of Rb protein (Ludlow et al., 1989).

Preliminary indication that the Rb protein acts as a negative regulator was contributed by Robbins et al. (1990), who showed that expression of Rb protein can suppress the expression of a reporter gene transcribed from the c-fos transcriptional promoter. In such study, they defined the element in the c-fos promoter that confers responsiveness to Rb suppression as the retinoblastoma control element. This element has been found also in the promoter region of the c-myc gene. Taken together, these observations suggest that Rb act by suppressing the expression of genes like fos and myc. However, the mechanism for such activity and the sequence specific for Rb binding is not yet clear.

2.2 The p53 gene

The *p53* gene was initially classified as an oncogene because its over-expression resulted in immortalization of rodent cells (Jenkins et al., 1984), and in transformation of primary rat embryo fibroblasts in

concert with an activated *ras* gene (Eliyahu et al., 1984; Parada et al., 1984). However, further analysis revealed that these studies were conducted using mutant forms of the gene. When the same experiments were repeated with the wild-type p53 gene, the transformation did not occur (Finlay et al., 1989; Eliyahu et al., 1989).

Like the Rb protein, the p53 protein has the ability to form stable complex with the transforming proteins of several DNA tumor viruses (Levine and Momand, 1990). In fact, the p53 protein was first identified as a 53-kDa cellular protein bound to SV40 LT antigen (Lane and Crawford, 1979; Linzer and Levine, 1979). Besides SV40 LT antigen, adenovirus early region 1B (E1B) and papillomavirus E6 proteins also can bind to the p53 protein (Finlay et al., 1989). The p53 binding sites on LT antigen. E1B. and E6 are homologous to one another, and each is required for cellular transformation in cell culture by the respective virus. Thus, three different DNA tumor viruses, SV40, adenovirus, and human papilloma virus 16, have all evolved a mechanism to deal with the same negative regulator of cellular growth, p53. These data suggest that loss of p53 gene function may account for some of the transforming properties shared by these viruses, such as the ability to immortalize and transform cells in culture (Levine and Momand, 1990).

The effect of the p53 protein on cell proliferation is well documented. Introduction of a wild-type p53 gene can suppress the growth of p53-negative human carcinoma cells in vitro, often through arrest at the G1/S boundary of the cell cycle (Baker et al., 1990b; Chen et al., 1990; Diller et al., 1990; Martinez et al., 1991). More recently, the p53 gene has been shown to play a role in determining the programmed cell death of myeloid leukemic cells (Yonish-Rouach et al., 1991,1993). These

results are consistent with the wild-type p53 gene being a tumor suppressor. However, it is still not clear how the p53 gene functions. Two possible mechanisms have been proposed. The p53 protein could act as a regulator of gene transcription, either by promoting or repressing messenger RNA synthesis. The p53 protein has a DNA binding motif in its carboxyl terminus (Kern et al., 1991), and the amino-terminus of the p53 protein has been shown to promote the transcription of a test gene when fused with a DNA binding region of another gene, e.g., the yeast *Gal4* gene (Raycroft et al., 1990; Fields and Jang, 1990). Alternatively, the p53 protein could regulate the assembly or function of the DNA replicationinitiation complex (Braithwaite et al., 1987; Gannon and Lane, 1987). This is based on the observation that p53 can inhibit the adenosine triphosphate-dependent helicase activity of LT antigen, and thus abrogate the ability of LT antigen to bind α DNA polymerase or replicate SV40 DNA.

Mutations in the *p53* gene have been identified in many human tumors. They occur at codons throughout the whole gene but tend to be clustered in four regions that are highly conserved (Levine et al., 1991). These mutations result in mutant p53 proteins that lacks DNA binding capacity, transcriptional activator function, or inhibitory effect on LT antigen, or any combination of the three.

2.3 The Wilms' Tumor (WT1) Gene

The function of the WT1 gene product as a transcription factor was first suggested by sequence analysis of the WT1 gene. Based on the nucleotide sequence, the predicted WT1 gene product contains four zinc finger domains and a region rich in proline and glutamine (Rose et al., 1990; Gessler et al., 1990; Call et al., 1990). Subsequently, the WT1 gene product was shown to have sequence-specific DNA-binding activity, and the sequence recognized are similar to that recognized by EGR-1 (Rauscher III et al., 1990), a zinc finger-containing protein that is induced by mitogenic stimuli protein. A mutation in the zinc finger domain region of the WT1 gene product originally identified in cells from a Wilms' tumor abolished its DNA binding activity. The WT1 gene seems to have a restricted tissue expression whereas the Rb and p53 genes are expressed in virtually all tissues. No evidence currently exist to implicate the WT1 gene in malignancies other than Wilms' tumor.

2.4 The Neurofibromatosis (NF1) Gene

The NF1 gene codes for a 280-kDa protein, denoted neurofibromin (Wallace et al., 1990). The function of neurofibromin was first suggested by its sequence homology with the catalytic domain of the mammalian GTPase activating protein (GAP) protein and of the products of the IRA1 and IRA2 genes, inhibitors of ras in yeast (Buchberg et al., 1990; Xu et al., 1990). Subsequently, several studies provide strong evidence that the neurofibromin negatively regulates the GTPase activity of ras protein (Martin et al., 1990; Ballester et al., 1990). Based on these data, it has been suggested that neurofibromin may be involved in the control of cell growth by interacting with proteins such as ras, in a manner similar to the way GAP interacts. The role of loss of the NF1 gene function in tumorigenesis is not clear at the present time.

2.5 The Deleted in Colorectal Carcinoma (DCC) Gene

The function of the DCC gene product was suggested by its sequence homology with neural cell adhesion molecules. It contains conserved domains shared by other cell adhesion molecules, i.e., the immunoglobulinlike and fibronectin-related domains. This suggests that the DCC gene product may function by binding to an extracellular matrix or basement

membrane component (Fearon et al., 1990).

3. Multiple Signaling Pathways

The mitotic activity of cells is controlled by external signals that stimulate or inhibit intracellular events. The process by which an external signal is transmitted into and within a cell is referred to as signal transduction. Signal transduction is generally initiated by the interaction of extracellular ligands (growth factors, neurotransmitters and factors involved in the immune response) with their receptors on the cell surface. During the last decade, the signal transduction pathways triggered by some of the ligands have become a very active area of investigation. Results of these investigation have led to the identification of key proteins involved in these signaling pathways. New information is accumulating to reveal a complex, inter-related network of signal transduction inside the cell. Here I will review some of the welldocumented examples which reflect the complexity of this network.

3.1 Ras-Dependent and Ras-Independent Signaling Pathways

Growth factors are specific to certain cell types or tissue. Typical examples are platelet-derived growth factor in fibroblasts, nerve growth factor in neurons, colony stimulating factor-1 in macrophages, and bombesin in bronchial epithelial cells. These extracellular ligands signal the cell to replicate by binding to their respective receptor on the cell surface, and activation of ras protein is a key step in these signaling pathways (Heidaran et al., 1992; Szeberenyi et al., 1992; Profrock et al., 1992; Satoh et al., 1993). When a ligand binds to its receptor, the receptor autophosphorylates which leads to the recruitment of a guaninenucleotide releasing factor which activates ras by catalyzing the release of bound GDP, a rate limiting reaction in the exchange of GDP to GTP. The active ras in turn transduces the signal by eliciting a kinase cascade and ultimately altered gene expression.

An additional complexity of growth factor signaling pathways has been demonstrated by recent studies showing several different growth factors can also exert their activity via a pathway independent of ras. These growth factors, including platelet-derived growth factor, epidermal growth factor, interferon- α and interferon- γ , exert their activity by inducing a nuclear transcription factor complex termed SIF (sis-inducible factor). This transcription factor complex in turn binds to a specific sequence in the promoters of several cellular genes, resulting in induction of the expression of genes, such as c-fos (Hayes et al., 1987; Wagner et al., 1990). A 91 kDa subunit of the SIF complex, termed p91, is responsible for the DNA binding and transcriptional activity of the SIF complex (Silvennoinen et al., 1993). Further analysis revealed that growth factors. such as PDGF. raised the level of SIF by stimulating tyrosine phosphorylation and nuclear accumulation of p91. The p91 protein is probably phosphorylated directly by the stimulated receptors since it can interact with receptor PTKs through its src homology region 2 (SH-2)domain.

3.2 Activation of Multiple Signaling Proteins by One "Activated" Receptor

As indicated above, distinct cell surface receptors function to transduce signals for growth factors such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), fibroblast growth factor, nerve growth factor and insulin. The receptors share a common molecular structure, consisting of a extracellular ligand-binding domain, a single hydrophobic transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase domain. The binding of a growth factor to its receptor causes receptor dimerization and activation of the tyrosine kinase activity of the receptor. The stimulated receptor in turn phosphorylate itself at several tyrosine residues. The phosphorylated tyrosines provide a mechanism for the receptor to activate cytoplasmic proteins by binding to these proteins via their SH-2 domains and phosphorylating them. Recent studies on these cytoplasmic proteins have revealed a number of second messenger proteins whose functions are regulated by tyrosine phosphorylation.

The signaling pathway mediated through the PDGF receptor has served as the prototype for identification of substrates of the receptor tyrosine kinases. The activated PDGF receptor has been shown to physically associate with and phosphorylate several cytoplasmic proteins that can trigger various secondary events (Westermark and Heldin, 1985). These proteins include: 1) phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI-3 kinase); 2) phospholipase C- γ ; 3) GTPase-activating protein, which modulates the signal transducing activity of the ras protein (Molloy et al., 1989); and 4) three tyrosine kinases of the src family, c-src, c-yes, and c-fyn (Kypta et al., 1990).

The PI-3 kinase was the first cytoplasmic enzyme found to be recruited by PDGF receptor in a ligand-dependent manner. Cantley and colleagues (Kaplan et al., 1987) demonstrated that this enzyme is rapidly recruited to the plasma membrane in PDGF-stimulated fibroblasts. The recruitment of PI-3 kinase was shown to require the kinase activity of the PDGF receptor. PI-3 kinase phosphorylates the inositol ring of phosphatidylinositol (Coughlin et al., 1989). This enzyme may function in controlling cell shape and cell movement which change as a result of PDGF treatment since by the interaction of the catalytic product, phosphatidylinositol biphosphate, can interact with profilin, a cytoskeleton protein.

Phosphorylation of phospholipase C- γ by the PDGF receptor on its tyrosine residue has been shown to increase the catalytic activity of this enzyme (Nishibe et al., 1990). This cytoplasmic enzyme functions to catalyze the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol biphosphate and generates two second messengers, inositol triphosphate and diacylglycerol. Inositol triphosphate in turn leads to the mobilization of intracellular Ca⁺⁺, whereas diacylglyceral activates protein kinase C (Whitman and Cantley, 1988). These events ultimately stimulate cellular growth via a series of cellular responses, including changes in cytosolic pH and potassium concentration, as well as the transcription of certain genes. The role of other phosphorylated proteins is less clear, but their activity is considered to be important in the PDGF-mediated signaling pathway.

Another example of a receptor that activates multiple cytosolic proteins is the EGF receptor. When bound by its ligand, the EGF receptor was shown to activate phospholipase C- γ , phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase, phosphatidylinositol-4 kinase, phosphatidylinositol-5 kinase, and GTPase-activating protein.

3.3 Signaling Pathways Mediated by Cytoplasmic Protein Tyrosine Kinases

Studies on the cytoplasmic proteins phosphorylated by cytoplasmic PTKs, such as v-src, have shown that cytoplasmic PTKs share some of the cellular substrates with receptor PTKs. For example, the v-src oncogene can phosphorylate phospholipase C- γ , phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase, GTPase-activating protein and the c-raf protein (Cantley et al., 1991). Furthermore, studies on revertants of *ras*-transformed NIH3T3 cells indicated that several cytoplasmic PTK oncogenes, including src, fes, and

abl, act upstream of ras in the same pathway which is triggered by receptor PTKs. This conclusion is based on the observation that these oncogenes cannot transform a revertant cell line isolated from K-*ras* oncogene transformed cells (Noda et al., 1983). This was further supported by the observations that transformation by these oncogenes can be suppressed by either microinjection of an anti-ras monoclonal antibody or introduction of a dominant negative ras mutant protein (Smith et al., 1986). Taken together, these results suggest the cytoplasmic PTKs and the receptor PTKs act in a converging signaling pathway.
REFERENCES

Adams J.M, Harris A.W, Pinkert C.A, Corcoran, L.M., Alexander, W.S., Cory, S., Palmiter, R.D. and Brinster, R.L. (1985) The *c-myc* oncogene driven by immunoglobulin enhancers induces lymphoid malignancy in transgenic mice. Nature 318: 533-538.

Alitalo, K., Winqvist, R., Lin, C.C., de la Chapelle, A., Schwab, M. and Bishop, J.M. (1984) Aberrant expression of an amplified *c-myb* oncogene in two cell lines from a colon carcinoma. Proc. Natl. Acad, Sci. U.S.A. 81: 4534-4538.

Bader, J.P. (1972) Temperature-dependent transformation of cells infected with a mutant of Bryan Rous sarcoma virus. J. Virol. 10: 267-276.

Baker, S.J., Fearon, E.R., Nigro, J.M., Hamilton, S.R., Preisinger, A.C., Jessup, J.M., van Tuinen, P., Ledbetter, D.H., Barber, D.F., Nakamura, Y., White, R. and Vogelstein, B. (1989) Chromosome 17 deletions and *p53* gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. Science 244: 217-221.

Baker, S.J., Markowitz, S., Fearon, E.R., Wilson, J.K.V. and Vogelstein, B. (1990b) Suppression of human colorectal carcinoma cell growth by wild-type p53. Science 249: 912-915.

Baker, S.J., Preisinger, A.C., Jessup, J.M., Paraskeva, C., Markowitz, S., Wilson, J.K.V., Hamilton, S. and Vogelstein, B. (1990a) *p53* Gene mutations occur in combination with 17p allelic deletions as late events in colorectal tumorigenesis. Cancer res. 50: 7717-7722.

Balduzzi, P.C., Notter, M.F.D., Morgan, H.R. and Shibuya, M. (1981) Some biological properties of two new viral sarcoma viruses. J. Virol. 40: 268-275.

Ballester, R., Marchuk, D., Boguski, M., Saulino, A., Letcher, R., Wigler, M. and Collins, F. (1990) The NF1 locus encodes a protein functionally related to mammalian GAP and yeast IRA proteins. Cell 63: 851-859.

Bannasch, P., Mayer, D. and Hacker, H.J. (1980) Hapatocellular glycogenesis and hepatocarcinogenesis. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 605: 217-245.

Barbacid, M. (1987) ras genes. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 56: 779-827.

Barker, D., Wright, E., Nguyen, K., Cannon, L., Fain, P., Goldgar, D., Bishop, D., Carey, J., Baty, B., Kivlin, J., Willard, H., Waye, J., Greig, G., Leinwand, L., Nakamura, Y., O'Connell, P., Leppert, M., Lalouel, J., White, R. and Skolnick, M. (1987) Gene for von Recklinghausen neurofibromatosis is in the pericentric region of chromosome 17. Science, 236: 1100-1102. Barrett, J.C., Oshimura, M. and Koi M. (1987) Role of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes in a multistep model of carcinogenesis. In: Critical Molecular Determinants of Carcinogenesis. F.F. Becker and T.J. Slaga (eds.), University of Texas Press, Austin, pp. 45-56.

Battey J, Moulding C, Taub R, Murphee, W., Stewart, T., Potter, H., Lenoir, G. and Leder, P. (1983) The human c-myc oncogene: Structural consequences of translocation into the IgH locus in Burkitt lymphoma. Cell 34: 779-787.

Beemon, K., Ryden, T. and McNelly, E.A. (1982) Transformation by avian sarcoma viruses leads to phosphorylation of multiple cellular proteins on tyrosine residues. J. Virol., 42: 742-747.

Ben-Neriah, Y., Daley, G.Q., Mes-Masson, A.M., Witte, O.N., Baltimore, D. (1986) The chronic myelogenous leukemia-specific p210 protein is the product of the *bcr-abl* hybrid gene. Science 233: 212-214.

Benedict, W.F., Weissman, B.E., Mark, C. and Stanbridge, E.J. (1984) Tumorigenicity of human HT1080 fibrosarcoma x normal fibroblast hybrids: chromosome dosage dependency. Cancer Res. 44: 3471-3479.

Besmer, P., Lader, E., George, P.C., Bergold, P.J., Qiu, F.H., Zuckerman, E.E. and Hardy, W.D. (1986) A new acute transforming feline retrovirus with *fms* homology specifies a C-terminally truncated version of the c-*fms* protein that is different form SM-feline sarcoma virus v-*fms* protein. J. Virol. 60: 194-199.

Bishop, J.M. (1983) Cellular oncogenes and retroviruses. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 52: 301-354.

Bodmer, W.F., Bailey, C.J., Bodmer, J., Bussey, H.J.R., Ellis, A., Gorman, P., Lucibello, F.C., Murday, V.A., Rider, S.H., Scambler, P., Sheer, D., Solomon, E. and Spurr, N.K. (1987) Localization of the gene for familial adenomatous polyposis on chromosome 5. Nature 328: 614-617.

Bohmann, D., Bos, T.J., Admon, A., Nishimura, T., Vogt, P.K. and Tjian, R. (1987) Human Proto-oncogene *c-jun* encodes a DNA binding protein with structural and functional properties of transcription factor AP-1. Science 238: 1386-1392.

Bos, J.L., Vries, M.V., Jansen, A.M., Veeneman, G.H., van Boom, J.H. and van der Eb, A.J. (1984) Three different mutations in codon 61 of the human N-ras gene detected by synthetic oligonucleotide hybridization. Nucleic Acids Res. 12: 9155-9163.

Bos, J.L., Fearon, E.R., Hamilton, S.R., Verlaan-de Varies, M., van Boom, J.H., van der Eb and Vogelstein, B. (1987) Prevalence of *ras* gene mutations in human colorectal cancers. Nature 327: 293-297.

Boveri, T. (1929) In: The Origin of Malignant Tumors. William and Wilkins Publishing Company, Baltimore.

Braithwaite, A.W., Sturzbecher, H.-W., Addison, C., Palmer, C., Rudge, K. and Jenkins, J.R. (1987) Mouse p53 inhibits SV40 origin-dependent DNA replication. Nature 329: 458-460.

Brookes, P. and Lawley, P.D. (1964) Evidence for the binding of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons to the nucleic acids of mouse skin: relation between carcinogenic power of hydrocarbons and their binding to deoxyribonucleic acid. Nature 202:781-784.

Broudeur, G., Seeger, R.C., Schwab, M., Varmus, H.E. and Bishop, J.M. (1984) Amplification of N-myc in untreated human neruoblastomas correlates with advanced disease stages. Science 224: 1124-1126.

Brugge, J.S. (1986) Interaction of the Rous sarcoma virus protein pp60^{src} with the cellular proteins pp50 and pp90. Curr. Topic Microbiol. Immunl. 123: 1-23.

Brugge, J.S. and Erikson, R.L. (1977) Identification of a transformationspecific antigen induced by an avian sarcoma virus. Nature 269: 346-348.

Buchberg, A.M., Cleveland, L., Jenkins, N.A. and Copeland, N.G. (1990) Sequence homology shared by neurofibromatosis type 1 gene and IRA-1 and IRA-2 negative regulator of the Ras cyclic AMP pathway. Nature 347: 291-294.

Buchkovich, K., Duffy, L.A. and Harlow, E. (1989) The retinoblastoma protein is phosphorylated during specific phases of the cell cycle. Cell 58: 1097-1105.

Call, K.M., Glaser, T., Ito, C.Y., Buckler, A.J., Pelletier, J., Haber, D. A., Rose, E.A., Kral, A., Yeger, H., Lewis, W.H., Jones, C. and Housman, D.E. (1990) Isolation and characterization of a zinc finger polypeptide gene at the human chromosome 11 Wilms' tumor locus. Cell 60: 509-520.

Cantley, L.C., Auger, K.R., Carpenter, C., Duckworth, B., Grazini, A., Kapeller, R. and Soltoff, S. (1991) Oncogenes and signal transduction. Cell 64: 281-302.

Capon, D.J., Chen, E.Y., Levinson, A.D., Seeburg, P.H. and Goeddel, D.V. (1983) Complete nucleotide sequences of the T24 human bladder carcinoma oncogene and its normal homologue. Nature 302: 33-37.

Carmier, J.F. and Samarut, J. (1986) Chicken myeloid stem cells infected by retroviruses carrying the v-fps oncogene do not require exogenous growth factors to differentiate in vitro. Cell 44: 159-165.

Carr, J.G. and Campbell, J.G. (1958) Three new virus-induced fowl sarcomas. Br. J. Cancer 12: 631-635.

Cavenee, W.K., Dryja, T.P., Philips, R.A., Benedict, W.F., Godbout, R., Gallie, B.L., Murphree, A.L., Strong, L.C. and White, R.L. (1983) Expression of recessive alleles by chromosomal mechanisms in retinoblastoma. Nature 305: 779-784.

Cawthon, R., Weiss, R., Xu, G., Viskochil, D., Culver, M., Stevens, J., Robertson, M., Dunn, D., Gesteland, R., O'Connell, P. and White, R. (1990) A major segment of the neurofibromatosis type 1 gene: cDNA sequence, genomic structure, and point mutations. Cell 62: 193-201.

Chen, P.-L., Chen, Y., Bookstein, R. and Lee, W.-H. (1990) Genetic mechanisms of tumor suppression by the human p53 gene. Science 250: 1576-1580.

Christian, B.J., Loretz, L.J. Oberley, T.D. and Reznikoff, C.A. (1987) Characterization of human uroepithelial cells immortalized in vitro by simian virus 40. Cancer Res. 47: 6066-6073.

Christian, B.J., Kao, C.H., Wu, S.-Q., Meisner, L.F. and Reznikoff, C.A. (1990) EJ/ras neoplastic transformation of simian virus 40-immortalized human uroepithelial cells: a rare event. Cancer Res. 50: 4779-4786.

Clark, S.S., McLaughlin, J., Timmons, M., Pendergast, A.M., Ben-Neriah, Y., Dow, L.W., Crist, W., Rovera, G., Smith, S.D. and Witte, O.N. (1988) Expression of a distinctive *bcr-ab1* oncogene in Ph-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). Science 239: 775-777.

Cleaver, J.E. (1968) Defective repair replication of DNA in xeroderma pigmentosum. Nature 218:652-654.

Cohen, J.B. and Levinson, A.D. (1988) A point mutation in the last intron responsible for increased expression and transforming activity of the c-Ha-ras oncogene. Nature 334: 119-124.

Collett, M.S. and Erikson, R.L. (1978) Protein kinase activity associated with the avian sarcoma virus *src* gene product. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75: 2021-2024.

Cooper, J.A. and Hunter, T. (1981) Four different classes of retroviruses induce phosphorylation of tyrosine present in similar cellular proteins. Mol. Cell Biol. 1: 394-407.

Cory, S. (1986) Activation of cellular oncogenes in hematopoietic cells by chromosome translocation. Adv. Cancer Res. 47: 189-234.

Coughlin, S.R., Escobedo, J.A. and Williams, L.T. (1989) Roles of phosphatidylinositol kinase in PDGF receptor signal transduction. Science, 243: 1191-1194.

Cowell, J.K., Wadey, R.B., Haber, D.A., Call, K.M., Housman, D.E. and Pritchard, J. (1991) Structural rearrangements of the WT1 gene in Wilms' tumor cells. Oncogene 6: 595-599.

Croce, C.M. and Nowell, P.C. (1985) Molecular basis of human B cell neoplasia. Blood 65: 1-7.

D'Emilia, J., Bulovas, K., D'Erole, K., Wolf, B., Steele, G. and Summerhayes, I.C. (1989) Expression of the c-*erbB* gene product at different stages of neoplastic progression in the colon. Oncogene 4: 1233-1239.

DeCaprio, J.A., Ludlow, J.W., Figge, J., Shew, J.-Y., Huang, C.-M., Lee, W.-H., Marsillo, E., Paucha, E. and Livingston, D.M. (1988) SV40 large tumor antigen forms a specific complex with the product of the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene. Cell 54: 275-284.

DeCaprio, J.A., Ludlow, J.W., Lynch, D., Furukawa, Y., Griffen, J., Piwnica-Worms, H., Huang, C.M. and Livington, D.M. (1989) The protein of the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene has properties of a cell cycle regulatory element. Cell 58: 1085-1089.

Delli-Bovi, P., Curatola, A.M., Kern, F.G., Greco, A., Ittmann, M. and Basilico, C. (1987) An oncogene isolated by transfection of Kaposi's sarcoma DNA encodes a growth factor that is a member of the FGF family. Cell 50: 729-737.

Der, C.J., Krontiris, T.G. and Cooper, G.M. (1986) Transforming genes of human bladder and lung carcinoma cell lines are homologous to the *ras* genes of Harvey and Kirsten sarcoma viruses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79: 3637-3640.

Dickson, C. and Gordon, P. (1987) Potential oncogene product related to growth factors. Nature 305: 112-116.

Dickson, C., Smith, R., Brookes, S. and Peters, G. (1984) Tumorigenesis by mouse mammary tumor virus: proviral activation of a cellular gene in the common integration region int-2. Cell 37: 529-536.

Diller, L., Kassel, J., Nelson, C.E., Gryka, M.A., Litwak, G., Gebhardt, M., Bressac, B., Ozturk, M., Baker, S.J., Vogelstein, B. and Friend, S.H. (1990) p53 functions as a cell cycle control protein in osteosarcomas. Mol. Cell Biol. 10: 5775-5781.

Doolittle, R.F., Hunkapiller, M.W., Hood, L.E., Devare, S.G., Robbins, K.C., Aaronson, S.A. and Antoniades, H.N. (1983) Simian sarcoma virus oncogene, v-sis, is derived from the gene (or genes) encoding a plateletderived growth factors. Science 221: 275-277.

Downing, J.R., Rettenmier, C.W. and Sherr, C.J. (1988) Ligand-induced tyrosine kinase activity of the colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor in a murine macrophage cell line. Mol. Cell Biol. 8: 1795-1799.

Downward, J., Yarden, Y., Mayes, E., Scrace, G., Totty, N., Stockwell, P., Ullrich, A., Schlessinger, J. and Waterfield, M.D. (1984) Close similarity of epidermal growth factor receptor and v-erbB oncogene protein sequences. Nature 307: 521-527.

Dryja, T.P., Rapaport, J.M., Joyce, J.M. and Peterson, R.A. (1986) Molecular detection of deletions involving band q14 of chromosome 13 in retinoblastoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83: 7391-7394.

Dyson, N., Howley, P.M., Munger, K. and Harlow, E. (1989) The human papilloma virus-16 E7 oncoprotein is able to form complexes with the retinoblastoma gene product. Science 243: 934-937.

Dyson, N., Bernards, R., Friend, S.H., Gooding, L.R., Hassell, J.A., Major, E.O., Pipas, J.M., Vandyke, T. and Harlow, E. (1990) Large T antigens of many polyomaviruses are able to form complexes with the retinoblastoma protein. J. Virol. 64: 1353-1356.

Eliyahu, D., Raz, A., Gruss, P., Givol, D. and Oren, M. (1984) Participation of p53 cellular tumour antigen in transformation of normal embryonic cells. Nature 312: 646-649.

Eliyahu, D., Michalovitz, D., Eliyahu, S., Pinhasi-Kimhi, O. and Oren, M. (1989) Wild-type p53 can inhibit oncogene-mediated focus formation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86: 8763-8767.

Erikson, E., Cook, R., Miller, G.L. and Erikson, L. (1981) The same normal cell protein is phosphorylated after transformation by avian sarcoma viruses with unrelated transforming genes. Mol. Cell. Biol. 1: 43-50.

Fearon, E.R. and Vogelstein, B. (1990) A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 61: 759-767.

Fearon, E.R., Cho, K.R., Nigro, J.M., Kern, S.E., Simons, J.W., Ruppert, J.M., Hamilton, S.R., Preisinger, A.C., Thomas, G., Kinzler, K.W. and Vogelstein, B. (1990) Identification of a chromosome 18q gene that is altered in colorectal cancers. Science 238: 193-197.

Feldman, R.A., Gabrilova, J.L., Tam, J.P., Moore, M.A.S. and Hanafusa, H. (1985) Specific expression of the human cellular *fps/fes*-encoded protein NCP92 in normal and leukemic myeloid cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 2379-2383.

Fields, S. and Jang, S.K. (1990) Presence of a potent transcription activating sequence in the p53 protein. Science 249: 1046-1049.

Finlay, C.A., Hinds, P.W. and Levine, A.J. (1989) The *p*53 proto-oncogene can act as a suppressor of transformation. Cell 57: 1083-1093.

Finley, G.G., Schulz, N.T., Hill, S.A., Geiser, J.R., Pipas, J.M. and Meisler, A.I. (1989) Expression of the *myc* gene family in different of human colorectal cancer. Oncogene 4: 963-971.

Franchini, G., Even, J., Sherr, C.J. and Wong-Staal, F. (1981) Onc sequence of Snyder-Theilen feline sarcoma virus are derived from noncontiguous region of a cat cellular gene. Nature 290: 154-157. Francke, U., Holmes, L.B., Atkins, L. and Riccardi, V.M. (1979) Aniridia-Wilms' tumor association: evidence for specific deletion of 11p13. Cytogenet. Cell Genet.24: 185-192.

Friend, S.H., Bernards, R., Rogelj, S., Weinberg, R.A., Rapaport, J.M., Albert, D.M. and Dryja, T.P. (1986) A human DNA segment with properties of the gene that predisposes to retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma. Nature 323: 643-646.

Fujinami, A. and Inamoto, K. (1914) Ueber geschwulste bei Japanischen Haushuhnern, insbesondere uber einen transplantablen tumor. Z. Krebsforsch. 14: 94-119.

Fukui, M., Yamamotto, T., Kawai, S., Maruo, K. and Toyoshima, K. (1985) Detection of a *raf*-related and two other transforming DNA sequences in human tumors maintained in nude mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 81: 5954-5958.

Gamett, D.C., Tracy, S.E. and Robinson, H.L. (1986) Differences in the sequences encoding the carboxyl-terminal domain of the epidermal growth factor correlate with difference in the disease potential of the viral erbB genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83: 6053-6057.

Gannon, J.V. and Lane, D.P. (1987) p53 and DNA polymerase α compete for binding to SV40 T antigen. Nature 329: 456-458.

Gessler, M., Poustka, A., Cavenee, W., Neve, R.L., Orkin, S.H. and Bruns, G.A.P. (1990) Homozygous deletion in Wilms' tumors of a zinc-finger gene identified by chromosome jumping. Nature 343: 774-778.

Goelz, S., Hamilton, S.R. and Feinberg, A.P. (1985) Hypomethylation of DNA from benign and malignant human colon neoplasms. Science 228: 187-190.

Goldfarb, M.P., Shimizu, K., Perucho, M. and Wigler, M. (1982) Isolation and preliminary characterization of a human transforming gene from T24 bladder carcinoma cells. Nature 296: 404-409.

Goldgar, D., Green, P., Parry, D. and Mulvihill, J. (1989) Multipoint linkage analysis in neurofibromatosis type 1: an international collaboration. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 44: 6-12.

Goodrich, D.W., Wang, N.-P., Qian, Y.-W., Lee, E.Y.-H.P. and Lee W.-H. (1991) The retinoblastoma gene product regulates progression through the G1 phase of the cell cycle. Cell 67: 293-302.

Graf, T., and Beug, H. (1978) Avian leukemia viruses: interaction with their target cells in vivo and in vitro. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 516: 269-299.

Graham, F.L. and van der Eb, A.J. (1973) A new technique for the assay of infectivity of human adenovirus 5 DNA. Virology 52: 456-467.

Grundy, P., Koufos, A., Morgan, K., Li, F.P., Meadows, A.T. and Cavenee, W.K. (1988) Familial predisposition to Wilms' tumor does not map to the short arm of chromosome 11. Nature 336: 374-376.

Hampe, A., Laprevotte, I., Galibert, F., Fedele, L.A. and Sherr, C.J. (1982) Nucleotide sequences of feline retroviral oncogenes provide evidence for a family of tyrosine-specific protein kinase genes. Cell 30: 775-785.

Hanafusa, T., Mathey-Prevot, B., Feldman, R. and Hanafusa, H. (1981) Mutants of Fujinami sarcoma virus which are temperature sensitive for cellular transformation and protein kinase activity. J. Virol. 38: 347-355.

Hanks, S.K., Quinn, A.M. and Hunter, T. (1988) The protein tyrosine kinase family: conserved features and deduced phylogeny of the catalytic domain. Science 241: 42-52.

Harris, A.W., Pinkert, C.A., Crawford, M., Langdon, W.Y., Brinster, R.L. and Adams, J.M. (1988) The E mc-myc transgenic mice-a model for high incidence spontaneous lymphoma and leukemia of early B cells. J. Exp. Med. 167: 353-371.

Harris, C.C. (1987) Human tissues and cells in carcinogenesis research. Cancer Res. 47: 1-10.

Hashem, N., Bootsma, D., Keijzer, W., Greene, A., Coriell, L., Thomas, G. and Cleaver, J.E. (1980) Clinical characteristics, DNA repair, and complementation groups in xeroderma pigmentosum patients. Cancer Res. 40: 13-18.

Hayes, T.E., Kitchen, A.M. and Cochren, B.H. (1987) Inducible binding of a factor to the c-*fos* regulatory region. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84: 1272-1276.

Heidaran, M.A., Molloy, C.J., Pangelinan, M., Choudhury, G.G., Wang, L.M., Fleming, T.P., Sakaguchi, A.Y. and Pierce, J.H. (1992) Activation of the colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor leads to the rapid tyrosine phosphorylation of GTPase-activating protein and activation of cellular p21 ras. Oncogene 7: 147-152.

Heidecker, G., Cleveland, J.L., Beck, T.W., Huleihel, M., Kolch, W., Storm, S.M. and Rapp, U.R. (1989) Role of *raf* and *myc* oncogenes in signal transduction. In: Genes and Signal Transduction in Multistage Carcinogenesis. N. Colbum (ed.), Marcel Dekker, NY, pp. 339-345.

Huang, J.S., Huang, S.S. and Deuel, T.F. (1984) Transformation protein of simian sarcoma virus stimulates autocrine growth of SSV-transformed cells through PDGF cell-surface receptors. Cell 39: 79-94.

Huff, V., Compton, D.A., Chao, L.Y., Strong, L.C., Geiser, C.F. and Sauden, G.F. (1988) Lack of linkage of familial Wilms' tumor to chromosome band 11p13. Nature 336: 337-338.

Huhn, R.D., Cicione, M.E. and Frackelton, R.A. (1989) Identification of tyrosine phosphorylated colony-stimulating factor 1 (CSF-1) receptor and a 56-kilodalton protein phosphorylated in intact human cells in response to CSF-1. J. Cell Biochem. 39: 129-134.

Hunter, T. Cooperation between oncogenes. (1991) Cell 64: 249-270.

Hunter, T. and Sefton, B. (1980) Transforming gene product of Rous sarcoma virus phosphorylates tyrosine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77: 1311-1315.

Hurlin, P.J., Maher, V.M. and McCormick, J.J. (1989) Malignant transformation of human fibroblasts caused by expression of a transfected T24 HRAS. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86: 187-191.

Jelinek, W.R., Toomey, R.P., Leinwand, L., Duncan, C.H., Biro, P.A., Choudary, P.V., Weissman, S.M., Rubin, C.M., Houck, C.M., Deininger, P.L. and Schmid, C.W. (1980) Ubiquitous interspersed repeated sequences in mammalian genomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77: 1398-1402.

Jenkins, J.R., Rudge, K. and Currie, G.A. (1984) Cellular immortalization by a cDNA clone encoding the transformation-associated phosphoprotein p53. Nature 312: 651-654.

Johnsson, A., Beltsholtz, C., Heldin, C.-H. and Westermark, B. (1986) The phenotypic characteristics of simian sarcoma virus-transformed human fibroblasts suggest that the v-sis gene product acts solely as a PDGF receptor agonist in cell transformation. EMBO J. 7: 1535-1541.

Kaelbling, M. and Klinger, H.P. (1986) Suppression of tumorigenicity in somatic cell hybrids. III. Cosegregation of human chromosome 11 of a normal cell and suppression of tumorigenicity in intraspecies hybrids of normal diploid x malignant cells. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 41: 65-70.

Kao, C., Wu, S.-Q., Bhatthacharya, M., Meisner, F. and Reznikoff, C.A. (1992) Loss of 3p, 11p, and 13q in EJ/ras-transformed simian virus 40immortalized human uroepithelial cells. Gene Chrom. Cancer 4: 158-168.

Kaplan, D.R., Whitman, M., Schaffhausen, B., Pallas, D.C., White, M., Cantley, L. and Roberts, T.M. (1987) Common elements in growth factor stimulation and oncogene transformation: 85 kd phosphoprotein and phosphatidylinositol kinase activity. Cell 50: 1021-1029.

Kawai, S. and Hanafusa, H. (1971) The effects of reciprocal changes in the temperature on the transformed state of cells infected with a Rous sarcoma virus mutant. Virology 46: 470-479.

Keating, M.T. and Williams, L.T. (1988) Autocrine stimulation of intracellular PDGF receptors in v-*sis*-transformed cells. Science 239: 914-917.

Kern, S.E., Kinzler, K.W., Baker, S.J., Nigro, J.M., Rotter, V., Levine, A.J., Friedman, P., Prives, C. and Vogelstein, B. (1991) Mutant p53 protein bind DNA abnormally *in vitro*. Oncogene 6: 131-136.

Kinzler, K.W., Bigner, S.H., Bigner, D.D., Trent, J.M., Law, M.L., O'Brien, S.J., Wang, A.J. and Vogelstein, B. (1987) Identification of an amplified, highly expressed gene in a human glioma. Science 236: 70-73.

Kitamura, N., Kitamura, A., Toyoshima, K., Hirayama, Y. and Yoshida, M. (1982) Avian sarcoma virus Y73 genome sequence and structural similarity of its transforming gene product to that of Rous sarcoma virus. Nature 297: 205-208.

Kizaka-Kondoh, S., Sato, K., Tamura, K., Nojima, H. and Okyyama, H. (1992) Raf-1 protein kinase is an integral component of the oncogene signal cascade shared by epidermal growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor. Mol. Cell Biol. 12: 5078-5086.

Knudson, A.G. (1971) Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 68: 820-823.

Knudson, A.G. (1977) Genetic predisposition to cancer. In: The Origins of Human Cancer. H.H. Hiatt, J.D. Watson and J.A. Winsten (eds.), Cold Spring Harbor, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, NY, pp. 45-54.

Knudson A.G. (1978) Retinoblastoma: a prototypic hereditary neoplasm. Semin. Oncol. 5: 57-60.

Kohl, N., Kanda, N., Schreck, R., Bruns, G., Latt, S., Gilbert, F. and Alt, F. (1983) Transposition and amplification of oncogene-related sequences in human neuroblastomas. Cell 35: 359-367.

Kolch, W., Heidecker, G., Lloyd, P. and Rapp, U.R. (1991) Raf-1 protein kinase is required for growth of induced NIH3T3 cells. Nature 349: 426-428.

Konopka, J.B., Watanabe, S.M. and Witte, O.N. (1985) Detection of c-abl tyrosine kinase activity in vitro permits direct comparison of normal and altered *abl* gene product. Mol. Cell Biol. 5: 3116-3123.

Koufos, A., Grundy, P., Morgan, K., Aleck, K.A., Hadro, T., Lampkin, B.C., Kalbakji, A. and Cavenee, W.K. (1989) Familial Weidemann-Beckwith syndrome and a second Wilms' tumor locus both map to 11p15. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 44: 711-719.

Kris, R., Lax, I., Gullick, W., Waterfield, M., Ullrich, A., Fridkin, M. and Schlessinger, J. (1985) Antibodies against a synthetic peptide as a probe for the kinase activity of the avian EGF receptor and v-erbB protein. Cell 40: 619-625.

Kurzrock, R., Gutterman, J.U. and Talpaz, M. (1988) The molecular genetics of Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias. N. Engl. J. Med. 319:990-998.

Kypta, R.M., Goldberg, Y., Ulug, E.T. and Courtneidge, S.A. (1990) Association between the PDGF receptor and members of the *src* family of tyrosine kinases. Cell 62: 481-492.

Land, H., Parada, L.F. and Weinberg, R.A. (1983) Tumorigenic conversion of primary embryo fibroblasts requires at least two cooperating oncogenes. Nature 304: 596-602.

Land, H., Chen, A.C., Morgenstern, J.P., Parada, L.F. and Weinberg, R.A. (1986) Behavior of myc and ras oncogenes in transformation of rat embryo fibroblasts. Mol. Cell Biol. 6: 1917-1925.

Landschulz, W.H., Johnson P.F. and McKnight, S.L. (1988) The leucine zipper: a hypothetical structure common to a new class of DNA binding proteins. Science 240: 1759-1764.

Lane, D.P. and Crawford, L.V. (1979) T-antigen is bound to host protein in SV40-transformed cells. Nature 278: 261-263.

Langbeheim, H., Shih, T.Y. and Scolnick, E.M. (1980) Identification of a normal vertebrate cell protein related to the p21 src of Harvey murine sarcoma virus. Virology 106: 292-300.

Ledbetter, D.H., Rich D.C., O'Connell, P., Leppert, M. and Carey, J.C. (1989) Precise localization of NF1 to 17q11.2 by balanced translocation. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 44: 20-24.

Leder, P., Battey, J., Lenoir, G., Maulding, G., Murphy, W., Potter, H., Stewart, T. and Taub, R. (1983) Translocations among antibody genes in human cancer. Science 222: 765-767.

Lee, W.-H., Murphee, A.C. and Benedict, W.F. (1984) Expression and amplification of the N-myc gene in primary retinoblastoma. Nature 309: 458-460.

Lee, W.-H., Bookstein, R., Hong, F., Young, L.-J., Shew, J.-Y. and Lee, E.Y.-H.P. (1987) Human retinoblastoma susceptibility gene: cloning, identification, and sequence. Science 235: 1394-1399.

Lee, W.-H., Shew, J.Y., Hong, F.D., Sery, T.W. and Lee, E.Y. (1987) Human retinoblastoma susceptibility gene encodes a nuclear phosphoprotein associated with DNA-binding activity. Nature 329: 642-545.

Leppert, M., Dobbs, M., Scambler, P., O'Connell, P., Nakamura, Y., Stauffer, D., Woodward, S., Burt, R., Hughes, J., Gardner, E., Lathrop, M., Washuth, J., Lalouel, J.-M. and White, R. (1987) The gene for familial polyposis coli maps to the long arm of chromosome 5. Science 238: 1411-1414.

Levine, A.J. and Momand, E. (1990) Tumor suppressor genes: the p53 and retinoblastoma sensitivity genes and gene products. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1032: 119-136.

Levinson, A.D., Opperman, H., Levintow, L., Varmus, H.E. and Bishop, J.M. (1978) Evidence that the transforming gene of avian sarcoma virus encodes a protein kinase associated with a phosphoprotein. Cell 15: 561-572.

Lidereau, R., Callahan, R., Dickson, C., peters, G., Escot, C. and Ali-I.U. (1988) Amplification of the *int-2* gene in primary human breast tumors. Oncogene 2: 285-291.

Linzer, D.I.H. and Levine, A.J. (1979) Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40 transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. Cell 17: 43-52.

Lipkin, M. (1988) Biomarkers of increased susceptibility of gastrointestinal cancer: new application to studies of cancer prevention in human subjects. Cancer Res. 48: 235-240.

Lucibello, F.C. and Muller, R. (1991) Proto-oncogene encoding transcriptional regulators: unraveling the mechanisms of oncogenic conversion. Crit. Rev. Oncog. 2: 259-276.

Ludlow, J.W., DeCaprio, J.A., Huang, C.-M., Lee, W.-H., Paucha, E. and Livingston, D.M. (1989) SV40 large T antigen binds preferentially to an underphosphorylated member of the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene product family. Cell 56: 57-65.

MacDonald, I., Levy, J. and Pawson, T. (1985) Expression of the mammalian *c-fes* protein in hematopoietic cells and identification of a distinct *fes*-related protein. Mol. Cell. Biol. 5: 2543-2551.

Maher, V.M., Miller, E.C., Miller, J.A. and Szybalski W. (1968) Mutations and decreases in density of transforming DNA produced by derivatives of the carcinogens 2-acetylaminofluorene and N-methyl-4-aminoazobenzene. Mol. Pharmacol. 4: 411-426.

Maher, V.M., Ouellette, L.M., Curren, R.D. and McCormick J.J. (1976) Frequency of ultraviolet light-induced mutation is higher in xeroderma pigmentosum variant cells than in normal human cells. Nature 261: 593-595.

Maki, Y., Bos, T.J., Davis, C., Starbuck, M. and Vogt, P.K. (1987) Avian sarcoma virus 17 carries the *jun* oncogene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84: 2848-2852.

Martin, G.A., Viskochil, D., Bollag, G., McCabe, P.C., Crosier, W.J., Haubruck, H., Conroy, L., Clark, R., O'Connell, P., Cawthon, R.M., Innis, M.A. and McCormick, F. (1990) The GAP-related domain of the neurofibromatosis type 1 gene product interacts with ras p21. Cell 63: 843-849.

Martinez, J., Georgoff, I., Martinez, J. and Levine, A.J. (1991) Cellular localization and cell cycle regulation by a temperature-sensitive p53 protein. Genes Dev. 5: 151-159.

Matsunaga, E. (1981) Genetics of Wilms' tumor. Hum. Genet. 57: 231-246.

McCormick, F. (1989) ras GTPase activation protein: signal transmitter and signal terminator. Cell 56: 5-8.

McCormick, J.J. and Maher, V.M. (1988) Towards an understanding of the malignant transformation of diploid human fibroblasts. Mutat. Res. 199: 273-291.

McCormick, J.J. and Maher, V.M. (1991) Malignant transformation of human fibroblasts *in vitro*. In: Neoplastic transformation in human cell culture. J.S. Rhim and A. Dritschilo (eds.), The Humana Press, New Jersey, pp. 347-357.

McGrath, J.P., Capon, D.J., Goeddel, D.V. and Levinson, A.D. (1984) Comparative biochemical properties of normal and activated human ras p21 proteins. Nature 310: 644-649.

Miller, E.C., Miller, J.A. and Hartmann, H.A. (1961) N-Hydroxy-2acetylaminofluorene: a metabolite of 2-acetylaminofluorene with increased carcinogenic activity in the rat. Cancer Res. 21: 815-824.

Moelling, K., Heimann, B., Beimling, P., Rapp, U.R. and Sander, T. (1984) Serine- and threonine-specific protein kinase activities of purified gagmil and gag-raf proteins. Nature 312: 558-561.

Molloy, C.J., Bottaro, D.P., Fleming, T.P., Marshall, M.S., Gibbs, J.B. and Aaronson, S.A. (1989) PDGF induction of tyrosine phosphorylation of GTPase activating protein. Nature 342: 711-714.

Morgan, T.L., Yang, D., Fry, D.G., Peter, J.H., Kohler, S.K., Maher, V.M. and McCormick, J.J. (1991) Characteristics of an infinite life span diploid human fibroblast cell strain and a near-diploid strain arising from a clone of cells expressing a transfected v-myc oncogene. Exp. Cell Res. 197: 125-136.

Morrison, D.K., Browning, P.J., White, M.F. and Roberts, T.M. (1988) Tyrosine phosphorylation in vivo associated with v-fms transformation. Mol. Cell Biol. 8: 176-185.

Morrison, D.K., Kaplan, D.R., Rapp, U. and Roberts, T.M. (1988) Signal transduction from membrane to cytoplasm: growth factors and membrane-bound oncogene products increase Raf-1 through tyrosine phosphorylation by the PDGF-B-receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85: 8855-8859.

Morrison, D.K., Kaplan, D.R., Escobedco, J.A., Rapp, U.R., Roberts, T.M. and Williams, L.T. (1989) Direct activation of the serine/threonine kinase activity of Raf-1 through tyrosine phosphorylation by the PDGF B-receptor. Cell 58: 649-657.

Naharro, G., Robbins, K.C. and Reddy, E.R. (1984) Gene product of v-fgr onc: hybrid protein containing a portion of actin and a tyrosine-specific protein kinase. Science 223: 163-166.

Nakafuku, M., Satoh, T. and Kaziro, Y. (1992) Differentiation factors, including nerve growth factor, fibroblast growth factor, and interleukin-6, induce an accumulation of an active ras.GTP complex in rat pheochromocytoma PC12 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 267: 19448-19454.

Nau, M.M., Brooks, B.J., Battey, J.F., Sausville, E.A., Gazdar, A.F., Kirsch, I.R., McBride, O.W., Bertness, V., Hollis, G.F. and Minna, J.D. (1985) L-myc, a new myc related gene amplified and expressed in human small cell lung cancer. Nature, 318: 69-73.

Nau, M.M., Brooks, B.J., Carney, D.N. Jr., Gazdar, A.F., Battey, J.F., Sausville, E.A. and Minna, J.D. (1986) Human small cell lung cancers show amplification and expression of the N-myc gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83: 1092-1096.

Neel, B.G., Wang, L.-H., Mathey-Prevot, B., Hanafusa, T., Hanafusa, H. and Hayward, W.S. (1982) Isolation of 16L virus: a rapidly transforming sarcoma virus from an avian leukosis virus-induced sarcoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79: 5088-5092.

Nishibe, S., Wahl, M.I., Hernandez-Sotomayor, S.M.T., Tonks, N.K., Rhee, S.G. and Carpenter, G. (1990) Increase of the catalytic activity of phospholipase $C-\gamma 1$ by tyrosine phosphorylation. Science 250: 1253-1256.

Noda, M., Selinger, Z., Scolnick, E.M. and Bassin, R.H. (1983) Flat revertants isolated from Kirsten sarcoma virus-transformed cells are resistant to the action of specific oncogenes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80: 5602-5606.

Nowell, P.C. and Hungerford, D.A. (1960) A minute chromosome in human chronic granulocytic leukemia. Science 132: 1497-1499.

Nusse, R. and Varmus, H.E. (1982) Many tumors induced by the mouse mammary tumor virus contain a provirus integrated in the same region of the host genome. Cell 31: 99-109.

Oshimura, M., Gilmer, T.M. and Barrett, J.C. (1985) Nonrandom loss of chromosome 15 in Syrian hamster tumors induced by v-Ha-*ras* plus v-*myc* oncogenes. Nature 316: 636-639.

Parada, L.F., Tabin, C.J., Shih, C. and Weinberg, R.A. (1982) Human EJ bladder carcinoma oncogene is homologue of Harvey sarcoma virus *ras* gene. Nature 297: 474-478.

Pasquale, E.B., Maher, P.A. and Singer, S.J. (1986) Talin is phosphorylated on tyrosine in chicken embryo fibroblasts transformed by Rous sarcoma virus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83: 5507-5511.

Pawson, T. (1988) Non-catalytic domains of cytoplasmic protein-tyrosine kinases: regulatory elements in signal transduction. Oncogene 3: 491-495.

Pawson, T., Guyden, J., Kung, T.H., Radke, K., Gilmore, T. and Martin, G.S. (1980) A strain of Fujinami sarcoma virus which is temperaturesensitive in protein phosphorylation and cellular transformation. Cell 22: 767-775.

Peters, G., Lee, A. and Dickson, C. (1984) Activation of cellular gene by mouse mammary tumor virus may occur early in mammary tumor development. Nature 309: 273-275.

Pfeifer, A.M., Mark, G.E., Malan-Shibley, L., Graziano, S., Amstad, P. and Harris, C.C. (1991) Cooperation of c-*raf*-1 and c-*myc* proto-oncogenes in the neoplastic transformation of simian virus 40 large tumor antigenimmortalized human bronchial epithelial cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86:10075-10079.

Pitot, H.C. (1989) Progression: the terminal stage in carcinogenesis. Jpn. J. Cancer Res. 80: 599-607.

Pitot, H.C., Barsness, L., Goldsworthy, T. and Kitagawa, Y. (1978) Biochemical characterization of stages of hepatocarcinogenesis after a single dose of diethylnitrosamine. Nature 271: 456-458.

Pott, P. (1775) Chirurgical observations relative to the cancer of the scrotum. Reprinted in Natl. Cancer Inst. Monograph 10: 7-13, 1963.

Profrock, A., Zimmermann, P. and Schulz, I. (1992) Bombesin receptors interact with Gi and p21 ras proteins in plasma membrane from rat pancreatic acinar cells. Am. J. Physiol. 263: G240-247.

Purchio, A.F., Erikson, E., Brugge, J.S. and Erikson, R.L. (1978) Identification of a polypeptide encoded by the avian sarcoma virus *src* gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75: 1567-1571.

Qiu, M.S. and green, S.H. (1991) NGF and EGF rapidly activate p21 ras in PC12 cells by distinct, convergent pathways involving tyrosine phosphorylation. Neuron. 7: 937-946.

Rapp, U.R. (1991) Role of Raf-1 serine/threonine protein kinase in growth factor signal transduction. Oncogene 6: 495-500.

Rapp, U.R., Goldsborough, M.D., Mark, G.E., Bonner, T.I., Groffen, J., Reynolds, F.H. Jr. and Stephenson, J. (1983) Structure and biological activity of v-raf, a unique oncogene transduced by a retrovirus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80: 4218-4222.

Rapp, U.R., Bonner, T.I. and Cleveland, J.L. (1986) The *raf* oncogene. In: Retroviruses and Human Pathology. R.C. Gallo, D. Stehelin and O.E. Varnier (eds.), The Human Press, New Jersey, pp. 49-472.

Rassoulzegan, M., Cowie, A., Carr, A., Glaichenhaus, N., Kamen, R. and Cuzin, F. (1982) The role of individual polyoma virus early proteins in oncogenic transformation. Nature 300: 713-718. Rauscher III, F.J., Cohen, D.R., Curran, T., Bos, T.J., Vogt, P.K., Bohmann, D., Tjian, R. and Franza, B.R. Jr. (1988) Fos-associated protein p39 is the product of the *jun* proto-oncogene. Science 240: 1010-1016.

Rauscher III, F.J., Morris, J.F., Tournay, O.E., Cook, D.M. and Curren, T. (1990) Binding of the Wilms' tumor locus zinc finger protein to the EGR-1 consensus sequence. Science 250:1259-1262.

Raycroft, L., Wu, H. and Lozano, G. (1990) Transcriptional activation by wild-type but not transforming mutants of the p53 anti-oncogene. Science 249: 1049-1051.

Reddle, R.R., Ke, Y., Gerwin, B.I., McMenamin, M.G., Lechner, J.F., Su, R.T., Brash, D.E., Park, J.-B., Rhim, J.S. and Harris, C.C. (1988) Transformation of human bronchial epithelial cells by infection with SV40 or adenovirus-12 SV40 hybrid virus, or transfection via strontium phosphate coprecipitation with a plasmid containing SV40 early region genes. Cancer Res. 48: 1904-1909.

Reddy, E.P., Reynolds, R.K., Santos, E. and Barbacid, M. (1982) A point mutation is responsible for the acquisition of transforming properties by the T24 human bladder carcinoma oncogene. Nature 300: 149-152.

Redmond, D.E., Jr. (1761) Tobacco and cancer: the first clinical report, New. Engl. J. Med. 282: 18-23, 1970.

Reeve, A.G., Wio, S.A., Raizis, A.M. and Feinberg, A.P. (1989) Loss of allelic heterozygosity at a second locus on chromosome 11 in sporadic Wilms' tumor cells. Mol. Cell Biol. 9: 1799-1803.

Reinhold, D.S., Schilz, R.J., Kohler, S.K., Maher, V.M. and McCormick, J.J. (1994) Altered expression of multiple growth factor genes in fibrosarcoma-derived and other transformed human fibroblasts in culture. Cancer Res., in press.

Riccardi, V.M. (1981) Von Recklinghausen neurofibromatosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 305: 1617-1627.

Riccardi, V.M., Hittner, H.M., Francke, U., Yunis, J.J., Ledbetter, D. and Borges, W. (1980) The Aniridia-Wilms' association: the critical role of chromosome band 11p13. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet. 2: 131-137.

Riccardi, V.M. and Eichner, J.E. (1986) Neurofibromatosis: phenotype, natural history, and pathogenesis. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Robbin, J.H., Kraemer, K.H., Lutzner, M.A., Festoff, B.W. and Coon, H.G. (1974) Xeroderma pigmentosum: an inherited disease with sun sensitivity, multiple cutaneous neoplasms, and abnormal DNA repair. Ann. Intern. Med. 80: 221-248.

Robbins, P.D., Horowitz, J.M. and Mulligan, R.C. (1990) Negative regulation of human c-fos expression by the retinoblastoma gene product. Nature 346: 668-670.

Rose, E.A., Glaser, T., Jones, C., Smith, C.L., Lewis, W.H., Call, K.M., Minden, M., Champagen, E., Bonetta, L., Yeger, H. and Housman, D.E. (1990) Complete physical map of the WAGR region of 11p13 localizes a candidate Wilms' tumor gene. Cell 60: 495-508.

Rous, P. (1910) A transmissible avian neoplasm: sarcoma of the common foul. J. Exp. Med. 12: 696.

Rous, P. (1911) A sarcoma of the fowl transmissible by an agent separable from the tumor cells. J. Exp. Med. 13: 397-411.

Ruley, H.E. (1983) Adenovirus early region 1A enables viral and cellular transforming genes to transform primary cells in culture. Nature 304: 602-606.

Santos, E., Tronick, S.R., Aaronson, S.A., Pulciani, S. and Barbacid, M. (1982) T24 human bladder carcinoma oncogene is an activated form to the normal human homologue of BALB- and Harvey-*msv* transforming genes. Nature 298: 343-347.

Sargent, L.M., Xu, Y.H., Sattler, G.L., Meisner, L. and Pitot, H.C. (1989) Ploidy and karyotype of hepatocytes isolated from enzyme-altered foci in two different protocols of multistage hepatocarcinogenesis in the rat. Carcinogenesis 10: 387-391.

Sargent, L.M., Sattler, G.L., Roloff, B., Xu, Y.H., Sattler, C.A., Meisner, L. and Pitot, H.C. (1992) Ploidy and specific karyotypic changes during promotion with phenobarbital, 2,5,2',5'-tetrachlorobiphenyl, and/or 3,4,3',4'-tetrachlorobiphenyl in rat liver. Cancer Res. 52: 955-962.

Saris, C.J.M., Kristensen, T., Tack, B.F., Glenney, J.R. and Hunter, T. (1986) The sequence of the cDNA for the protein kinase substrate, p36, reveals a multi-domain protein with internal repeats. Cell 46: 201-212.

Satoh, T., Fantl, W.J., Escobedo, J.A., Williams, L.T. and Kaziro, Y. (1993) Platelet-derived growth factor receptor mediated activation of ras through different pathways in different cell types. Mol. Cell Biol. 13: 3706-3713.

Saxton, P.J., Srivatsan, E.S. and Stanbridge, E.J. (1986) Introduction of human chromosome 11 via microcell transfer controls tumorigenicity expression of HeLa cells. EMBO J. 5: 3461-3466.

Scherer, E., Feringa, A.W. and Emmelot, P. (1983) The putative second stage lesion in rat liver carcinogenesis. Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol. 19: 1313-1317.

Scherer, E. (1989) Neoplastic stages and progression in experimental hepatocarcinogenesis. In: Cancer Growth and Progression: Mechansims of Carcinogenesis. E.K. Weisburger (ed.), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Netherlands, pp. 128-144.

Schimke, R.T. (1984) Gene amplification in cultured animal cells. Cell 37: 705-713.

Schmidt, M.A., Michels, V.V. and Dewald, G.W. (1987) Cases of neurofibromatosis with rearrangement of chromosome 17 involving band 17q11.2. Am. J. Med. Genet. 28: 771-777.

Schwab, M. (1990) Oncogene amplification in neoplastic development and progression of human cancers. Crit. Rev. in Oncog. 2: 35-52.

Schwab, M., Alitalo, K., Klempnauer, K.H., Varmus, H.E., Bishop, J.M., Gilbert, F., Broudeur, G., Golstein, M. and Trent, J. (1983) Amplified DNA with limited homology to myc cellular oncogene is shared by human neuroblastoma cell lines and a neuroblastoma tumor. Nature 305: 245-247.

Schwab, M., Varmus, H.E., Bishop, J.M., Grzeschik, K.H., Naylor, S., Sakaguchi, A., Broudeur, G. and Trent, J. (1984) Chromosome localization in normal human cells and neuroblastomas of a gene related to *c-myc*. Nature 308: 288-291.

Sefton, B.M. and Hunter, T. (1984) Tyrosine protein kinases. In P. Greengard and G. A. Robinson (eds.), Advances in Cyclic Nucleotide and Protein Phosphorylation Research, Vol. 18, Raven Press, New York, pp. 95-126.

Sefton, B.M., Hunter, T., Beemon, K. and Eckhart, W. (1980) Evidence that the phosphorylation of tyrosine is essential for cellular transformation by Rous sarcoma virus. Cell 20: 807-816.

Sengupta, A., Liu, W.K., Yeung, Y.G. Yeung, D.C.Y., Frackelton, A.R. and Stanley, E.R. (1988) Identification and subcellular localization of proteins that are rapidly phosphorylated at tyrosine in response to CSF-1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85: 8062-8066.

Sherr, C.J., Rettenmier, C.W., Sacca, R, Roussel, M.F., Look, A.T. and Sranley, E.R. (1985) The c-fms proto-oncogene product is related to the receptor for the mononuclear phagocyte growth factor, CSF-1. Cell 41: 665-676.

Shibuya, M., Hnanfusa, T., Hanafusa, H. and Stephenson, J.R. (1980) Homology exists among the transforming sequences of avian and feline sarcoma viruses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77: 6536-6540.

Shih, C., Shilo B-Z., Goldfarb, M.P., Dannenberg, A. and Weinberg, R.A. (1979) Passage of phenotypes of chemically transformed cells via transfection of DNA and chromatin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76: 5714-5718.

Shih, T.Y., Papageorge, A.G., Stokes, P.E., Weeks, M.O. and Scolnick, E.M. (1979) Guanine nucleotide-binding and autophosphorylating activities associated with the p21 src protein of Harvey murine sarcoma virus. Nature 287: 686-691.

Shimizu, M., Yokota, J., Mori, N., Shuin, T., Shinoda, M., Trent, M. and Oshimura, M. (1990) Introduction of normal chromosome 3p modulates the tumorigenicity of a human renal cell carcinoma cell line YCR. Oncogene 5: 185-194.

Shimizu, K., Goldfarb, M., Suard, Y., Perucho, M., Li, Y, Kamata, T., Feramisco, J., Stavnezer, E., Fogh, J. and Wigler, M.H. (1983) Three human transforming genes are related to the viral *ras* oncogenes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80: 2112-2116.

Shimizu, K., Nakatsu, Y., Sekisuchi, M., Hokamura, K., Tanaka, K., Terada, M. and Sugimura, T. (1985) Molecular cloning of an activated human oncogene, homologous to v-raf, from primary stomach cancer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82:5641-5645.

Silvennoinen, O., Schindler, C., Schlessinger, J. and Levy, D.E. (1993) Ras-independent growth factor signaling by transcription factor phosphorylation. Science 261: 1736-1739.

Slamon, D.J., Clark, C.M., Wong, S.G., Levin, W.J., Ullrich, A. and McGuire, W.L. (1987) Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2 *neu* oncogene. Science 235: 177-182.

Slamon, D.J., Godolphin, W., Jones, L.A., Holt, J.A., Wong, S.G., Keith, D.E., Levin, W.J., Stuart, S.G., Udove, J., Ullrich, A. and Press, M.F. (1989) Studies of the HER-2/neu proto-oncogene in human breast and ovarian cancer. Science 244: 707-711.

Smith, M.R., DeGudicibus, S.J. and Stacey, D.W. (1986) Requirement for *c*ras proteins during viral oncogene transformation. Nature 320: 540-543.

Squire, J., Gallie, B.L. and Phillips, R.A. (1985) A detailed analysis of chromosomal changes in heritable and non-heritable retinoblastoma. Hum. Genet. 70: 291-301.

Smith, C.A., and Hanawalt, P.C. (1978) Phage T4 endonuclease V stimulates DNA repair replication in isolated nuclei from ultraviolet-irradiated human cells, including xeroderma pigmentosum fibroblasts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75: 2598-2602.

Srivatsan, E.S., Benedict, W.F. and Stanbridge, E.J. (1986) Implication of chromosome 11 in the suppression of neoplastic expression in human cell hybrids. Cancer Res. 46: 6174-6179.

Stanton, V.P. Jr. and Cooper, G.M. (1987) Activation of human raf transforming genes by deletion of normal amino-terminal coding sequences. Mol. Cell Biol. 7: 1171-1179.

Stehelin, D., Varmus, H.E., Bishop, J.M. and Vogt, P.K. (1976) DNA related to the transforming gene of avian sarcoma virus is present in normal avian DNA. Nature 260: 170-173.

Stumpf, D.A., Alkane, J.F., Annegers, J.F., Brown, S.S., Conneally, P.M., Housman, D., Leppert, M., Miller, J.P., Moss, M.L., Pileggi, A.J., Rapin, I., Strohman, R.C., Swanson, L.W. and Zimmerman, A. (1987) Neurofibromatosis. Arch. Neuro. 45: 575-578.

Sugarbaker, J.P., Gunderson, L.L. and Wittes, R.E. (1985) Colorectal cancer. In: Principles and Practice of Oncology. V.T. DeVita, S. Hellman and S.A. Resenberg (eds.), J.B. Lippincott Company, Phildelphia, PA, pp. 800-803.

Szeberenyi, J., Erhardt, P., Cai, H. and Cooper, G.M. (1992) Role of ras in signal transduction from the nerve growth factor receptor; relationship to protein kinase C, calcium and cyclic AMP. Oncogene 7: 2105-2113.

Tabin, C.J., Bradley, S.M., Bargmann, C.I., Weinberg, R.A., Papageorge, A.G., Scolnick, E.M., Dhar, R., Lowy, D.R. and Chang, E.H. (1982) Mechanism of activation of a human oncogene. Nature 311: 273-275.

Taira, M., Yoshida, T., Miyagawa, K., Sakamoto, H., Terada, M. and Sugimura, T. (1987) cDNA sequence of human transforming gene *hst* and identification of the coding sequence required for transforming activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84: 2980-2984.

Tamura, T., Simon, E., Niemann, H., Snoek, G.T. and Bauer, H. (1986) $Gp140^{v-fms}$ molecules expressed at the surface of cells transformed by McDonough strain of feline sarcoma virus are phosphorylated in tyrosine and serine. Mol. Cell Biol. 6: 4745-4748.

Taparowsky, E., Suard, Y., Fasano, O., Shimizu, K., Goldfarb, M. and Wigler, M. (1982) Activation of T24 bladder carcinoma transforming gene is linked to a single amino acid change. Nature 300: 762-765.

Thomassen, D.G., Gilmer, T.M., Annab, L.A. and Barrett, J.C. (1985) Evidence for multiple steps in neoplastic transformation of normal and preneoplastic Syrian hamster embryo cells following transfection of Harvey murine sarcoma virus oncogene (v-Ha-ras). Cancer Res. 45: 725-732.

Tomatis, L., Aitio, A., Wilbourn, J. and Shuker, L. (1989) Human carcinogens so far identified. Jpn. J. Cancer Res. 80: 795-807.

Treisman, R., Novak, U. and Favaloro, J. (1981) Transformation of rat cells by an altered polyoma virus genome expressing only the middle-T protein. Nature 292: 595-600.

Trent, J.M., Stanbridge, E.J., McBride, H.L., Meese, E.U., Casey, G., Araujo, D.E., Mitkowski, C.M. and Nagle, R.B. (1990) Tumorigenicity in human melanoma cell lines controlled by introduction of human chromosome 6. Science 247: 568-571. Valius, M. and Kazlauskas, A. (1993) Phospholipase C-gamma 1 and phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase are the downstream mediators of the PDGF receptor's signal. Cell 73: 321-334.

van den Elson, P.J., Houwelling, A. and van der Eb, A.J. (1983) Expression of region *E1B* of human adenovirus in the absence of region of *E1A* is not sufficient for transformation. Virology 128: 377-342.

Varmus, H.E. (1984) The molecular genetics of cellular oncogenes. Annu. Rev. Genet. 18: 553-612.

Viskochil, D., Buchberg, A., Xu, G., Cawthon, R., Stevents, J., Wolff, R., Culver, M., Carey, J., Copeland, N., Jenkins, N., White, R. and O'Connell, P. (1990) Deletions and a translocation interrupt a cloned gene at the neurofibromatosis type 1 locus. Cell 62: 187-192.

-

Vogel, W. (1979) The genetics of retinoblastoma. Hum. Genet. 52: 1-54.

Vogelstein, B., Fearon, E.R., Hamilton, S.R., Kern, S.E., Preisinger, A.C., Leppert, M., Nakumura, Y., White, R., Smits, A.M.M. and Bos, J.L. (1988) Genetic alterations during colorectal-tumor development. New. Engl. J. Med. 319: 525-532.

Vogelstein, B., Fearon, E.R., Kern, S.E., Hamilton, S.R., Preisinger, Nakumura, Y. and White, R. (1989) Allelotype of colorectal carcinomas. Science, 244: 2070-211.

Vogt, P.K. (1971) Spontaneous segregation of non-transforming viruses from cloned sarcoma viruses. Virology 46: 939-946.

Vogt, P.K. and Bos, T.J. (1990) Oncogene and transcription factor. Adv. Cancer Res. 55: 1-35.

Vogt, P.K., Bos, T.J. and Doolittle, R.F. (1987) Homology between the DNAbinding domain of the GCN4 regulatory protein of yeast and the carboxylterminal region of a protein coded for by the oncogene *jun.* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84: 3316-3319.

Wagner, B.J., Hayes, T.E., Hoban, C.J. and Cochran, B.H. (1990) The SIF binding element confers sis/PDGF inducibility onto the c-fos promoter. EMBO J. 9: 4477-4484.

Wallace, M., Marchuk, D., Anderson, L., Letcher, R., Odeh, H., Saulino, A., Fountain, J., Brereton, A., Nicholson, J., Mitchell, A., Brownstein, B. and Collins, F. (1990) Type 1 neurofibromatosis gene:identification of a large transcript disrupted in three NF1 patients. Science 249: 181-186.

Watt, R., Stanton, L.W., Marcu, K.B., Gallo, R.C., Croce, C.M. and Rovera, G. (1983) Nucleotide sequence of cloned cDNA of human c-myc oncogene. Nature 303: 725-728.

Weber, M.J. (1984) Malignant transformation by Rous sarcoma virus: from phosphorylation to phenotype. In: Advanced Viral Oncology. G. Klein (ed.) Raven Press, New York, pp. 249-268.

Weinberg, R.A. (1982) Fewer and fewer oncogenes. Cell 30: 3-4.

Weinberg, R.A. (1985) The action of oncogenes in the cytoplasm and nucleus. Science 230: 770-776.

Westermark, B. and Heldin, C.-H. (1991) Platelet-derived growth factor in autocrine transformation. Cancer Res. 51: 5087-5092.

Whitman, M. and Cantley, L. (1988) Phosphoinositide metabolism and the control of cell proliferation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 948: 327-344.

Whyte, P., Buchkovich, K.J., Horowitz, J.M., Friend, S.H., Raybuck, M., Weinberg, R.A. and Harlow, E. (1988) Association between an oncogene and an anti-oncogene: the adenovirus E1A proteins bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. Nature 334: 124-129.

Whyte, P., Willianson, N.M. and Harlow, E. (1989) Cellular targets for transformation by the adenovirus E1A proteins. Cell 56: 67-75.

Willingham, M.C., Pasten, I., Shih, T.Y. and Scolnick, E.M. (1980) Localization of the *src* gene product of the Harvey strain of MSV to the plasma membrane of transformed cells by electron microscopy. Cell 19: 1005-1014.

Wilson, D.M., Yang, D., Dillberger, J.E., Dietrich, S.E., Maher, V.M. and McCormick, J.J. (1990) Malignant transformation of human fibroblasts by a transfected N-ras oncogene. Cancer Res. 50: 5587-5593.

Woolford, J., Rothwell, V. and Rohrschneider, L.R. (1985) Characterization of the human c-fms gene product and its expression in cells of the monocyte-macrophage lineage. Mol. Cell Biol. 5: 3458-3466.

Wu, S., Storer, B.S., Bookland, E.A., Klingelhutz, A.J., Gilchrist, K.W., Meisner, L.F., Oyasu, R. and Reznikoff, C.A. (1991) Nonrandom chromosome losses in stepwise neoplastic transformation *in vitro* of human uroepithelial cells. Cancer Res. 51: 3323-3326.

Xu, G., O'Connell, P., Viskochil, D., Cawthon, R., Robertson, M., Culver, M., Dunn, D., Stevents, J., Gesteland, R., White, R. and Weiss, R. (1990) The neurofibromatosis type 1 gene encodes a protein related to GAP. Cell 62: 599-608.

Yarden, Y. and Ullrich, A. (1988) Growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 57: 443-448.

Yonish-Rouach, E., Resnitzky, D., Lotem, J., Sachs, L., Kimchi, A. and Oren, M. (1991) Wild-type *p53* induces apoptosis of myeloid leukemic cells that is inhibited by interleukin-6. Nature 352: 345-347.

Yonish-Rouach, E., Grunwald, D., Wilder, S., Kimchi, A., May, E., Lawrence, E.E., May, P. and Oren, M. (1993) *p53*-mediated cell death: relationship to cell cycle control. Mol. Cell Biol. 13: 1415-1423.

Zhou, D.J., Casey, G. and Cline, M.J. (1988) Amplification of human *int-2* in breast cancers and squamous carcinomas. Oncogene 2: 279-282.

Zimmerman, K.A., Yancopoulos, G.D., Collum, R.G., Smith, R.K., Kohl, N.E., Denis, K.A., Nau, M.M., Witte, O.N., Toran-Allerand, D., Gee, C.E., Minna, J.D. and Alt, F.W. (1986) Differential expression of *myc* family genes during murine development. Nature 319: 780-783.

CHAPTER II

Malignant Transformation of a Human Fibroblast Cell Strain by Transfection of a v-fes Oncogene, But Not a gag-Human c-fes Construct

Chiencheng Lin, Qingping Wang, Veronica M. Maher, and J. Justin McCormick

Carcinogenesis Laboratory - Fee Hall Department of Microbiology and Department of Biochemsitry Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824-1316

ABSTRACT

To determine whether the human c-fes gene, a homolog of the feline vfes oncogene, can play a role in the malignant transformation of human fibroblasts, we transfected a near-diploid, infinite life-span, growth factor independent, human fibroblast cell strain, MSU-1.2, with plasmids carrying a fes gene along with a selectable marker. The fes gene was either the v-fes oncogene from the Gardner-Arnstein strain of feline sarcoma virus or a chimeric construct in which 835 base pairs representing exons 10-19 from the human c-fes proto-oncogene had been substituted for the corresponding feline sequence in the v-fes oncogene. The transfected cells were selected in appropriate medium, and a number of drug-resistant clones were isolated and the progeny cells were assayed for fes expression by immunoprecipitation analysis. Six independent clones that expressed the v-fes protein and four that expressed the gag-c-fes protein were further characterized. The former exhibited anchorage-independence and formed progressively growing, invasive, spindle cell sarcomas in athymic mice after only a short latency period. The latter strains were not anchorageindependent and did not form tumors in athymic mice. These results show that the v-fes oncogene can malignantly transform an infinite life-span human fibroblast cell strain, but the human c-fes gene cannot.

INTRODUCTION

It is now well documented that carcinogenesis is a multistep process and that genetic changes lie at the heart of this process. It appears that there are a limited number of genes, which normally function in cell division and/or cell differentiation, that contribute to the neoplastic phenotype when altered in either function or expression. These normal cellular genes, or proto-oncogenes, become transforming cellular oncogenes because of point mutations, deletions, amplification or rearrangement of DNA. The methods available to identify the cellular proto-oncogenes are tedious and subject to failure. However, the acutely transforming retroviruses provide a natural source of mobilized oncogenes that can be recognized by their ability to cause cell transformation. The cellular counterparts (proto-oncogenes) of at least nine of the retroviral oncogenes (v-ab1, v-erbB, v-ets, v-mos, v-myb, v-myc, v-H-ras, v-K-ras, and v-sis) have been found to be involved in human tumorigenesis [1-9]. Therefore, the retroviral oncogenes can be useful models in analyzing the mechanisms of neoplastic growth.

The v-fes oncogene was identified as a transforming gene of the Gardner-Arnstein feline sarcoma virus (FeSV) [10]. The identical gene was found in three independent isolates of feline sarcoma viruses. In addition, the v-fps oncogene, identified in five independent isolates of avian sarcoma viruses [11], was found to be a cognate gene of fes in avian species. The c-fes/fps gene is highly conserved in mammals as well as in vertebrates. For example, the overall homology between the feline and the human c-fes coding sequences is 94% at the amino acid level and 91% at the

DNA level [12]. The fes/fps oncogene encodes a cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase whose enzymatic activity is essential for both tumor induction in animals and transformation of mammalian cells in culture [13-16]. In cats [10], dogs [17], and chickens [18], the fes/fps-containing retroviruses principally induce fibrosarcomas and myxosarcomas. It is possible, therefore, that tumors in human mesenchymal tissues contain an activated c-fes gene that contributes to the malignant transformation of such cells. Consistent with this suggestion is the finding that transgenic mice that express the v-fps oncogene product exhibit a high frequency of tumors of mesenchymal tissues [19]. It is this question that led to the present study.

The fes gene in the Gardner Arnstein strain of FeSV lacks exons 5-9 of the feline c-fes gene and in addition contains three amino acids that do not correspond to those of the c-fes gene. What is more, a truncated viral gag sequence is linked to the amino terminal of the feline c-fes gene in the v-fes oncogene. Any one or a combination of these three structural changes could be responsible for the activation of the c-fes sequence. These possibilities have been studied by constructing various chimeric constructs and testing them for their ability to transform cells in culture. For example, Hanafusa and his coworkers [20] and Haseltine and his colleagues [21] showed that simple over-expression of the human c-fes proto-oncogene is not sufficient to cause transformation of NIH3T3 cells, whereas its fusion with FeSV gag gene produces a hybrid protein that is active as a kinase and can transform NIH3T3 cells. Their work indicates that the gag fusion is essential to confer transforming ability in the cfes gene. In contrast, Foster and Hanafusa [22] presented data indicating that fusion with gag was not the essential change for transformation. They

showed that an avian v-fps oncogene that lacks the viral gag sequence was active in transforming chicken fibroblasts. However, the avian c-fps proto-oncogene in the same construct was not active, indicating that the avian c-fps sequence requires more than mere over-expression to become an oncogene. The v-fps oncogene in the construct differs from the avian c-fes gene in the same construct by 43 base substitutions [23]. This suggests that one or more of these mutations were involved in the activation of the c-fes.

Transfection studies have proven especially useful in analyzing the mechanisms of carcinogenesis, since by this technique, one can identify oncogenes and determine what transformed phenotypes they confer. The most common activity of oncogenes is the phosphorylation of protein on tyrosine residues. Two types of protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) has been reported: the receptor PTKs and non-receptor PTKs. The involvement of some of the receptor PTKs. e.g., *neu* and v-*erb*B. in human cell carcinogenesis is well documented, but the role of the non-receptor PTKs. e.g., src and fes/fps. in this process remains less clear. To determine if v-fes or a gag-c-fes construct can cause malignant transformation of human fibroblasts and to see if this action is correlated with the PTK activity of the fes protein, we transfected these genes into an infinite life span fibroblast strain, MSU-1.2., a member of the MSU-1 lineage developed in this laboratory. The results showed that expression of the v-fes oncogene, but not the gag-cfes construct caused MSU-1.2 cells to form very large colonies in agarose and form high grade, malignant sarcomas in athymic mice, and that this difference reflected a large difference in the PTK activity of the two gene products.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Cell Strain and Culture Conditions

The MSU-1.2 cell strain, derived from MSU-1.1 cells [24], has an infinite life span in culture and a stable, near-diploid karyotype, composed of 45 chromosomes including two marker chromosomes. The cells were routinely cultured in Eagle's minimal essential medium supplemented with aspartic acid, serine and pyruvic acid as described (growth medium) [25]. They were maintained at 37° C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂. For selection of cells for histidinol resistance, we used McM medium [26], a modified version of MCDB-110 [27], lacking histidine and supplemented with 1 mM L-histidinol dihydrochloride (Sigma, ST. Louis, MO), 10% supplemented calf serum (Sterile Systems, Logan, UT), hydrocortisone (10 μ g/ml), penicillin and streptomycin. The condition for selection of cells for studies of anchorage independence, McM medium supplemented with 2% fetal calf serum was used.

Transfection Procedure

Approximately 2x 10^5 cells were seeded per 100 mm dish the day before transfection. After 16-24 h, 2 μ g of plasmid DNA was transfected into the cells using the Polybrene/ DMSO method adapted for use with human cells by Morgan et al [29]. Twenty hours after transfection, the growth medium was replaced with the appropriate selection medium. The selective medium was refreshed twice weekly and the cells were observed for formation of drug-resistant clones.

85

Immunoprecipitation Analysis of Fes Gene Product

To assay the amount of fes expression in transfected cells. we followed the procedure described by Hurlin et al [30] with the following modifications. Ten μ l of radioactive cell lysate was precipitated in 10% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) and counted in a scintillation counter. The volume of supernatant containing 10⁸ cpm of TCA-precipitable counts was incubated for 4 h at 4°C on a shaker with 10 μ] alignot of antibody v-fes (Ab-1) (Clone F-113, Oncogene Science, Manhasset, NY), which reacts with the fes specific domain common to the Gardner-Arnstein and Snyder-Theilen FeSV translational products. Protein A-Agarose was coated with goat antirat IgM and 50 μ l was added to the incubation mixture and allowed to react for 30 min at 4°C. The samples were centrifuged and the pellets were washed as previously described [30]. The pellets were resuspended in 50 μ l of 1x polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) sample buffer. heated for 5 min at 90°C, and centrifuged. Gel electrophoresis was performed using 8% polyacrylamide gels and a Tris-glycine buffer system [31]. The samples were loaded using 20 μ l per lane. After electrophoresis the gels were soaked in Resolution solution (EM Corp., Chestnut Hill, MA) for 30 min and in distilled water at 0° C for 30 min and then dried and analyzed by autoradiography.

Protein Kinase Assay

Cells were grown in 60 mm culture plates as described. They were washed twice with ice-cold phosphate buffered saline, and the culture plates were placed immediately on ice. All subsequent operations were carried out at 4°C unless otherwise noted. Cells in each plate were lysed in 1 ml of modified RIPA buffer [0.05 M Tris-HCl (pH 7.4); 0.15 M NaCl; 1% Triton X-100; 0.5% sodium deoxycholate; 0.1% sodium dodecylsulfate; 2 mM EDTA] containing 9 μ g/ml aprotinin (Sigma, St Louis, MO), 2 mM phenylmethyl sulfonyl floride (Boehring, Indianapolis, IN) and 1 mM sodium orthovanadate. The cell lysate from each plate was scraped with a rubber policeman and transferred into a 10 ml polycarbonate tube (Nalgene, Rochester, NY). After the cell lysate was vortexed vigorously for 20 sec, it was centrifuged at 35K rpm for 35 min. The resulting clarified supernatant was then assayed for protein kinase activity.

Aliguots of cell lysate containing 50 μ g protein were incubated with 15 μ l Protein A-Agarose coated with goat anti-FeLV p15 (Quality Biotech, Camden, NJ) and allowed to react for 2 h at $4^{\circ}C$. The samples were centrifuged and the pellets were washed 5 times with modified RIPA buffer. and twice with 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4). The pellets were then resuspended in 40 μ l of kinase reaction buffer (10% glycerol, 50 mM Hepes, 10 mM MnCl,); 20 μ l of each suspension was assayed for protein kinase activity and 20 μ l was subjected to Western blot analysis to determine the amount of protein precipitated in each tube. For the protein kinase assay, 20 μ g dephosphorylated α -casein (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) and 1 μ l [P³²]- γ -ATP (6,000 Ci/mmole) (Dupont, Wilmington, DE) was added to the suspension. The contents of the tube were mixed gently and incubated in 30°C water bath for 15 min. The reaction was stopped by the addition of 20 μ l 2X PAGE sample buffer. The sample was then subjected to gel electrophoresis as described [31], with 20 μ l of sample loaded per lane. After electrophoresis the gels were dried and analyzed by autoradiography.

Western Blot Analysis

Protein in the other 20 μ l of the suspension was electrophoresed in an 8% sodium dodecylsulfate/ polyacrylamide gel and transferred onto Immobilon PVDF transfer membranes (Millipore, Bedford, MA). To assay the

amount of fes protein in the suspension, we followed the procedure described by Yang et al [28], using goat-anti-FeLV p15 as the primary antibody and horseradish peroxidase-conjugated rabbit-anti-goat antibody as the secondary antibody.

Southern Blot Analysis

The presence of the v-fes gene was determined using the Southern blot procedure described by Wilson et al [31]. An 8-kb EcoRI fragment of pGAFhisD plasmid containing the v-fes gene was used as the probe.

Assay for Anchorage Independence

To assay the ability of cells to form colonies in 0.33% agarose, we followed the procedures described by Hurlin et al [25]. The agar plates were kept in incubator with 3% CO₂.

Assay for Tumorigenicity

Athymic nude mice (BALB/c background) originally purchased from Harlan Sprague Dawley (Indianapolis, IN) were bred and maintained in a high efficiency particulate air (HEPA)-filtered laminar flow hood containment system. Absorbable gelatin sponges (Upjohn Co., Kalamazoo, MI) 1 cm³ in size were implanted subcutaneously in the subcapular region and/or rear flank region of 6-week-old mice to serve as a matrix. One week later, 10^7 cells in 0.2 ml of serum-free medium were injected directly into the sponge. Mice were examined weekly for tumor growth and tumors were removed when they reached approximately 1 cm in diameter.

Histopathology

Tumor tissue for histopathology was fixed in 10% phosphate buffered formalin, pH 7.0, embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 4-5 μ m, and stained with hematoxylin-eosin using standard technique [32].

RESULTS

Choice of the Target Cell Strain

An infinite life span human fibroblast cell strain arose following transfection of a v-myc oncogene into finite life span human foreskinderived fibroblasts [24]. This strain, designated MSU-1.0, is diploid, has a stable karyotype, does not form colonies in agarose, does not grow in medium without exogenous growth factors, and does not form tumors in athymic mice. A variant strain of MSU-1.0 arose spontaneously. This strain, designated MSU-1.1, has two marker chromosomes and is able to grow in medium without exogenous growth factors as rapidly as normal fibroblasts do in medium with 5% serum. MSU-1.1 cells are not tumorigenic, but can be transformed to malignancy by high expression of N- or H-ras oncogenes [30,31]. A spontaneous variant of MSU-1.1 cells was selected by its ability to grow in medium without exogenous growth factors. This strain, designated MSU-1.2, grows in medium without exogenous growth factors as rapidly as normal fibroblasts do in medium with 10% serum, a characteristic of malignant human fibroblasts. However, it does not form large colonies in agarose and is not tumorigenic. In contrast, malignant human fibroblasts have both characteristics [30,31,33]. It has been reported that expression of the v-fes oncogene confers upon NIH3T3 cells the ability to form large colonies in agarose, and such cells are tumorigenic. We, therefore, chose MSU-1.2 cells as the recipient strain for testing the ability of v-fes or a gag-c-fes construct to transform human fibroblasts to anchorage independence and to the malignant state.

Construction of pGAFhisD Plasmid

Plasmid pGAFeSV containing the complete proviral sequence of the Gardner-Arnstein feline sarcoma virus was kindly provided by Dr. Charles Sherr, Howard Hughes Medical Institute, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, TN [34]. To allow selection of transfectants, we inserted a Salmonella typhimurium histidinol dehydrogenase (hisD) gene [35] at the *Eco*RI site of this plasmid. The altered plasmid was named pGAFhisD and used in our study.

Transfection of MSU-1.2 Cells by v-Fes Oncogene

MSU-1.2 cells were transfected with pGAF*hisD* plasmid DNA, and cells containing the stably-integrated plasmid DNA were selected by their ability to grow in medium containing histidinol but lacking histidine. Histidinol-resistant clones were isolated approximately 3 wk after transfection by dislodging them from the dishes using trypsin, and transferring them into separate $25-cm^2$ flasks. Thirty histidinol-resistant clones were isolated and propagated. The progeny cells were assayed for v*fes* expression by immunoprecipitation analysis as described, using a fesspecific monoclonal antibody. Six clones out of the 30 were found to express the 110 kDa v-fes protein at detectable levels (Figure 1, Lanes 1-6).

Characterization of the Six v-fes Transfectants

Southern blot analysis of the location of the v-fes gene in the genomic DNA of the progeny of the individual clones was carried out using v-fes specific DNA probe to determine if the sites of integration differed. The results showed that each of these six clones represented an independent transfection (Figure 2). These six independent cell strains were then further characterized. The v-fes-transformed cells from each of



Figure 1. Relative expression of *fes*-encoded p110 in six MSU-1.2-v-*fes*transformed cell strains (lanes 1-6) and four MSU-1.2-*gag*-*cfes*-transformed cells (lanes 7-10). Cells were labeled with [³⁵S]-methionine for 18 h in medium lacking methionine. Cell lysis, immunoprecipitation with a fes specific antibody, electrophoresis and fluorography were performed as described in Material and Methods. Lane C, MSU-1.2 cells transfected with the control plasmid containing the bacterial *his*D gene.



Figure 2. Southern blot analysis of DNA from six MSU-1.2-v-festransformed cell strains and tumor-derived cells. Genomic DNA was digested with BamHI restriction enzyme and hybridized with the 8-kb EcoRI fragment of the v-fes oncogene from plasmid pGAFhisD. Lane C, MSU-1.2 cells transfected with the control plasmid; Lanes 1-6, MSU-1.2:fes1-6 cell strains respectively; Lanes T3 and T6, cells derived from tumors formed by cell strain MSU-1.2:fes3 and MSU-1.2:fes6 respectively; Lane P, 10 pg linearized pGAFhisD. Sizes of DNA molecular weight standards are indicated.
the six cell strains were slightly more refractile than their parental MSU-1.2 cells, but retained the fibroblastic morphology of the parental cells. The six strains were assayed for anchorage-independence, along with their parental MSU-1.2 and MSU-1.1 strains. These strains formed colonies larger than 100 μ m in diameter at frequencies ranging from 4% to 56% (Table 1); the non-transformed parental MSU-1.2 cells did not form any such colonies (Figure 3). The frequency of anchorage independent colonies formation by the six strains correlated well with their levels of v-fes expression (Table 1).

Evidence of Malignant Transformation by v-fes

Cells from the six v-fes-transformed cell strains were injected into athymic mice to determine if they could form tumors. All six cell strains gave rise to tumors after a latency period of 7-60 days. The shortest latency was found with the cell strain that showed the highest v-fes expression (Table 1), but the rate of their growth for the other five strains was not highly correlated with v-fes expression. All tumors were composed primarily of a monomorphic population of spindle-shaped cells arranged in interdigitating fascicles and bundles (Figure 4). Based on the histological pattern, the tumors were classified as high grade, malignant spindle cell sarcomas.

Portions of several tumors arising from two of the v-fes-transformed strains were minced and the cells were returned to culture. All gave rise to histidinol-resistant populations of fibroblasts. Southern blot analysis of DNA from these tumor-derived cells showed identical size bands corresponding to v-fes, indicating that the tumors arose directly from the injected v-fes-transformed cells (Figure 2, Lane T3 and T6). When the tumor-derived cells were injected s.c. into mice, they produced tumors



Figure 3. Representative example of growth of MSU-1.2-v-fes-transformed cell strains in 0.33 % agarose. (a) MSU-1.2 cells, forming only a background of small colonies in 3 wk. (b) MSU-1.2:fes1 cells, forming large-sized colonies, 100-300 μ m in diameter in 3 weeks. (Bar= 100 μ m)

a

Relativeagar coloniesTumorv-feswith diameterinjecv-feswith diameterinjecfell strainsexpression*>100 µmSU-1.10< 0.01 %0/12MSU-1.20< 0.01 %0/12MSU-1.2:fes11654 %4/4MSU-1.2:fes2156 %4/4MSU-1.2:fes3856 %2/4*MSU-1.2:fes4215 %2/4*			Frequency of	Tumorigenic	ity assay
Cell strains expression* >100 µm sites MSU-1.1 0 < 0.01 % 0/12 MSU-1.2 0 < 0.01 % 0/12 MSU-1.2 0 < 0.01 % 0/12 MSU-1.2 0 < 0.01 % 0/12 MSU-1.2:fes1 16 54 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes2 1 56 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes3 8 56 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes4 2 15 % 2/4*		Relative v-fec	agar colonies with diamotor	Tumors/ intection	Latency
MSU-1.1 0 < 0.01 % 0/12 MSU-1.2 0 < 0.01 % 0/12 MSU-1.2 0 < 0.01 % 0/12 MSU-1.2 16 54 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes2 1 4 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes3 8 56 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes4 2 15 % 2/4%	Cell strains	express ton [*]	2100 Jum	sitest	(days) ¹
MSU-1.2 0 < 0.01 %	MSU-1.1	0	< 0.01 %	0/12	1
MSU-1.2:fes1 16 54 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes2 1 4 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes3 8 56 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes3 8 56 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes4 2 15 % 2/4 ⁶ MSU-1.2:fes4 2 9 % 2/4 ⁶	MSU-1.2	0	< 0.01 %	0/12	ı
MSU-1.2:fes2 1 4 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes3 8 56 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes4 2 15 % 2/4 ⁸ MSU-1.2:fes4 5 8 2/4 ⁸	MSU-1.2:fes1	16	54 %	4/4	5-9
MSU-1.2:fes3 8 56 % 4/4 MSU-1.2:fes4 2 2 15 % 2/4 ⁶ MSU-1.2:fes6 5 8 2/4 ⁶	MSU-1.2:fes2	1	4 %	4/4	15-24
MSU-1.2:fesd 2 15 % 2/4 ⁵ MSU-1.2:fesd 5 2/4 ⁵	MSU-1.2:fes3	æ	56 %	4/4	16-24
	MSU-1.2:fes4	2	15 %	2/4 ⁵	61-70
	MSU-1.2:fes5	5	8 %	2/4 ⁵	50-55
MSU-1.2:fes6 3 15 % 4/4	MSU-1.2:fes6	ſ	15 %	4/4	26-39

Table 1. Relative v-Fes Expression, Anchorage Independence, and Tumorigenicity of the Six MSU-1.2-v-fes-Transformed Cell Strains

scintillation counting. The cpm counts in the MSU-1.2:fes2 were arbitrarily scored Bands corresponding to the v-fes signal on the blot were cut out and assayed by as 1 and the other cell strains were scored relative to it.

 $^{^{\}dagger}$ Each mouse was injected at two sites, i.e., a subscapular region and in the opposite flank.

 $^{^{\}star}$ Days required for a tumor to reach 1 cm in diameter.

⁴ Both mice were sacrificed when the tumors in the subscapular regions reached 1 cm in diameter. At that time, tumors were not apparent in the flanks, but they might have developed if we had waited to sacrifice the animals.



Figure 4. Representative histology showing a poorly differentiated, spindle cell sarcoma formed by MSU-1.2:fes3 cells. (a) 40X magnification. (b) 100X magnification. A 2-cm diameter tumor, removed 4 wk after subcutaneous injection of 10⁷ cells, was sectioned and stained with hematoxylin/eosin. identical to those from which they were derived, but with a shorter latency period.

Transfection of MSU-1.2 Cells with a gag-c-fes Construct

Plasmid pRecKpn which contains a gag-c-fes gene and a bacterial gpt gene was kindly provided by Dr. William Haseltine at Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA [21]. The gag-c-fes gene was constructed by recombining the N-terminal of the GA-FeSV v-fes sequence and the C-terminal of the human c-fes sequence at the conserved KpnI site. MSU-1.2 cells were transfected with pRecKpn plasmid DNA and selected in medium containing mycophenolic acid. Mycophenolic acid-resistant clones were isolated approximately 3 wk after transfection by transferring them into separate 25-cm² flasks, using trypsinization as described. Forty mycophenolic acid-resistant clones were isolated and the progeny cells were assayed for c-fes expression by immunoprecipitation analysis using a fes- specific monoclonal antibody. Four clones out of the 40, each isolated from separate dishes, were found to express the gag-c-fes protein (Figure 1, Lanes 7-10). The fusion protein product of the gag-c-fes construct is the same size as the product of the v-fes gene.

Characterization of the Four gag-c-fes **Transfectants**

The gag-c-fes-transformed MSU-1.2 cells from each of the four strains exhibited an fibroblastic morphology identical to the non-transfected parental MSU-1.2 strain. None of these strains exhibited the ability to form large-sized colonies in agarose, and none formed tumors when injected into athymic mice. Thus, the four gag-c-fes-expressing strains were phenotypically similar to their parental cells, suggesting that the human c-fes/fps gene cannot be activated into an oncogene by mere overexpression and fusion with a viral gag sequence.

Comparison of the Tyrosine Kinase Activity

One possible explanation for the inability of the gag-c-fes-expressing cells to become malignant is that the gag-c-fes construct encodes a protein that has no tyrosine kinase activity or has reduced activity compared to the v-fes protein. We, therefore, compared the tyrosine kinase activity of proteins encoded by both plasmids. The results showed that the level of ability of the gag-c-fes protein to autophosphorylate was 54-fold lower than that of the v-fes protein. Its ability to phosphorylate an exogenous substrate, α -casein, was 5-fold lower.

Assaying of c-fes Protein Expression in Human Mesenchymal Tumors

The c-fes proto-oncogene is not expressed in normal mesenchymal tissue [36,37]. However, our data indicate that expression of v-fes protein can contribute to the malignant transformation of human fibroblasts in culture. It is at least possible that some mesenchymal tumors have developed as the result of activation and expression of c-fes. To test this hypothesis, we assayed 11 cell lines derived from human mesenchymal tumors for expression of the c-fes protein using immunoprecipitation. Fifteen malignant cell strains derived from MSU-1.1 cells spontaneously or by carcinogen treatment were similarly assayed. To assure that our assay conditions were adequate to detect the c-fes protein, a rodent cell strain that expresses protein from a transfected human c-fes gene [38] was included with each assay as a positive control. The latter cell strain always exhibited a strong band on the gels, but c-fes protein was not detected in any of the 26 cell lines/ strains assayed (data not shown).



Figure 5. Protein kinase activity in immunoprecipitates containing pll0. Unlabelled cell extracts prepared from v-fes (lanes 5-9) or gag-c-fes (lanes 1-4) transformed MSU-1.2 cells were immunoprecipitated with anti-FeLV pl5 antibody, assayed for protein kinase activity (upper panel) or the amount of protein precipitated (lower panel). The "+" or "-" symbols indicates the presence or absence of an artificial substrate, α -casein. Lane C, MSU-1.2 cells transfected with control plasmid; lane N, cell lysate from lane 8 was precipitated with a nonspecific goat antiserum first, material remaining unprecipitated was subsequently reacted with a gag-specific antibody as described. Table 2. Human Cell Lines/ Strains Studied for c-fes Expression

Cell line or strain	Cell type - origin
HT1080, SHAC, NCI,	Fibrosarcoma-derived cell lines*
8387, VIP-FT	
WSU-11	Fibrosarcoma-derived cell lines [†]
WSU-1	Malignant fibrous histiocytoma- derived cell line [†]
WSU-4, WSU-10	Neurofibrosarcoma-derived cell lines [†]
WSU-8, WSU-9	Desmoid tumor-derived cell lines [†]
CSV0.20	BPDE-transformed MSU-1.2 cell strain*
DY6.16 2C1, DY6.16 3C1, DY6.16 3C10, DY6.16 4C5.	BPDE-transformed MSU-1.1 cell strains ⁴
SD53.2AC4, 2+F/T, CS77F.2AC4	ENU-transformed MSU-1.1 cell strains [‡]
L55I-3T	MNNG-transformed MSU-1.1 cell strain [*]
L203.3B1, L203.4B2 L45I-B5T, L46I-5T, L46I-7T, L48I-1T	Co ⁶⁰ -transformed MSU-1.1 cell strains [‡] Spontaneous malignantly transformed MSU-1.1 cell strains [‡]

* These cell lines were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection, Rockville, MD.

- * These cell lines were generated in this laboratory from fresh human tumors. The cells were introduced into culture, propagated and characterized by Jeremy Wray, a gradulate student of J. Justin McCormick.
- * Justin J. McCormick, unpublished studies.
- ^{*} These cell strains were provided by Dr. Dajun Yang [43].

DISCUSSION

We conclude that the v-fes oncogene can play a role in causing human cells to become malignant, because the six cell strains that expressed the transfected gene produced spindle cells sarcomas after a very short latency period. This is the first such report using human cells. Our results are consistent with the multistep nature of the transformation process because the human cell strain we used, MSU-1.2, has already acquired an infinite life span in culture and full growth factor independence. Haseltine and his colleagues [21] have shown that v-fes can also malignantly transform NIH3T3 cells, a line that is immortal and has acquired some of the changes characteristic of malignant cells since it responds so readily to transfection of *ras* oncogenes.

Our results with the c-fes gene indicate that over-expression and gag fusion is not enough to convert the c-fes proto-oncogene into an oncogene. Even though our data showed that c-fes protein was expressed at a high level in four cell strains, they did not produce tumors. Haseltine and his colleagues [21] showed that c-fes, in the same construct we used, was capable of transforming NIH3T3 cells into malignant cells. This difference very probably reflects the difference in the target cells used for transfection. The NIH3T3 transfectants that expressed the gag-c-fes fusion protein in their study produced colonies in agarose and apparently it was cells derived from these colonies that proved to be malignant. In our study, the human MSU-1.2 cells that expressed the identical gag-c-fes fusion protein did not yield colonies in agarose, and the populations were not tumorigenic. As noted in the Results section, the tyrosine kinase

activity of the protein encoded by the *gag-c-fes* construct was significantly lower that of the v-fes protein. It is known that NIH3T3 cells take up significantly more exogenous DNA during the transfection process than do human fibroblasts [39]. Therefore, it is possible that NIH3T3 cells contained a higher number of copies of the transfected *gag-c-fes* gene than did MSU-1.2 cells. If so, this could account for the positive results with the NIH3T3 cells. Although the changes that have occurred in NIH3T3 cells have not been systematically analyzed, and it is possible that these cells have acquired more changes on the path toward full malignancy than MSU-1.2 cells that have and that the *gag-c-fes* construct can only confer full malignancy on cells that have already acquired enough changes.

The results of animal studies during the late 70s and early 80s on the pathogenicity of the *fes/fps*-containing retroviruses, showed that these viruses induce progressively growing fibrosarcoma at the site of injection in their natural hosts, e.g., cat and chicken [40]. These data appear to contradict the multistep nature of the transformation process. The tumors in those studies formed after only a short latency period, and were attributed to a single step process. Since the changes that occurred in such virus-transformed cells have not been systematically analyzed, it is possible that the virus-infected cells that made up the tumors were not malignantly transformed. Instead, it may be that multiple benign tumors caused the massive neoplastic growth that resulted the death of the host animals. Such a situation has been reported in the case of Rous sarcoma virus-induced tumors in chickens [41]. Also, it has been shown [42] that in non-feline species, such as dogs, rabbits, fetal sheep, pigs and monkeys, three isolates of *fes*-containing FeSV induced sarcomas that regressed. These results suggest that v-fes expression is insufficient by itself to cause the malignant transformation of mesenchymal cells.

The fact that no c-fes protein was detected in cells derived from any of the human mesenchymal tumors tested suggests that either the human c-fes gene is not involved in malignant transformation of human mesenchymal cells or the frequency of its activation in such tumors is very low. Another possibility is that the c-fes gene is only activated in a specific type of mesenchymal tumor which was not represented in our samples. However, the successful transformation of the MSU-1.2 cells by vfes suggests that other oncogenes from the non-receptor protein tyrosine kinase family, e.g., fgr, fyn, and yes, may well be involved in the origin of human mesenchymal tumors.

•

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to thank Rachel Heindel and Clay Spencer who carried out the initial transfection experiments with the v-fes oncogene and Lonnie Milam for his excellent technical assistance. This research was supported in part by Department of Energy Grant ER60524 and by Department of Health and Human Services Contract ES65152 from the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences and Grant CA21289 from the National Cancer Institute.

REFERENCES

- Shtivelman E, Lifshitz B, Gale RP, Cannaani E. Fused transcript of *abl* and *bcr* genes in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Nature 315: 550-553, 1985.
- Bartram CR, Klein A, Hagemeijer A, Agthovan T, Kessel AG, Bootsma D, Grosveld G, Ferguson-Smith MA, Davies T, Stone M, Heisterkamp N, Stephenson JR, Groffen J. Translocation of c-abl oncogene correlates with the presence of a Philadelphia chromosome in chronic myelocytic leukemia. Nature 306: 277-281, 1983.
- Raines MA, Lewis WG, Crittenden LB, Kung HJ. C-erbB activation in avian leukosis virus-induced erythroblastosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82: 2287-2291, 1985.
- 4. Canaani E, Dreazen O, Klar A, Rechavi G, Ram D, Cohen JB, Givol D. Activation of the c-mos oncogene in a mouse plasmacytoma by insertion of an endogenous intracisternal A-particle genome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 80: 7118-7122, 1983.
- 5. Kraus MH, Yuasa Y, Aaronson SA. A position 12-activated H-ras oncogene in all HS578T mammary carcinosarcoma cells but not normal mammary cells of the same patient. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81: 5384-5388, 1984.
- 6. Santos E, Martin-Zanca D, Reddy EP, Pierotti DPG, Barbacid M. Malignant activation of a K-ras oncogene in lung carcinoma but not in normal tissue of the same patient. Science 223: 661-664, 1984.
- 7. Leder P, Battey J, Lenoir G, Moulding C, Murphy W, Potter H, Stewart T, Taub R. Translocations among antibody genes in human cancer. Science 222: 765-769, 1983.
- Shen-Ong GLC, Morse III HC, Potter M, Mushinski JF. Two modes of c-myb activation in virus-induced mouse myeloid tumors. Mol Cell Biol 6: 380-392, 1986.
- 9. Rovigatti U, Watson DK, Yunis JJ. Amplification and rearrangement of Hu-ets-1 in leukemia and lymphoma with involvement of 11q23. Science 232: 398-402, 1986.
- 10. Snyder SP, Theilen GH. Transmissible feline fibrosarcoma. Nature 221: 1074-1075, 1969.
- 11. Hanafusa H. The fps/fes oncogene. In: Reddy EP, Skalka AM, and Curran T (eds), The Oncogene Handbook. Elsevier Science Publishers, New York, 1988, pp.39-57.

- 12. Roebroek AJM, Schalken JA, Verbeek JS, Van den Ouweland AMW, Onnekink C, Bloemers HPJ and Van de Ven WJM. The structure of the human cfes/fps proto-oncogene. EMBO J 4: 2879-2903, 1988.
- Barbacid M, Donner L, Ruscetti SK, and Sherr CJ. Transformationdefective mutants of Snyder-Theilen feline sarcoma virus lack tyrosine-specific protein kinase activity. J Virol 39: 246-254, 1981.
- 14. Donner L, Turek LP, Rucetti SK, Fedele LA, and Sherr CJ. Transformation-defective mutants of feline sarcoma virus which express a product of the viral src gene. J Virol 35: 129-140, 1980.
- 15. Mathey-Prevot B, Shibuya M, Samarut J, and Hanafusa H. Revertants and partial transformants of rat fibroblasts infected with Fujinami sarcoma virus. J Virol 50: 325-334, 1984.
- 16. Reynold FH Jr., Van de Ven WJM, Blomberg J, and Stephenson JR. Involvement of a high molecular weight protein translational product of Snyder-Theilen feline sarcoma in malignant transformation. J Virol 37: 643-653, 1981.
- 17. Gardner MB, Rongey RW, Arnstein P, Estes JD, Huebner RJ, Richard LG. Experimental transmission of feline fibrosarcoma to cats and dogs. Nature 226: 807-809, 1970.
- Hanafusa T, Wang LH, Anderson SM, Karess RE, Hayward WS, Hanafusa H. Characterization of the transforming gene of Fujinami sarcoma virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 77:3009-3013, 1980.
- 19. Yee SP, Mock D, Greer P, Maltby V, Rossant J, Bernstein A, and Pawson T. Lymphoid and mesenchymal tumors in transgenic mice expressing the v-fps protein-tyrosine kinase. Mol. Cell. Biol. 12: 5491-5499, 1989.
- 20. Foster DA, Shibuya M, and Hanafusa H. Activation of the transforming potential of the cellular *fps* gene. Cell 42: 105-115, 1985.
- Sodroski JG, Goh WC, Haseltine WA. Transforming potential of a human proto-oncogene c-fps/fes locus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81: 3039-3043, 1984.
- 22. Foster DA and Hanafusa H. A *fps* gene without *gag* gene sequence transforms cells in culture and induces tumors in chickens. J Virol 48: 744-751, 1983.
- 23. Huang CC, Hammond C, and Bishop JM. Nucleotide sequence and topography of chicken c-fps: genesis of a retroviral oncogene encoding a tyrosine-specific protein kinase. J Mol Biol 181: 175-186, 1985.
- 24. Morgan TL, Yang D, Fry DG, Hurlin PJ, Kohler SK, Maher VM, McCormick JJ. Characterization of an infinite life span diploid human fibroblast cell strain and a near-diploid strain arising from a clone of cells expressing v-myc oncogene. Exp Cell Res 197: 125-136, 1991.

- 25. Hurlin PJ, Fry DG, Maher VM, and McCormick JJ. Morphological transformation, focus formation, and anchorage independence induced in diploid human fibroblasts by expression of a transfected H-ras oncogene. Cancer Res 47:5752-5757, 1987.
- 26. Ryan PA, McCormick JJ, Maher VM. Modification of MCDB 110 medium to support prolonged growth and consistent high cloning efficiency of diploid human fibroblasts. Exp Cell Res 172: 318-328, 1987.
- 27. Bettger WJ, Boyce ST, Walthall BJ, Ham RG. Rapid clonal growth and serial passage of human diploid fibroblasts in a lipid-enriched synthetic medium supplemented with epidermal growth factor, insulin, and dexamethasone. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 78: 5588-5592, 1981.
- 28. Yang D, Kohler SK, Maher VM and McCormick JJ. V-sis oncogene-induced transformation of human fibroblasts into cells capable of forming benign tumors. AACR 87rd annual meeting abstract, p118, 1992.
- 29. Morgan TL, Maher VM, McCormick JJ. Optimal parameters for the polybrene-induced DNA transfection of diploid human fibroblasts. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol 22: 317-319, 1986.
- 30. Hurlin PJ, Maher VM, McCormick JJ. Malignant transformation of human fibroblasts caused by expression of a transfected T24 H-*ras* oncogene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86: 187-191, 1989.
- 31. Wilson DM, Yang D, Dillberger JE, Dietrich SE, Maher VM, McCormick JJ. Malignant transformation of human fibroblasts by a transfected N-ras oncogene. Cancer Res 50: 5587-5593, 1990.
- 32. Durfee GR. Routine stains for histologic sections. In: Koss, LG. (ed), Diagnostic Cytology and Its Histologic Bases. J.B. Lippincott Company, Philadelphia, 1992, 4th edition, p1492.
- 33. Fry DG, Milam LD, Dillberger JE, Maher VM, McCormick JJ. Malignant transformation of an infinite life span human fibroblast cell strain by transfection with v-Ki-ras. Oncogene 5:1415-1418, 1990.
- 34. Fedele LA, Evan J, Garon CF, Donner L, and Sherr CJ. Recombinant bacteriophages containing the integrated transforming provirus of Gardner-Arnstein feline sarcoma virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 78: 4036-4040, 1981.
- 35. Hartman SC and Mulligan RC. Two dominant-acting selectable markers for gene transfer studies in mammalian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85: 8047-8051, 1988.
- 36. Feldman RA, Gabrilova JL, Tam JP, Moor MAS and Hanafusa H. Specific expression of the human cellular *fps/fes*-encoded protein NCP92 in normal and leukemic myeloid cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82: 2397-2383, 1981.

- 37. McDonald I, Levy J, and Pawson T. Expression of the mammalian c-fes protein in hematopoietic cells and identification of a distinct fesrelated protein. Mol Cell Biol 5: 2543-2551, 1985.
- 38. Feldman RA, Lowy DR, Vass WC and Velu TJ. A highly efficient retroviral vector allows detection of the transforming activity of the human c-fps/fes proto-oncogene. J Virol 63: 5469-5474, 1989.
- 39. Bootsma D, Westerveld A and Hoeijmaker JHJ. DNA repair in human cells: From genetic complementation to isolation of genes. Cancer Survey 7: 303-315, 1988.
- 40. Hardy WD. The biology and virology of feline sarcoma viruses. In: Hardy WD, Essex M, McClelland (eds), Feline Leukemia Virus. Elsevier North Holland Inc., 1980, pp. 79-120.
- 41. Ponten J. The growth capacity of normal and Rous-virus-transformed chicken fibroblasts in vitro. Int J Cancer 6: 323-332, 1970.

CHAPTER III

Malignant transformation of human fibroblast strain MSU-1.1 by v-fes requires an additional genetic change

> Chiencheng Lin, Veronica M. Maher, and J. Justin McCormick

> > .

Carcinogenesis Laboratory - Fee Hall Department of Microbiology and Department of Biochemistry Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824-1316 USA

Abstract

To determine whether the v-fes oncogene can malignantly transform human fibroblasts that have acquired an infinite life span and are partially growth factor independent, we transfected cell strain MSU-1.1 with a plasmid containing the v-fes oncogene and a bacterial histidinol dehydrogenase gene. The transfectants were selected for drug resistance. Sixty independent histidinol-resistant clones were isolated and the progeny cells were assayed for v-fes expression by immunoprecipitation analysis using a fes specific monoclonal antibody. Six clones were found to express the v-fes protein at a detectable level, and these cells were further characterized. Three of the six clonal populations exhibited a significant increase in the ability to form medium-sized colonies in agarose, but none were not tumorigenic in athymic mice. However, when the populations were propagated for many generations, these three acquired the ability to form very large colonies in agarose, and they produced malignant tumors, suggesting that an additional genetic change had been required. To investigate the kind of genetic change involved, we transfected the v-fes oncogene into derivative strains of MSU-1.1 that express a transfected v-sis, H-ras or N-ras oncogene. The results showed that when complemented by either the v-sis oncogene or a ras oncogene expressed at a relatively high level, v-fes could supply the additional change required for malignant transformation.

Introduction

It has long been recognized that transformation of rodent fibroblasts in culture is a multistep process, i.e., it requires cooperation between at least two oncogenes (reviewed in Weinberg, 1985). For example, Weinberg and colleagues (Land et al., 1983) showed that myc and ras oncogenes acting in concert can convert diploid rat embryo fibroblasts into tumorigenic cells in culture, whereas neither oncogene alone has this capacity. In such studies of cooperation between oncogenes, the nuclear oncogene caused immortalization whereas the cytoplasmic oncogene conferred characteristics of tumor-derived cells, such as focus formation or ability to grow in agarose.

Less is known about oncogene-induced transformation of human fibroblasts. The number of steps involved in malignant transformation of human fibroblasts by oncogene transfection is also not known. Clearly, the target cells used must have an infinite or greatly-extended life span. This was shown by work from McCormick and colleagues (Hurlin et al., 1987; Wilson et al., 1989) who attempted to transform diploid, finite life span human fibroblasts in culture by transfecting the cells with a H- or N-ras oncogene in a high expression vector. The ras transfectants exhibited many of the characteristics of tumor-derived cells, e.g., morphological transformation, growth in medium without exogenous growth factors, and growth in agarose, but they did not acquire an infinite life span and were not tumorigenic. In contrast, when these investigators used as their target for transfection a cell strain, designated MSU-1.1, that had spontaneously acquired an infinite life span following transfection and

expression of a v-myc oncogene (Morgan et al., 1991), the transfectants were malignant. To achieve malignant transformation of MSU-1.1 cells, the ras oncogene had to be over-expressed since transfectant of the same ras oncogenes carried in low expression vectors did not produce malignant cells. The MSU-1.1 strain expresses a transfected v-myc oncogene, has two marker chromosomes, is able to grow in medium without exogenous growth factors as rapidly as normal fibroblasts do in medium with 5% serum.

The v-fes oncogene, a transforming gene of the Gardner-Arnstein feline sarcoma virus (Gardner et al., 1970), encodes a cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase whose enzymatic activity is essential for both tumor induction in animals and transformation of mammalian cells in culture (Barbacid et al., 1981; Donner et al., 1980). Because the v-fes oncogene cause tumors of mesenchymal tissue in cats and chickens (Hanafusa et al., 1988), we considered it possible that activated c-fes genes play a role in causing such tumors in human. If this is the case, a transfected v-fes oncogene might be able to cause malignant transformation of the MSU-1.1 human fibroblasts just as the over-expressed ras oncogenes did. If it did not, then it might at least cooperate with another oncogene by supplying one step in the multistep transformation process. To test this hypothesis, we transfected the v-fes oncogene into the MSU-1.1 strain and assayed the cells for tumorigenicity. The results indicated that expression of a transfected v-fes oncogene is not sufficient to convert these cells into malignant cells. To determine whether or not the v-fes oncogene could supply the penultimate change in these cells, we transfected the v-fes oncogene into three derivative strains of MSU-1.1 that express a transfected v-sis or c-ras oncogene. We found that the v-fes oncogene can supply the additional change required for malignant transformation of MSU-

1.1 cells that expressed a v-sis or a c-H-ras oncogene expressed at a moderate level.

•

Results

Choice of target cells

The characteristics of the target cell strains used in this study are summarized in Table 1. The parental MSU-1.1 cell strain derived in this laboratory (Morgan et al., 1991) expresses a transfected v-myc gene and a neo gene, coding for resistance to Geneticin. It has a normal fibroblastic morphology and a stable, near-diploid karyotype consisting of 45 chromosomes including two marker chromosomes, and it exhibits partial growth factor independence. The MSU-1.1: sisA cell strain was obtained by transfecting MSU-1.1 cells with a plasmid carrying the v-sis oncogene and a bacterial xanthine-guanine phosphoribosyl transferase (gpt) gene and selecting for drug resistance (Yang et al., 1994). The MSU-1.1:Hras98 cell strain was obtained by transfecting MSU-1.1 cells with a plasmid carrying the T24 H-ras oncogene and a gpt gene and selecting for drug resistance. The MSU-1.1:Nras73 cell strain was obtained by transfecting MSU-1.1 cells with the HT1080 N-ras oncogene and selecting for focus formation. The ras oncogenes are transcribed from their endogenous promoters and as a result, neither gene is over-expressed. None of the cell strains form large-sized (diameter \geq 100 μ m) colonies in agarose, a characteristic of fully malignant fibroblasts, nor do they form tumors in athymic mice. Transfection of MSU-1.1 cells with a v-fes oncogene

MSU-1.1 cells were transfected with pGAFhisD plasmid DNA and cells containing the stably integrated plasmid DNA were selected by their ability to grow in medium lacking histidine and containing histidinol as described (Lin et al., 1994). Individual histidinol-resistant clones were

ains
str
Cell
target
the
ę
:1cs
rist
aracte
5
Growt
:
ble
Z

	Олсоделе	Degree of arowth factor	Colonies in .	agarose D cells
Cell strains	transfected	independence [*]	Diameter > 60.000	Diameter
MSU 1.1	I	+ (48 h)	10	1
MSU-1.1:sisA	v-SiS	++ (20 h)	150	10
MSU-1.1:Hras98	c-H-ras	++ (22 h)	370	06
MSU-1.1:Nras73	c-N-ras	+ (47 h)	10	2

+ = able to grow in medium without exogenous growth factors as rapidly as normal fibroblasts do in medium with 5% serum; ++ = able to grow in medium without exogenous growth factors as rapidly as normal fibroblasts do in medium with 10% serum. The number in parentheses is the population doubling time in the test medium. isolated from dishes that had been transfected independently to assure that we would not be studying siblings. The cells from these clones were propagated to approximately 4 X 10^6 and assayed for v-fes expression by immunoprecipitation analysis using a v-fes specific monoclonal antibody. Of 60 clonal populations examined, six were found to express the 110 kDa v-fes protein at detectable levels (Figure 1). These clonal populations were further characterized.

Characterization of the six v-fes-transfectants

The six v-fes-transformed MSU-1.1 strains were slightly more refractile than the non-transfected parental MSU-1.1 strain, but they retained the fibroblastic morphology of the parental cells. When early passage cells from these six strains were assayed for anchorage independence, they formed colonies larger than 60 μ m but less than 100 μ m in diameter at frequencies higher the age-matched, mock-transfected parental MSU-1.1 cells (Table 2). However, when assayed in medium without exogenous growth factors, they did not replicate at rates faster than the parental MSU-1.1 strain, i.e., remained only partially growth factor independent, and they did not form tumors when injected into athymic mice. *Spontaneous progression of three MSU-1.1-v-fes-transformed strains*

When late passage cells from the six MSU-1.1-v-fes-transformed strains were similarly characterized, they still did not grow in medium without exogenous growth factors at rates faster than the parental MSU-1.1 strain, but cells from three of the six strains (MSU-1.1:fes1-3) formed large-sized colonies in agarose ($\geq 100 \ \mu$ m in diameter) at high frequencies (2-17%) and gave rise to tumors in athymic mice (Table 3). The other three strains (MSU-1.1:fes4-6) did not form such colonies in agarose and did not form tumors in athymic mice.



Figure 1. Relative levels of expression of v-fes protein in six MSU-1.1v-fes-transformed cell strains. Cells were labeled with [³⁵S]methionine for 18 h in medium lacking methionine. Cell lysis, immunoprecipitation with the v-fes specific antibody, electrophoresis and fluorography were performed as described in Material and methods. Lane C, MSU-1.1 cells transfected with the control plasmid; Lane N, MSU-1.1:fes1 cells, mock treatment without the primary antibody; Lanes 1-6, MSU-1.1:fes1-6 cell strains, respectively.

5				
	Relative	Colonies i	n agarose	Tumors/total
	v-fes	per 10.0	<u>00 cells</u>	injection
Cell strains	express ton*	Diameter	Diameter	sites
		≥ 60µm	≥ 100µm	
MSU-1.1	QN	10	0	0/12
MSU-1.1:fesl	1.4	390	10	0/4
MSU-1.1:fes2	1.8	620	70	0/4
MSU-1.1:fes3	3.1	630	20	0/4
MSU-1.1:fes4	2.4	170	60	0/4
MSU-1.1:fes5	1.0	20	10	0/4
MSU-1.1:fes6	2.6	40	0	0/4
MSU-1.1:HraslO	ND	2200	870	÷

ce, and tumorigenicity	
Independenc	ned strains
anchorage	s-transform
express ion,	MSU-1.1-v-fe
e v-fes	he stx
Relativ	oft
2	
Fab le	

MSU-1.1:fes5, were arbitrarily scored as 1.0 and the other cell strains were Bands corresponding to the v-fes signal on the blot were cut out and assayed by scintillation counting. The counts per minute in the lowest sample, i.e., scored relative to it.

ND, Not detectable.

experiments. However, it yielded six tumors out of eight injections when t The tumorigenicity of this cell strain was not re-examined in this series of

			Number of agar	Tumorigenic	ity assay
		Relative	colonies with	Tumors/	Latency
MSU cell		v-fes	diameter ≥ 100 µm	injection	per todt
strains	Description	express ion*	per 10,000 cells	sites	(days)
1.1:fes1	late passage	1.6	1720	4/4	27-54
1.1:fes11	f tumor-derived	5.5	1820	4/4	21-28
1.1:fes2	late passage	1.5	800	4/4	27-75
1.1:fes21	f tumor-derived	3.4	2940	4/4	21-28
1.1:fes3	late passage	3.0	220	6/8‡	160-200
1.1:fes31	<pre>Lumor-derived</pre>	15.6	880	4/4	11-18
1.1:fes4	late passage	2.0	40	0/8	ı
1.1:fes5	late passage	1.0	4	0/4	ı
1.1:fes6	late passage	2.4	40	0/4	I
* Bands	corresponding to	the v-fes signa	l on the blot were cu	it out and as	sayed by
scint	illation counting.	The counts per mi	inute in the lowest samp	le, i.e., MSU-	l.1:fes5,
were å	irbitrarily scored	as 1.0 and the ot	her strains were scored	relative to it.	
† Number	<pre>c of days required</pre>	for a tumor to re	ach 600 mm ³ in size (abou	it 1 cm in diam	leter).
t Two of	the four mice were	e sacrificed when	the tumor in the subscapu	lar region rea	ched 1 cm

and tumorisenicity of the independence anchorage Table 3. Relative v-fes expression. At that time, tumors were not apparent in the flank, but they may have developed if we could have waited to sacrifice the animals. in diameter.

Characterization of tumors and cells derived from tumors

Mice were necropsied when the tumors reached 1 cm in diameter, and tumor specimens were prepared for histopathological examination. All tumors were composed of a monomorphic population of either spindle- or round- shaped cells (Figure 2). Based on the histological pattern, the tumors formed by MSU-1.1:fes1 and MSU-1.1:fes3 were classified as high grade, malignant spindle cell sarcomas; the tumors formed by MSU-1.1:fes2 were classified as round cell sarcomas. Portions of several tumors arising from the MSU-1.1:fes1-3 strains were minced and the cells were returned to culture. The cells derived from these tumors were histidinol-resistant as expected. They did not grow in medium without exogenous growth factors at rates faster than the parental MSU-1.1 cell strain, but they formed colonies in agarose that were even larger than those produced by the cells originally injected into the mice (Figure 3). The level of expression of v-fes protein in the tumor-derived population was 2- to 5-fold higher than that in the cells originally injected into the mice (Figure 4). When reinjected into the mice, these tumor-derived cells produced tumors more rapidly than did the cells from which they were derived (Table 3). The tumors were classified as high grade, malignant sarcomas, identical to the tumors produced by their original strains.

In vitro selection for malignant cells

Because the level of v-fes expression in the six original v-festransformed cell strains did not correlate with their ability to form malignant tumors (Table 3), we considered the possibility that in the case of strains MSU-1.1:fes1, 2 and 3, a subpopulation of tumorigenic cells that were anchorage independent had overgrown the rest of the nontumorigenic cells in the population as these were being subcultured. If



Figure 2. Tumor histology showing a poorly differentiated, round cell sarcoma (A) or spindle cell sarcoma (B). These tumors were produced from injection of late passage MSU-1.1:fes2 and MSU-1.1:fes1 cells, respectively. (100X magnification)

Figure

Figure 3. Colony formation by MSU-1.1-v-fes-transformed cell strains in 0.33% agarose. (A) Parental MSU-1.1 cells, forming only a background of very small colonies in 3 weekk; A single cell is indicated with an arrow; (B) Early passage MSU-1.1:fes1 cells, forming medium-sized colonies, 60-80 μ m in diameter, in 3 weeks; (C) Late passage MSU-1.1:fes1 cells, forming large-sized colonies, 100-200 μ m in diameter, in 3 weeks; (D) Cells derived from tumors formed by injection of the MSU-1.1:fes1 cells. Bar= 100 μ m.



this were the case, cells derived from large-sized agarose colonies should prove to be malignant. To test this hypothesis, we plated 10^6 early passage cells from each of the non-tumorigenic strains (MSU-1.1:fes4-6) in 0.33% agarose to select for any rare variant cells present in the population that could form large-sized colonies. One agarose colony with a diameter between 100-200 μ m was isolated from each cell strain and propagated for further characterization. The progeny cells of these agarose colonies did not express v-fes protein higher than those of the populations from which they were derived, and did not grow in medium without exogenous growth factors at a faster rate than the parental MSU-1.1 cells. However, they formed large-sized colonies in agarose at very high frequencies (up to 26%) and produced tumors in athymic mice with a latency period of less than 28 days (4/4 for each of the agarose colonies isolated from the MSU-1.1:fes4-6 strains).

These results strongly suggest that at least one additional genetic change is required for v-fes-transformed MSU-1.1 strains to become tumorigenic. Karyotyping of tumor-derived cell strains from each of the six tumorigenic strains showed that these strains have exactly the same 45 chromosomes as the parental MSU-1.1 cells, indicating that no gross chromosomal changes were had occurred. To see if a spontaneous mutation in one of the growth-related genes were responsible for the malignant phenotype of the three strains derived from agarose colonies, or of the progression of late passage cells from each of the MSU-1.1:fes1-3 strains, we assayed the MSU-1.1:fes1-3 cells for over-expression of various growth factors that are mitogenic to such cells. We found no evidence of upregulation of PDGF-B or $TGF-\alpha$ genes in the six tumorigenic strains as tested by RT-PCR, or of secreted growth factors as tested by the ability

- th pr Ce a t b f n t f f 2

this were the case, cells derived from large-sized agarose colonies should prove to be malignant. To test this hypothesis, we plated 10^6 early passage cells from each of the non-tumorigenic strains (MSU-1.1:fes4-6) in 0.33% agarose to select for any rare variant cells present in the population that could form large-sized colonies. One agarose colony with a diameter between 100-200 μ m was isolated from each cell strain and propagated for further characterization. The progeny cells of these agarose colonies did not express v-fes protein higher than those of the populations from which they were derived, and did not grow in medium without exogenous growth factors at a faster rate than the parental MSU-1.1 cells. However, they formed large-sized colonies in agarose at very high frequencies (up to 26%) and produced tumors in athymic mice with a latency period of less than 28 days (4/4 for each of the agarose colonies isolated from the MSU-1.1:fes4-6 strains).

These results strongly suggest that at least one additional genetic change is required for v-fes-transformed MSU-1.1 strains to become tumorigenic. Karyotyping of tumor-derived cell strains from each of the six tumorigenic strains showed that these strains have exactly the same 45 chromosomes as the parental MSU-1.1 cells, indicating that no gross chromosomal changes were had occurred. To see if a spontaneous mutation in one of the growth-related genes were responsible for the malignant phenotype of the three strains derived from agarose colonies, or of the progression of late passage cells from each of the MSU-1.1:fes1-3 strains, we assayed the MSU-1.1:fes1-3 cells for over-expression of various growth factors that are mitogenic to such cells. We found no evidence of upregulation of PDGF-B or TGF- α genes in the six tumorigenic strains as tested by RT-PCR, or of secreted growth factors as tested by the ability of conditioned medium to stimulate the growth of normal fibroblasts. Cooperation between the v-sis and the v-fes oncogene

Earlier studies showed that transfection of MSU-1.1 cells by either a N-ras or a H-ras oncogene in a high expression vector causes them to become malignant (Hurlin et al., 1989; Wilson et al., 1990). In contrast, transfection of these cells with either the H-ras oncogene isolated from the EJ bladder carcinoma cell line or the N-ras oncogene isolated form the HT1080 fibrosarcoma cell line expressed from their endogenous promoter, did not result in malignant transformation (J.J. McCormick, unpublished data). These data, along with our data with the v-fes oncogene suggest that malignant transformation of MSU-1.1 cells requires at least two genetic changes. To determine if the v-sis oncogene could supply the change required by the v-fes oncogene in malignant transformation of MSU-1.1 cells, we transfected the v-fes oncogene into non-tumorigenic MSU-1.1 cells that contain and express a transfected v-sis oncogene (strain designated MSU-1.1: sisA). The v-sis oncogene contains a cDNA copy of the simian c-*sis/PDGF-B* gene transcribed from simian sarcoma virus LTR promoter. The protein coded for by this oncogene have been shown to be mitogenic to human fibroblasts, presumably due to the high homology between the simian PDGF-B and the human PDGF-B proteins.

Transfection of MSU-1.1:sisA cells with pGAFhisD plasmid and selection of histidinol-resistant clones were performed using the same procedure as described for the MSU-1.1 strain. Fifty individual histidinol-resistant clones were isolated and propagated. The progeny cells were assayed for v-fes expression by immunoprecipitation analysis as described, using a v-fes specific monoclonal antibody. Six clonal populations out of the 50 were found to express the v-fes protein at
detectable levels (Figure 5A). These six populations were also found to express v-sis mRNA at the same level as the parental MSU-1.1:sisA strain (Figure 6). These six cell strains were then further characterized. All six formed large-sized ($\geq 100\mu$ m) colonies at high frequencies (2%-9%), and gave rise to tumors after a short latency period (16-48 days, Table 4). These tumors were graded as malignant spindle cell sarcomas. Cooperation between the v-fes and a H-ras. but not a N-ras oncogene

To determine if a mutant ras oncogene can supply the change required by the v-fes oncogene in malignant transformation of MSU-1.1 cells, we transfected the v-fes oncogene into two non-tumorigenic, MSU-1.1-derived strains that contain and express a transfected T24 H-ras or HT1080 N-ras oncogene expressed from an endogenous promoter, i.e., strains MSU-1.1:Hras98 and MSU-1.1:Nras73. Following transfection. a number of histidinol-resistant clones were isolated and propagated using essentially the same procedures as described above. The progeny cells from these clones were assayed for v-fes expression as described. Five clones derived from the MSU-1.1:Hras98 strain and five from the MSU-1.1:Nras73 cell strain were found to express the v-fes protein (Figure 5B and 5C). We also assayed the amount of ras protein expression in the v-fes-transformed strains derived from either MSU-1.1:Hras98 or MSU-1.1:Nras73 strain by immunoprecipitation analysis, using two ras-specific monoclonal antibody. To assay for mutant H-ras protein, a monoclonal antibody (Ab-2) that reacts only with human H- and K-ras protein was used. The expression levels of mutant H-ras in the MSU-1.1:Hras98 derived cell strains were quantified by subtracting the endogenous H-ras signal found in MSU-1.1 cells from the signal in these cell strains. To assay for mutant N-ras protein, an excess amount of monoclonal antibody (Ab-2) was used to

Figure 5. Relative levels of expression of v-fes protein (A-C) and ras protein (D,E) in a series of independent v-fes transfectants derived from cell strain MSU-1.1:sisA (A), cell strain MSU-1.1:Hras98 (B,D) and cell strain MSU-1.1:Nras73 (C,E). Lane P, MSU-1.1:fes5 cells included as a positive control to correct for blot-to-blot variation; Lane C, the respective parental cell strain lacking the v-fes gene; Lanes 1-6, independent transfectants generated with the respective cell strain.



-



Figure 6. RT-PCR analysis of the relative levels of expression of v-sis mRNA. Lane M, parental MSU-1.1 cells; Lanes 1-6, MSU-1.1:sisA:fes1-6 cells respectively; Lane N, RT-PCR negative control, i.e., mock treatment without RNA.

	Relative	number of agar colonies with	Tumors/	<u>ity assay</u> Latency
NSM	v-fes	diameter ≥ 100 µm	injection	per iodt
cell strains	express ion*	per 10,000 cells	sites	(days)
MSU-1.1	Q	<	0/12	
1.1sisA	QN	m	0/12	ı
1.lsisA:fesl	1.7	300	4/4	16-25
1.1sisA:fes2	2.0	220	4/4	20-36
1.1sisA:fes3	1.1	190	4/4	26-32
1.1sisA:fes4	1.0	200	4/4	22-25
1.lsisA:fes5	2.0	930	4/4	18-48
1.lsisA:fes6	3.7	530	3/3	16-18
* Bands correspond	ing to the v-fes :	signal on the blot wer	e cut out and	l assayed
by scintillation	counting. The co	unts per minute in the	e lowest sampl	le, i.e.,
MSU-1.1:fes5, wer	re arbitrarily sco	red as 1.0 and the oth	er strains wei	e scored

Table 4. Relative v-fes expression, anchorage independence, and tumorigenicity

relative to it.

Number of days required for a tumor to reach 600 mm³ in size (about 1 cm in diameter). +

deplete and precipitate both ras proteins in each cell lysate. The nonprecipitated cell lysate was subsequently reacted with a pan-ras monoclonal antibody (Ab-1) to precipitate N-ras protein. The expression levels of mutant H-ras in the MSU-1.1:Nras73 derived cell strains were quantified by subtracting the endogenous N-ras signal found in MSU-1.1 cells from the signal in these cell strains. The v-fes-transformed strains expressed similar amount of mutant ras protein as the strain from which they were derived, confirming the continued expression of the previously transfected H-ras and N-ras oncogene in all strains assayed (Figure 5D and 5E).

These ten populations were then further characterized. All five vfes-transformed-MSU-1.1:Hras98 strains formed large colonies at high frequencies (7%-19%), and gave rise to tumors after a short latency period (18-120 days). The tumors were graded as malignant spindle cell sarcomas. When the five v-fes-transformed-MSU-1.1:Nras73 strains were similarly assayed, they did not form large-sized colonies ($\geq 100\mu$ m) in agarose and were not tumorigenic in athymic mice.

Г

Discussion

When infinite life-span mouse NIH3T3 fibroblasts were used as target cells, expression of a transfected v-fes oncogene caused malignant transformation (Feldman et al., 1989; Sodroski et al., 1984). However, our data show that at least one extra event, in addition to expression of a transfected v-fes oncogene is required for the malignant transformation of the infinite life span MSU-1.1 human fibroblasts. Acquisition of growth factor independence can supply this requirement since expression of a transfected v-fes oncogene was able to transform MSU-1.1:sisA and MSU-1.1:Hras98 cells into malignant cells.

Our data also indicate that acquisition of a genetic change that confers anchorage independence on MSU-1.1 cells is also able to supply the additional change needed to cooperate with v-fes and allow this oncogene to convert the cells into malignant cells. We showed that when nontumorigenic MSU-1.1:fes cell strains were cultured for a long period of time, some of them produced malignant tumors, and even before being injected the mice, these same strains could form very large-sized colonies in agarose (Table 3). Furthermore, if instead, we selected early passage, non-tumorigenic populations of MSU-1.1:fes cells for the ability to form these large-sized colonies in agarose, the progeny of cells isolated from such colonies proved to be malignant.

The failure of the c-N-ras oncogene to supply the additional change required for the v-fes oncogene to transform MSU-1.1 cells to the malignant state was not unexpected since the transfected c-N-ras oncogene did not confer full growth factor independence on the MSU-1.1 cells.

Immunoprecipitation analysis revealed that, although both *ras* oncogenes are driven by their respective endogenous promoters, the T24 H-*ras* oncogene in MSU-1.1:H*ras*98 cells expressed 2.5 times more *ras* protein than did the HT1080 N-*ras* oncogene in the MSU-1.1:N*ras*73 cells (Figure 6C and 6D). This difference could merely reflect a difference in the intrinsic properties of the two endogenous promoters. However, the T24 H-*ras* oncogene has been shown to contain a mutation in the fourth intron that results in increased expression of the protein (Cohen and Levinson, 1988). In any event, our data suggest that a threshold amount of mutant *ras* protein is required for the MSU-1.1 cells to be fully growth factor independent. We consider it likely that if the c-N-*ras* oncogene were expressed at a level similar to the T24 H-*ras* oncogene, it would be able to cooperate with the v-*fes* oncogene.

Ras oncogenes encode mutant proteins that have a reduced ability to hydrolyze guanosine triphosphate (GTP), resulting in an accumulation of GTP-bound ras in cells. The GTP-bound ras protein can, in turn, transduce a growth signal by eliciting a kinase cascade (ras-raf-MAP kinase) and ultimately altering gene expression. Functional analysis of the role of the v-fes protein, a non-receptor protein tyrosine kinase, has shown that it acts upstream of ras in the signaling pathway (Noda et al., 1983; Smith et al., 1986). Its critical substrate(s) has not yet been identified, but it is likely that the mutant ras protein cooperates with the v-fes protein by activating the ras-raf-MAP kinase signaling pathway.

The v-sis oncogene encodes a homologue of the B-chain of plateletderived growth factor (PDGF). The v-sis oncogene product has been shown to exert its growth-promoting action by binding to the PDGF receptor, which has protein tyrosine kinase activity (Johnson et al., 1986). Upon binding

of the v-sis oncogene product, the PDGF receptor is "activated" and can, in turn, transduce the growth signal by activating the ras-raf-MAP kinase signaling pathway. In addition, the activated PDGF receptor has been shown to phosphorylate several cellular proteins, e.g., phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase, phospholipase c- γ , GTPase-activating protein, and a sis-inducible transcription factor (Kaplan et al., 1987; Molloy et al., 1989; Nishibe et al., 1990; Wagner et al., 1990). Either one or both of these v-sismediated responses may be involved in the cooperation between the v-sis oncogene and the v-fes oncogene in the malignant transformation of MSU-1.1 cells.

In summary, our data show that the v-fes oncogene can supply the ultimate change required for the malignant transformation of infinite life span human fibroblasts only if the cells have already acquired genetic changes in growth factor-related genes. This finding is consistent with the hypothesis that malignant transformation of human cells in culture is a multistep process.

Material and methods

Cell culture conditions

The cells were routinely cultured in Eagle's minimal essential medium containing aspartic acid, serine and pyruvic acid as described (Bettger et al., 1981) and supplemented with 10% supplemented calf serum (Sterile Systems, Logan, UT), hydrocortisone (10 μ g ml⁻¹), penicillin (100 U ml⁻¹) and streptomycin (100 μ g ml⁻¹). They were maintained at 37°C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂. For transfection experiments McM medium, a version of MCDB-110 (Ryan et al., 1987), lacking histidine and containing 1 mM L-histidinol dihydrochloride (Sigma, ST. Louis, MO) was substituted for Eagle's medium.

Plasmid construction and transfection

Plasmid pGAFeSV containing the complete proviral sequence of the Gardner-Arnstein feline sarcoma virus was kindly provided by Dr. Charles Sherr, Howard Hughes Medical Institute, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, TN (Fedele et al., 1981). To allow selection of transfectants, we inserted the *Salmonella typhimurium* histidinol dehydrogenase (*hisD*) gene from plasmid pMSV*hisD* (Hartman and Mulligan, 1988) into the *Eco*RI site of plasmid pGAFeSV. The altered plasmid was named pGAF*hisD* and used in our study. Approximately 2 x 10⁵ cells were plated per 100 mm dish. After 16-24 h, two μ g of plasmid DNA was transfected into the cells by the Polybrene/ DMSO method adapted for use with human cells by Morgan et al. (1986). Twenty hours after transfection, growth medium was replaced by McM medium lacking histidine but supplemented with 1 mM L-histidinol dihydrochloride, 10% supplemented calf

serum, hydrocortisone (10 μ g ml⁻¹), and antibiotics. The selective medium was refreshed twice weekly and the cells were observed for formation of histidine-resistant clones.

Immunoprecipitation analysis of oncogene products

The amount of v-fes protein expression in the v-fes-transformed strains was assayed essentially as described (Lin et al., 1994). The amount of p21 ras protein in cell strains derived from the MSU-1.1:N-ras73 or the MSU-1.1:H-ras98 strain was assayed following the procedure described by Wilson et al (1990) with the following modifications. For Nras protein, radiolabelled cell lysate was first precipitated with an excess amount of ras antibody Y13-258 (v-H-ras, Ab-2, Oncogene Science, Manhasset, NY) to deplete the H-ras and K-ras protein in the lysate. The N-ras protein in the unprecipitated portion was then precipitated with a second ras antibody, Y13-259 (v-H-ras, Ab-1, Oncogene Science). The former antibody reacts only with human H- and K-ras proteins and the latter antibody reacts with all three human ras proteins.

RT-PCR analysis of v-sis mRNA

Total RNA was isolated using the method of Chomczynski and Sacchi (1989). RNA (1 μ g) was reverse transcribed into cDNA using a random primer, and v-sis cDNA was amplified by the polymerase chain reaction for thirty cycles. The final concentration of Mg⁺⁺ ion in each PCR reaction mixture was 2 mM. To ascertain that suitable conditions for amplification were present for each sample and to correct for the small differences in the amount of sample added to each reaction tube, the cDNA of the glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) gene in each sample was also amplified simultaneously (Noonan et al., 1990). The primers used for the v-sis and GAPDH genes are to be published elsewhere. The PCR products

were run on 2% agarose gels and the gels were stained with ethidium bromide.

Assay for anchorage independence

Cells were assayed for the ability to form colonies in 0.33% agarose following the procedure described by Hurlin et al. (1989). The agar plates were maintained at 37°C in a humidified incubator with 3% CO_2 . MSU-1.1 cells and MSU-1.1:Hras10 cells which was derived from MSU-1.1 by transfection of MSU-1.1 cells with a T24 H-ras oncogene were included in each assay as negative and positive control respectively.

Assay for growth factor independence

Cells were assayed for the ability to grow in medium without exogenous growth factors following the procedure described by Scudiero et al. (1988) with the following modification. Cells in McM medium containing 5% serum were plated at 1000 cells per well in 96 well plates on Day 0. The next day (Day 1) the medium was aspirated off each well and replaced by 200 μ l of serum-free McM medium containing 0.1 mM calcium and the serum replacement supplements of Ryan et al. (1987). The cells were then allowed to grow for 6 days with a medium change every 3 days. Cells in McM medium containing 0.1 mM calcium, but supplemented with 10% serum were run in parallel as a positive control. On Days 1, 4 and 7, the cells were stained with2,3-bis(2-methoxy-4-nitro-5-sulfophenyl)-5-[(phenyl-amino)carbonyl]-2H-tetrazolium hydroxide to determine the relative cell number. This agent was dissolved in water at 1 mg ml⁻¹, and phenazine methosulfate was added to give a final concentration of 0.05 mM. Next. 50 μ l of this solution was added to each well and the 96 well plate was incubated at 37°C for 30 min. The O.D.₄₅₀-O.D.₆₅₀ was then read, using a Molecular Devices microplate reader. The population doubling time for each cell strain was calculated

from the log of $0.D_{.450}-0.D_{.650}$ plotted as a function of days in culture. Assay for tumorigenicity

Athymic nude mice (BALB/c background) originally purchased from Harlan Sprague Dawley (Indianapolis, IN) were bred and maintained in a high efficiency particulate air (HEPA)-filtered laminar flow hood containment system. Absorbable gelatin sponges (Upjohn Co., Kalamazoo, MI) 1 cm³ in size were implanted subcutaneously in the subcapular region and/or rear flank region of 6-week-old mice to serve as a matrix. One week later, 10^7 cells in 0.2 ml of serum-free medium were injected directly into the sponge. Mice were examined weekly for tumor growth and the tumors were removed when they reached 1 cm in diameter.

Histopathology

Tumor tissue for histopathology was fixed in 10% phosphate buffered formalin, pH 7.0, embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 4-5 μ m, and stained with hematoxylin-eosin and examined (Durfee, 1992).

Acknowledgements

This research was supported in part by Department of Energy Grant ER60524 and by Department of Health and Human Services Contract ES65152 from the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences and Grant CA21289 from the National Cancer Institute.

References:

Barbacid, M., Donner, L., Ruscetti, S.K. & Sherr, C.J. (1981) J. Virol. **39**, 246-254.

Bettger, W.J., Boyce, S.T., Walthall, B.J. & Ham, R.G. (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **78**, 5588-5592.

Chomczynski, P. & Sacchi, N. (1989) Anal. Biochem., 162, 156-159.

Cohen, J.B. & Levinson, A.D. (1988) Nature, 334, 119-124.

Donner, L., Turek, L.P., ruscetti, S.K., Fedele, L.A. & Sherr, C.J. (1980) J. Virol., **35**, 129-140.

Durfee, G.R. (1992) In: Koss, L.G. (ed.), *Diagonostic Cytology and Its Histologic Bases*. J.B. Lippincott Company, Philadelphia, 4th edition, p1492.

Fedele, L.A., Evan, J., Garon, C.F., Donner, L. & Sherr, C.J. (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **78**, 4036-4040.

Feldman, R.A., Lowy, D.R., Vass, W.C. & Velu, T.J. (1989) *J. Virol.*, **63**, 5469-5474.

Gardner, M.B., Rongey, R.W., Arnstein, P., Estes, J.D., Huebner, R.J. & Richard, L.G. (1970) Nature, **226**, 807-809.

Hanafusa, H. (1988) In: Reddy, E.P., Skalka, A.M. and Curran, T. (eds.), *The Oncogene Handbook*. Elsevir Science Publisher, New York, pp. 39-57.

Hartman, S.C. and Mulligan, R.C. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 85, 8047-8051.

Hurlin, P.J., Maher, V.M. & McCormick J.J. (1989) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **86**, 187-191.

Hurlin, P.J., Fry, D.G., Maher, V.M. & McCormick, J.J. (1987) Cancer Res., 47, 5752-5757.

Johnson, A., Beltsholtz, C., Heldin, C.-H. & Westermark, B. (1986) *EMBO* J., 7, 1535-1541.

Kaplan, D.R., Whitman, M., Schaffhausen, B., Pallas, D.C., White, M., Cantley, L. & Roberts, T.M. (1987) *Cell*, **50**, 1021-1029.

Land, H., Parada, L.F., & Weinberg, R.A. (1983) Nature, **304**, 596-602.

Molloy, C.J., Bottaro, D.P., Fleming, T.P., Marshall, M.S., Gibbs, J.B. & Aaronson, S.A. (1989) Nature, **342**, 711-714.

Morgan, T.L., Yang, D., Fry, D.G., Hurlin, P.J., Kohler, S.K., Maher, V.M. & McCormick, J.J. (1991) *Exp Cell Res.*, **197**, 125-136.

Morgan, T.L., Maher, V.M. & McCormick, J.J. (1986) In Vitro Cell Dev. Biol., 22, 317-319.

Nishibe, S., Wahl, M.I., Hernandez-Sotomayor, S.M.T., Tonks, N.K., Rhee, S.G. & Carpenter, G. (1990) Science, **250**, 1253-1256.

Noda, M., Selinger, Z., Scolnick, E.M. and Bassin, R.H. (1983) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 80, 5602-5606.

Noonan, K.E., Beck, C., Holzmayer, T.A., Chin, J.E., Wunder, J.S., Andrulis, I.L., Gazdur, A.F., Willman, C.L., Griffith, B., Von Hoff, D.D., & Roninson, I.B. (1990) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **87**, 7160-7164.

Ryan, P.A., McCormick, J.J. & Maher, V.M. (1987) Exp. Cell Res., 172, 318-328.

Scudiero, D.A., Shoemaker, R.H., paull, K.D., Monks, A., Tierney, S., Nofziger TH Currens MJ, Seniff D, &Boyd MR. (1988) *Cancer Res.*, **48**, 4827-4873.

Smith, M.R., DeGudicibus, S.J. & Stacey, D.W. (1986) Nature, **320**, 540-543.

Sodroski, J.G., Goh, W.C. & Haseltine, W.A. (1984) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **81**, 3039-3043.

Wagner, B.J., Hayes, T.E., Hoban, C.J. & Cochran, B.H. (1990) EMBO J., 9, 4477-4484.

Weinberg, R.A. (1985) Science, 230, 770-776.

Wilson, D.M., Yang, D., Dillberger, J.E., Dietrich, S.E., Maher, V.M. & McCormick, J.J. (1990) Cancer Res., **50**, 5587-5593.

Wilson, D.M., Fry, D.G., Maher, V.M. & McCormick, J.J. (1989) Carcinogenesis, 10, 635-640.

